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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Yufengchang Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group ”). The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge
and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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QAFEH
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRBESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the Group’s annual report and audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”).
Looking back over the past year, as the global trade landscape
continued to evolve, the Group actively advanced its strategic
diversification transformation while adhering to its core business,
thereby addressing market and industry-specific challenges while
seizing emerging opportunities.

Hong Kong’s role as a transshipment hub diminished significantly
due to trade protectionism, diverting logistics operators to local
ports like Shenzhen. This shift reduced diesel demand from cross-
boundary transportation, though construction-sector demand
remained relatively stable. We have implemented multiple measures
to optimize operational efficiency in response to market changes.

To build a more resilient business portfolio, the Group has expanded
its Petroleum Derivatives sales business into the Mainland Chinese
market with a strategic focus on developing trading activities
for polypropylene (PP) products, covering varied grades (such as
homopolymers, copolymers and modified specialties) primarily
serving industries such as packaging, daily necessities and food
service. Through the establishment of a dedicated transport fleet
and a robust supply chain system, we have achieved initial success
in the Mainland Chinese market.

In terms of sales channel innovation, the Group launched its
e-commerce sales business in the Mainland Chinese market since
January 2025. Through traditional e-commerce and live-streaming
e-commerce platforms, we sell products including PP-based food-
grade packaging, daily necessities, food and beverages, and
alcoholic beverages. Leveraging its supply chain advantages, this
business demonstrated strong growth potential in the first quarter.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBEE

Group revenue declined substantially by HK$13.5 million (19.6%),
falling from HK$69.0 million in FY2024 to HK$55.5 million in
FY2025. The Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$38.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$10.7 million) resulted primarily from an
increase of impairment losses to HK$29.5 million (2024: HK$8.2

million).

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to adhere to a prudent yet
proactive development strategy. While consolidating our strengths
in traditional businesses, we will actively seize opportunities in
emerging markets. We will enhance the operational efficiency of
our diesel business through precision operations, continuously
optimizing cost structures and service quality to navigate changes
and challenges in the Hong Kong market. Simultaneously,
we will expand the market coverage of petroleum derivative
products, deepen strategic collaboration with upstream and
downstream partners, and refine the supply chain service system
for polypropylene products to boost overall competitiveness. In
terms of digital transformation, the Group will increase resource
allocation to develop e-commerce operations as an emerging
growth driver. We will actively explore innovative business models
such as shared cloud warehousing, strengthen digital collaboration
across all supply chain segments, and build a more agile and
efficient smart supply chain system. By integrating online and
offline sales channels and optimizing customer experience, we will

continuously improve market responsiveness and service standards.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRBESE

Amid a complex and volatile market environment, the Group
will maintain prudent financial policies, continuously optimize
asset allocation, and enhance cash flow management to ensure
sufficient funding for business development. We will closely
monitor macroeconomic conditions and industry trends, promptly
adjust operational strategies, strengthen risk resilience, and
create sustainable long-term value for shareholders. The Board
and management will lead all employees to drive the Group
toward high-quality development through innovative thinking and
pragmatic execution.

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to offer my appreciation and
gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and customers for
their utmost support to the Group. We would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their
hard work and dedication throughout the year.

WANG Xinlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's operations are presently composed of two major
strategic segments: the sale and transportation of diesel oil
and Petroleum Derivatives, and the e-commerce business in
the Mainland China market. The two major segments develop
synergistically, jointly promoting business transformation and
upgrading of the Group. Among which, the e-commerce business,
as an innovative extension of sales channels, effectively broadened
the market coverage of Petroleum Derivatives sales and further
strengthened the Group’s competitive advantage in the energy
product supply chain.

In the Hong Kong market, the Group continues to deeply cultivate
the business of procurement, sales and transportation of diesel oil
and diesel exhaust fluid products, primarily serving customers in
the logistics and construction industries. Supported by a fleet of six
diesel tank wagons, this business generated revenue of HK$42.6
million for the year, this represents a significant contraction of 38%
compared to the prior year (2024: HK$69.0 million), mainly affected
by fluctuations in local market demand in Hong Kong.

In order to enhance the value chain of energy products, the Group
has strategically expanded its sales and transportation business
of Petroleum Derivatives into the Mainland China market, with a
focus on developing a polypropylene product supply chain system.
This includes the sales and transportation of various polypropylene
("PP") grades (such as homopolymers, copolymers and modified
specialties), primarily serving industries such as packaging,
consumer goods and food services. In its inaugural reporting period,
this venture contributed HK$10.9 million in revenue, demonstrating
strong growth potential.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

In order to innovate sales channels and enhance market
competitiveness, the Group launched its e-commerce operations
in January 2025 to penetrate the domestic consumer market in
Mainland China. By integrating high-quality trade resources, the
Group has established a diversified product portfolio encompassing
PP-based food-grade packaging, daily necessities, food and
beverages, and alcoholic beverages (including baijiu and wine),
and distributes these products through both traditional and
live-streaming e-commerce channels across multiple provinces.
Benefiting from the Group'’s resource advantages in the petroleum
derivatives supply chain sector and its well-established sales
network, this nascent business recorded revenue of HK$2.0 million
in its first quarter of operation (January to March 2025).

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s diesel oil and
Petroleum Derivatives sales and transportation business contributed
a total of HK$53.5 million in revenue, accounting for 96.4% of
total revenue. Of which, the traditional diesel business, despite
its decline, constituted the majority of total revenue at 76.7%
(HK$42.6 million). The Petroleum Derivatives (“PD") sales business
which expanded into the Mainland China market emerged as
a significant new contributor, accounting for 19.7% (HK$10.9
million), while the initial results from E-commerce represented
3.6% (HK$2.0 million). Collectively, these segments yielded a
total revenue of HK$55.5 million for the year. This performance
underscores a pivotal transition while traditional diesel operations
dominate, nearly a quarter (23.3%) of the Group’s revenue
now stems from its proactive constructed diversified energy
product supply chain system and consumer-focused e-commerce,
positioning the company for broader market engagement and
future growth avenues.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$38.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$10.7 million) resulted primarily from
a tripling of impairment losses to HK$29.5 million (2024: HK$8.2
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group's future prospects will be shaped by its strategic response
to evolving market dynamics, balancing challenges in its traditional
core business with opportunities emerging from deliberate
diversification. While the traditional diesel segment faces sustained
headwinds evidenced by a 38% revenue decline year-on-year, the
management will continue to optimize the operational efficiency
of its traditional diesel oil business, actively seize market recovery
opportunities, and further expand the scale of its Petroleum
Derivatives business at the same time, deepen its industrial chain
layout, and continuously improve the construction of e-commerce
channels to enhance terminal sales capabilities, provides critical
pathways for growth and risk mitigation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group revenue declined substantially by HK$13.5 million
(19.6%), falling from HK$69.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 ("FY2024") to HK$55.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 (“FY2025"). This contraction highlights a challenging year
for the Group's core operations while simultaneously revealing a
strategic diversification effort.

The Company’s revenue composition shifted significantly away
from its near-total reliance on traditional fuel products observed
in FY2024, to which diesel oil sales dominated, accounting for
HK$67.6 million (98.0%), supplemented by diesel exhaust fluid
(HK$1.1 million; 1.6%) and ancillary transportation services
(HK$0.3 million; 0.4%). By FY2025, however, the revenue stream
had become more diversified. While diesel oil sales remained the
largest segment at HK$41.2 million (74.3%) to which contribution
declined substantially to the total. Revenue from diesel exhaust
fluid also decreased to HK$0.9 million (1.7%), with ancillary
transportation services contributing HK$0.4 million (0.7%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Critically, the Group successfully expanded its Petroleum Derivatives
sales business into the Mainland Chinese market. Sales of
Petroleum Derivatives, including polypropylene (PP), PET chips,
and PP toughening cold-resistant agents, emerged as a major
contributor, generating HK$10.9 million (19.7%) of FY2025
revenue. Additionally, revenue from the new business e-commerce
sales amounted to HK$2.0 million (3.6%). Collectively, business
developed in the market of Mainland China represented 23.3% of
the Group’s total revenue, marking a substantial strategic pivot.

Sales quantity

Sales volume of diesel oil decreased by approximately 33.3%, from
11.7 million litres for the year ended 31 March 2024 to 7.8 million
litres for the year ended 31 March 2025. This reflects lower demand
from the Group’s logistics customers during FY2025.

Sales volume of diesel exhaust fluid decreased by approximately
12.2%, from 360.8 thousand litres for the year ended 31 March
2024 to 316.8 thousand litres for the year ended 31 March 2025.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, sales volumes of polypropylene,
PET chips, and PP toughening cold-resistant agents were
approximately 1,436 tonnes, 34.1 tonnes, and 10.0 tonnes
respectively.

Selling price

The average selling price of the Group’s diesel oil decreased by
9.3% vyear-on-year, from HK$5.79 per litre (FY 2024) to HK$5.25
per litre (FY2025). This decline aligned with the downward trend in
prevailing market prices.

Separately, the average selling price of the Group’s diesel exhaust
fluid fell by 4.8%, from an average of HK$3.13 per litre (FY 2024)
to an average of HK$2.98 per litre (FY 2025).

The average selling price (excluding VAT tax) of polypropylene, PET
chips, and PP toughening cold-resistant agents were approximately
RMB6,813 per ton, RMB6,027 per ton and RMB14,823 per ton,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

Cost of sales

The Group's cost of sales is fundamentally driven by expenditures
related to core operational inputs: diesel oil, diesel exhaust fluid,
direct labour, and depreciation. The pricing of diesel oil and diesel
exhaust fluid is intrinsically linked to domestic supplier offers, which
themselves are benchmarked against international indices such as
the Europe Brent spot crude oil price.

A pronounced decrease in the overall cost of sales was observed
for FY2025, which amounted to approximately HK$55.4 million.
This represents a reduction of 12.9%, or HK$8.2 million, compared
to the HK$63.6 million recorded in FY2024. This decline was
predominantly attributable to changes within the largest cost
component.

Diesel oil consistently constituted the most significant element of
the cost structure. However, its dominance diminished considerably
year-on-year. In FY2024, diesel oil costs reached HK$58.5 million,
representing a substantial 92.0% of the total cost of sales. By
FY2025, this figure had decreased significantly to HK$38.8 million,
accounting for 70.1% of the total. This reduction stemmed
primarily from (i) a drop in sale volume of diesel oil and (ii) a 1.4%
decrease in the average unit purchase cost, which fell from an
average of HK$5.01 per litre in FY2024 to an average of HK$4.94
per litre in FY2025. This downward movement in diesel oil pricing
aligned with prevailing market trends during FY2025.

Conversely, costs associated with diesel exhaust fluid decreased, fell
from HK$0.9 million (1.55% of cost of sales) in FY2024 to HK$0.4
million (0.76% of cost of sales) in FY2025. A notable development
in FY2025 was the emergence of material costs as a significant new
component. Expenditures for polypropylene (“PP"), PET chips, and
PP toughening cold-resistant agents amounted to HK$10.7 million,
representing 19.3% of the year’s total cost of sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Direct labour costs, encompassing wages, bonuses, retirement
benefits, and allowances for drivers and logistics assistants involved
in product transportation, saw an increase. Costs rose from
HK$0.8 million in FY2024 to HK$1.0 million in FY2025. This labour
force consisted of seven full-time drivers operating the Group's
diesel tank wagons as of 31 March 2025. Depreciation charges,
primarily related to the diesel tank wagons, decreased year-on-
year, amounting to HK$2.5 million in FY2024 and falling to HK$1.6
million in FY2025.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents the Group's revenue less cost of sales. The
Group recorded a decrease in gross profit of approximately HK$5.4
million, or approximately 98.1%, from approximately HK$5.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$0.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group’s gross
profit margin decreased from 7.9% to 0.2% over the same period
primarily due to a reduction in sales volume while maintaining fixed
operating costs.

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly include
administrative staff costs, professional service fees, rent and
rate and others. The Group’s administrative and other operating
expenses were approximately HK$7.6 million and HK$9.2
million for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

Income tax expense

The Group did not incur income tax for the year ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 in a group as a whole.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group's net loss increased by
approximately HK$27.9 million from approximately HK$10.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$38.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, resulted
primarily from an increase of impairment losses on trade
receivables, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment to
HK$29.6 million (2024: HK$8.2 million).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and banking facilities. The Group recorded net
current liabilities of approximately HK$9.8 million as at 31 March
2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current assets amounted to
approximately HK$36.6 million and the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$46.3 million. Current ratio was
approximately 0.79 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 2.0). Current ratio
is calculated by current assets over current liabilities at the end of
the year.

14 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

FRIGIRFX

B E2025F K2024F3831HIEFE  RERE
1EA— (BRI EELEFTER

FRRE

B LRt AEBE R EIBRE E20244F
3A3MHLEEFEEMNNI0.7EE B TIEMNE27.9
EEBTEHE2025F3831HLEEENY
386EBETT TERNREZEKRTIE B
BERME -BERZENRERBEEIEE29.6
EEATT (202445 : 82HEBBETT) ©

ROEEREFER

MBERRRBDES

AEBRZEBRKETHMERETRIBTHRES
HEZSIRMBE S - 12025F3831H  ZEE
BreafFEEL.8aE BT

20253831 H  "EBNRBEENS
36.6B & BT MAEENREEELN 7463
BEAIToR2025F3831H MEBLEELNS
0.79 (20244 : 2.0) - REILEEHRIBERMM
BEERURBAESH



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

As at 31 March 2025, bank and cash balances were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Group considers that any
reasonable changes in foreign exchange rates of currencies against
major functional currencies would not result in a significant change
in the Group’s results, as the net carrying amounts of financial
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
respective subsidiaries’ functional currencies are considered to be
not significant.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's total debts comprised trade and
other payables, amounts due to directors and bank borrowings.

The Group's bank borrowings carry variable interest rates of 2.5%
per annum below Hong Kong dollar prime rate (2024: 2.5%).

As at 31 March 2025, The banking facilities available to the Group
was approximately HK$9 million and approximately HK$7 million of
the banking facilities was utilised.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

In order to meet the Group’s financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months, the directors of the
Company have been undertaking a number of measures to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which included:

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern after taking into consideration the followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding trade receivables;

(i) the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders to secure new financing
arrangement to meet the Group’s working capital and financial
requirements in the near future;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

(iii) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Law Ming
Yik, the director of the Company (“Mr. Law") has provided a
loan of HK$3,800,000 to the Company, the loan is unsecured,
interest free and repayable on 23 May 2026. In addition, Mr.
Law has granted a loan facilities amounting to HK$8,000,000
in favour of the Group to provide continuing financial support
to the Group;

(iv) Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company has
obtained the undertakings from Mr. Law and Mr. Wang
Xinlong, the director of the Company (“Mr. Wang”), not
to demand for repayment of debts of HK$15,115,000 and
HK$1,620,000 (equivalent to RMB1,510,000), respectively as
at 31 March 2025 before 30 June 2026.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio was 125% as at 31 March 2025 while the ratio as
at 31 March 2024 was 41.7%.

Gearing ratio represents net debt divided by total assets. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings plus amount due to directors, trade
and other payables. Total assets are calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed in
note 6 of the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that our risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to
mitigate the risks present in our operations and financial position as
efficiently and effectively as possible. The followings are the major
risks and uncertainties of the Group's business:

e The Group's earnings, cash flows and financial condition may
be adversely affected if the Group uses an incorrect oil and
gas price assumptions to evaluate projects and commercial
opportunities;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

e Transportation service of diesel oil can be disrupted if there is
reliance on one single oil supplier in Hong Kong;

e Loss of customers due to price competitions and global
economic slowdown; and

e Disruptions to operation due to difficulty in retaining
employees.

For other risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing, please
refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the the prospectus of
the Company dated 21 December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISK

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and PRC. The majority
of the Group’s business and bank borrowings are denominated
and accounted for in HKD. Therefore, the Group does not have
significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation. Furthermore,
The Board does not expect that the fluctuation of RMB exchange
rate will have material impact on the business operations or
financial results of the Group.

The Group currently has no hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange risks. Therefore, the Group has not entered into
any hedging transactions to management potential fluctuation in
foreign currency.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

None of the Group's assets were charged as at 31 March 2025
(2024: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the capital structure of the Group consisted
of deficits attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$9.3 million. The share capital of the Group only
comprises ordinary shares. The shares of the Company were listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 8 January 2019 (the “Listing
Date”). Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company on 15 February 2024, every ten issued ordinary
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each had been consolidated into
one ordinary share of HK$0.1 each. The share consolidation
became effective on 19 February 2024. All the shares issued by the
Company ranked pari passu in all respects.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and for the purpose to maintain a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2025. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have

any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the unpaid registered capital for the
subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$76,133,000 and
the unpaid registered capital for the associates amounted to
approximately HK$2,606,000 (2024: Nil). The Group did not have
other material capital commitment.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the reporting period, no payment for capital expenditure
(2024: approximately HK$0.8 million).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21 December
2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group does not have any future plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
announcement.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events have taken place after the end of the financial
year (i.e. 31 March 2025) to the date of this announcement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 8 January 2019 by way of share offer. The Directors
intend to apply the net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the
share offer in accordance with the proposed implementation plan
as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus. The Net Proceeds, after deducting underwriting
commission and other listing expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$34.8 million. Details of the change in use of Net Proceeds are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3 July 2020, 18
August 2020 (the “UOP Announcements”) and 23 March 2023
(the “UOP Announcement 2023"). Set out below is the actual use
of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March 2024:
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any material change
to the implementation plans in relation to the Net Proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Save as discussed, the Group has applied the Net Proceeds in
the manners consistent with the proposed applications set out
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus. The implementation plans for business strategies and
use of Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the
best estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The Group
implemented its business strategies and applied the Net Proceeds
based on the actual development of the Group’s business and
industry, as well as market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group engaged a total of 43 employees
(31 March 2024: 15 employees) including the Directors. For
the year ended 31 March 2025, total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$5.2 million (year ended 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$4.5 million). Remuneration (including
employees’ benefits) is maintained within the market level and
reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’ salary and relevant
benefits are determined on the basis of performance, qualification,
experience, positions and the Group’s business performance.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. These laws and regulations cover
a broad range of environmental matters, including air pollution,
noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil products or other hazardous
substances. The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and has implemented various environmental protection
measures in order to minimise the operation impact on the
environment and natural resources.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGERS

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance within the Group and therefore has adopted
sound corporate governance practices. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound
corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of the
Group and for safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that throughout the year ended 31 March
2025, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group'’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
board committees of the Company. Further details of the board
committees of the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Group by the direction and supervision of
the Group’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility
for day to day management of the Group which is delegated
to the management. To this end, monthly financial and
operational information are provided to the Board for assessing
the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. For
significant matters that are specifically delegated by the Board,
the management must report back to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

22 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

EFERNNBRUTEFARAEENSREN
TEER WERNRENEEELRER K
ANENEEERBRDENRGEMEHRAK
BCIFrEEEERTE (EEEBTRAL) - E
EREAERERZEEELRERHIEE
AERERURFREARTRRAIGESE

o

EERA NEE2025F3831HIEEEF
B> ARABEETEEERTRFMHE—TER
TR o

-

EXENIEREREFFIAERNEER
BT EEBR UAEREEENRER -
EEEESSBRABLAEREERITH
WEEREE N EFETERZBES
RYFNBDEFLREG -ARERREEREEE
EWE—TFBEHINAERS T

i
4t
g
s
i
I_[_
il
il
mr
i
i
i
I
Bt
i
=
HE
53

REF BILESEAERBAOMNY MAEEH
AEEENRKRETERTEER LIt
B EFEREAERHYBKREEENLGTY
BERBKRERBATNERIE MEFEHH
BRNEAFENS  EEERONEETER
WESEEGEAMERAINREAFME
IR R ST ILAE (I ZKGEE ©



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELRHRS

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the

corporate governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code, which include:

(a)

to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Up to the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,

of whom four are executive Directors and three are independent

non-executive Directors. Details of their composition by category

are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Xinlong (Chairman)

Mr. REN Rong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YAN Lei

Mr. LAW Ming Yik

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Junxia
Mr. HE Junlong
Ms. LIANG Lina
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGERS

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or
substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board
as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and
experience. The composition of the Board is in accordance with
the requirement of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.
There are three independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has accounting professional qualification. More than one-
third of the members of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors, which brings a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors
in the Board brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group's strategies,
performance, conflicts of interests and management process to
ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 128 to 134 of this report. There are no family or other
material relationships among members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), on 11 December 2018 and
delegated them with powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affair. Each of the committees of the Board has been
established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”). The chairman also meets
with the independent non-executive Directors at least once a year
without the presence of the other executive Director. Notices and
agendas of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before convening the Board meeting. For all other
Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. All other schedules and the relevant information of each
Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the management whenever necessary.
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The attendance of each of the Directors at the Board meetings,
meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee held during the Reporting Period is set out

below:

Attendance/Number of meetings

HERY,GRBTRY
Board Audit Remuneration

Name of Director Board Meetlng Committee Committee
EE4 B8 EZXg8; BERZEE® HNEEg
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wang Xinlong (Chairman) ks 25

(appointed with effect from (1R202451286H

6 December 2024) EZA)
Mr. Law Ming Yik (resigned as Chairman BLBEE (1020244

with effect from 6 December 2024) 12A6BEHTEER) 22 - 1”n
Mr. REN Rong(appointed with effect from  {FEE 44 (7420245

6 December 2024) 12H6REZA) - - -
Mr. YAN Lei (appointed with effect from BEisE (20245

6 December 2024) 12A6REZA) - - -
Mr. Li Isaiah (resigned with effect from FHOMLE (1220245

6 December 2024) 12B6R#HD) 20 - -
Independent Non-executive Directors B JFHITES
Mr. Fenn David (resigned with effect from  SEEE %4 (1720245

6 December 2024) 1268 #HT) 22 2 11
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew (resigned ERBEE (120245

with effect from 6 December 2024) 12H6BEHT) 22 22 =
Mr. Chan Ting Fung (resigned with effect ~ BREJE %4 (7720245

from 6 December 2024) 1268 EHT) 22 22 11
Dr. WANG Junxia (appointed with effect THERL (1120245

from 6 December 2024) 12A6REZA) - - -
Mr. HE Junlong (appointed with effect AERLE (1120245

from 6 December 2024) 12A6REZA) - - -
Ms. LIANG Lina (appointed with effect RRHLT (120245

from 6 December 2024) 126 EZA) - - -

BEFNREN

Nomination
Committee

RBZEE

n

n

n

PERT2ESEgE
E\g = D?iz #FI'EH%E == D%MEZ? %
FmZHBREHINWT -

Annual
General
Meeting

RRBFAE

n

n

n

n

XEH

NEZ
BE8g

Extra
General
Meeting

ERRRAT

1”7
1”7
1”7

1”7

1”7
1”7

1”7

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters
arising from corporate governance, risk management, statutory
compliance, accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’

notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

26 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

rRBzAEME (REME)) BHERETE

RbEE

TEFgg UREEMLESES

B BT St MBS ENSER

SR ERRER
2EEZRERAENTEZERZE KT
EEAESRHE - -FRESZTEEESR)
R4 B -HEMEETEREETEE

= ’_HXEI\\D%AIE %Do

i3
1]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election and Rotation of Directors

In compliance with the code provision in B.2.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to the Articles provide that
at each annual general meeting (the “AGM"), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years.

The Directors were appointed for a specific term and are subject
to re-election. Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company. The service contract of each
of the executive Directors is for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement.
The appointment letter of each of the independent non-executive
Directors is for a term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date, which shall be automatically renewed unless terminated
by either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. The
aforesaid appointment letters are subject to termination provisions
therein and the retirement and re-election provisions in the Articles.
Details of the appointment letters are summarised in the Report of
the Board of Directors on page 102 of this report.
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The AGM for the year 2024 was convened on 21 August 2024,
pursuant to which some of the Directors were re-elected in the
meeting. The re-election of Directors for the year 2025 will be
proceeded in the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends each of the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of
the Company. The Company is of the view that all Directors had
complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Junxia, Mr. HE Junlong and Ms. LIANG Lina were
appointed as the independent non-executive Directors with effect
from 6 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting,
legal, finance, industry knowledge and expertise. With their
professional knowledge and experience, the independent non-
executive Directors serve an important function of advising the
senior management on strategy development and ensure that the
Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and the Company
as a whole; and participate in the Company’s various committees
including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.
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The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Xinlong was appointed as the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) and was re-designated as an executive
Director of the Company on 6 December 2024. Mr. REN Rong
was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company (the
"Chief Executive Officer”) and was re-designated as an executive
Director of the Company on 6 December 2024.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. WANG
Xinlong is the Chairman who provides leadership to the Board
and is also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board
in accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. Mr. Ren Rong is the Chief
Executive Officer who is responsible for the implementation of the
business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and
is accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group.
These functions and responsibilities are current being shared by
the management team. The Board believes that this arrangement
enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly,
and thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and
effectively. The Board also believes that the Company already has a
strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure effective
oversight of management.
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BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
C.3.3 (currently referred as D.3.3) of the CG Code. The full
terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both the
GEM's website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. HE Junlong, Ms. LIANG Lina and Dr. WANG
Junxia. Mr. HE Junlong is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management system,
overseeing the balance, transparency and integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and the application of financial
reporting principles, reviewing the relationship with the external
auditor and its independence assessment and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, Asian Alliance
(HK) CPA Limited, and recommended the Board to re-appoint
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as the Company’s auditors in the
year ending 31 March 2025, which is subject to the approval of
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the
external auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is
necessary.
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Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on page 26 in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.1.2
(currently referred as E.1.2) of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors
(namely Ms. LIANG Lina, Dr. WANG Junxia and Mr. HE Junlong). Ms.
LIANG Lina is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group, review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The full terms of reference setting out details of
duties of the Remuneration Committee is available on both the
GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(i) (currently referred as E.1.2(c)(i)) of the CG
Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Company. It is also responsible for approving the terms of
the services contracts of the executive Directors. The Company also
looks into individual Director's competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, meeting shall be held at least once a year and
additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.
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Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting
held and Directors attendance are set out in the section headed
“Number of Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 26 in
this report.

Senior Management’s remuneration

Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 falls within the following bands:

HK$
AT

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary
bonus and other merit payments are linked to the performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors and
senior management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision A.5.2 (currently referred as B.3.1) of the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors (namely Dr. WANG Junxia and Mr. HE Junlong)
and one executive Director (namely Mr. WANG Xinlong). Mr. WANG
Xinlong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the committee has
set for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure
in the Company’s corporate governance report as appropriate);
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full
terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee is available on both
the GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year
and additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and other factors listed in the policy for
the nomination of Directors, including (i) reputation for integrity;
(i) experience; (iii) availability; (iv) professional qualifications; and
(v) Board diversity as well as discussing matters regarding the
retirement and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee
would consider the need for nomination of new directors and
would make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
directors at general meetings or to the Directors for appointment to
fill casual vacancies.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 26 in this report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
each financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”). In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board
has adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and
made prudent, fair and reasonable judgments and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of affairs,
operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the Group
at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out

in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 135 to 143 of this
report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, Forvis Mazars CPA Limited resigned as the external
auditor of the Company with effect from 16 April 2025 and Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Company with effect from 17 April 2025 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Forvis Mazars CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company. For details of the change of
auditor, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
22 April 2025 published on the website of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total fees paid/payable
in respect of audit services and non-audit services provided by Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited and Forvis Mazars CPA Limited are set out
below:

2R EMEN =

AEE EEHEGHMEEMBERRABE
2025548 16 B #E &£ A A 5] S 5 12 S A B
%A% (B8 St EHAAR A 82025
FAB17THEREZES KR AT INEBIZEET » L
B EENEgctMERMABRATMER
NE NS B ERRE 26k o BRI EHZE
GRS 2R A AR R2025F4822HK
EARABERZMBRASRULTIZENAE-

B E2025F3B31HIEEE A% (B8 g5t
MEBMAERAEAEETH ERTMEREM
BRABRENSEARBERIEETRHENE
1/ B EREENT

Fee paid
Services rendered to the Company and payable
M2 B R A AR Bt RENER
HK$
#TT

Audit services — Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited BotRB—A % (B8 SsteNEHAR
BRAE 440,000

Non-audit services — Forvis Mazars CPA Limited B RB =T IHEGEMERA
BIRAR 180,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS TEEERMAE

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG code such
as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of the directors and senior
management, reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement as set out in
the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board Diversity Policy of the Company specifies that in
designing the composition the Board, Board diversity shall be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All Board members’ appointment
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational background,
professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee was also satisfied with the Board
diversity in terms of independence, skills, industry and professional
experiences, cultural and educational background as well as
length of services of the Board members. As for the gender and
age composition, the Nomination Committee considered that
enhancement in gender and age diversities should be beneficial
to the Group’s sustainable development. It engaged a suitable
candidate with priority on enhancing the gender diversity by 31
December 2024.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made specific
enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the code of conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
or other general meetings to communicate with the Shareholders
and encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions
put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, there has been
no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Annual General Meeting
The Company's AGM will be held on Thursday, 21 August 2025.

The notice of the AGM will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the AGM.
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DIVIDEND POLICY REEER
Principles and Guidelines [RAR1E5]

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending BEEEBEHFMN—EBRERR  REZFHEIKK
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash B> KA B BHFEHNIRSHE > LUARE
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and future HEEBEBESERLKRKERILEE-

business growth.

The Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the EEEHEARESTIKAD KRS HEAEZA
Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and BN FRBE B A EZEEARUR TR EFT
regulations and the factors set out below. R

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the EFEERNEEEIRKIKTRER » TN st K7
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends: &£ B F3[HF X -

a. financial results; a. BBEE;

b. cash flow situation; b. REREBAMA ;

c. business conditions and strategies; C  EBRRELEE;

d. future operations and earnings; d. RKRZBEREF;

e. capital requirements and expenditure plans; e. BEHFEARHEZEE;

f.  interests of Shareholders; f. IRE#EE;

g. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and g. EEAERIKMEERES ; &

h. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant. h. ZEEE0 A~ EMNEREMRER-
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period as:

1. interim dividend,

2. final dividend;

3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.
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REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board shall review the dividend policy as appropriate from time

to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a)

40

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM") on requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require the EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at

(9]

Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall
be sent to the Company Secretary by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene the EGM by following the procedures set out in
“Convening of the EGM on requisition by Shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions,
inquiries and consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive
Officer, in writing to the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the enquiries.

(b) MERRAE LREEBZERF

(9]
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. The Company is committed
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information
to its Shareholders and investment public. The Company updates
its Shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company (kg.yfcsx.com) has provided
an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company has established an inside information disclosure
policy. The Board is responsible for timely, accurate and
complete dissemination of inside information about the Group
to the market by making proper and timely disclosure of inside
information announcements. Our policy strictly requires our
Directors, management and employees to keep unpublished inside
information confidential and refrain from dealing in the Company’s
securities if they are in possession of such inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai, our Company Secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with management. The Company
Secretary’s primary contact at the Company is Mr. Leung Cheuk
Wai.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company Secretary has

undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control include a defined management
structure with limits in authority, is designed to (i) help achieve
business objectives; (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition; (iii) ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication; and (iv) ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment
within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the
Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed
to various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified
into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance
risks.
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Risk Areas

[\ B SR i

Strategic Risks

BB b

Operational Risks
EERM

Financial Risks

MR

Compliance Risks

Principal Risks

TERRE

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new development and customers’
expectation; market competition risk; reputation risk

HENFBRIVSEE  RENERATRELHE  mERFAR , BEAR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

HEAOtate ; T6H  ERRRGDE

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; foreign exchange risk; inflation risk

neETAR ; EERR ; FMIRER ; NERK ; BRER

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances
related to employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances
B2 NEREEBENRR ;
NEVFRB B A& BB & 2

GRRERE

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated the executive management with the
responsibility to carry out the risk identification and monitoring
procedures. The objectives of the risk management are to enhance
the governance and corporate management processes as well as to
safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among
others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which
involves assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and
the development of risk management plans for mitigating such
risks; and (i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk
management plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan
when necessary.
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During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
with a view to ensure that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
effective and adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will
identify and inform the Board of any material issues.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s internal control and risk
management system annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless,
the Directors have the overall responsibility for risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness and will
continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
function.

GOING FORWARD

The Group will continue to review its corporate governance
standards on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the
necessary actions to ensure compliance with the required practices
and standards including the provisions of the CG Code.
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APPROACH

Yufengchang Holdings Limited (“Yufengchang” or the
"Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) are
principally engaged in the business of the sales of diesel oil and
related products in Hong Kong. The services of the Group include
sourcing and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong. While integrating sustainability into its business
strategy, the Group has taken into account various factors,
including business-related challenges, work ethics, global trends,
and applicable laws and regulations, to constantly promote
business growth and achieve long-term sustainability. The Group
continuously explores business growth opportunities that create
value for its shareholders while generating positive impacts for its

suppliers, customers and operational environment.

The Group recognizes its responsibilities and accountability to
all its stakeholders, including customers, existing shareholders
and potential investors, employees, suppliers, non-governmental
organizations (NGOs) and the local community. Understanding the
needs and expectations of the stakeholders is the key to the Group's
success. The Group places paramount importance on safeguarding
stakeholders’ interests.

The Group maintains vigilant oversight of internal risks while
actively identifying potential opportunities. To strike a balance
between business needs, social demands and environmental
impacts, the Group is committed to continuously monitoring the
risks and opportunities which exist in its daily operations, and at
the same time, embracing a transparent corporate culture to ensure
that sustainability strategies of the Group are well communicated to
its employees, customers, the communities and other stakeholders.
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B  HEREASRS

To implement sustainability strategies which apply to all levels of
the Group, the top-down approach is adopted for the following
sustainability strategies:

To achieve environmental sustainability

To respect human rights and social culture
To engage with stakeholders

To support our employees

eSS EDRIIN

To sustain local communities

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Yufengchang is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (“this Report”). The content contained herein
focuses on providing an overview of the environmental, social and
governance performance of its major operations in Hong Kong
from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Year”).
It enables the Group to closely monitor its current performance
and identify opportunities for enhancement. The Reporting Year
coincides with our financial year.

The ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the
(the
"ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules

“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”

Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG report
summarizes the Group’s ESG performance from the Reporting Year
and covers its management policies, mechanisms, and measures
in place during the Reporting Year concerning environmental
protection, emission reduction, safe workplace, personnel training
and drills, supply chain management and community investment
and engagement. The Report emphasizes key areas of significance
to shareholders and stakeholders while demonstrating the Group’s
dedication to comprehensive sustainable development.
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CHEBREARE

The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide and the Board has overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting. The Board assumes responsibility for
assessing and reviewing ESG-related risks and maintaining robust
risk management and internal control frameworks.

Reporting Principles
Materiality

The materiality and relevance of the ESG-related issues are carefully
evaluated by the Group and the opinions of its stakeholders, such
that the identified material ESG issues are validated and reported
according to the stakeholder’s concerns.

Quantitative

Where appropriate, Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs") are
disclosed quantitatively and calculated according to the”Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” and “Appendix 3:
Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” in “How to Prepare an ESG

Report” published by the Stock Exchange.

Consistency

To facilitate the comparison of ESG performance between years,
consistent reporting and calculation methods are adopted as far

as reasonable, any significant changes in methodologies are also
detailed in relevant sections.
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Feedback

For details on the ESG performance of the Group, corporate
governance as well as financial performance, please visit the
Group's website (kg.yfcsx.com) for its annual reports. The Group
is open to and values all advice and suggestions received, to
uphold the common interests of the Group and all stakeholders.
Stakeholders are welcome to send such advice and suggestions to
the Group's website (kg.yfcsx.com).

Reporting Boundary

This Report covers the Group's business of the sales of diesel oil and
related products in Hong Kong.

As Hong Kong is the area that the majority of the Group’s revenue
is generated, and thus the major business that made social,
environmental and economic impacts.

ABOUT THE COMPANY
The Business of the Group

The Group was listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange in 2019 (stock
code: 8631). Its sales services include sourcing diesel oil through oil
trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons to
collect diesel oil from oil depots designated by the suppliers, and
eventually delivering diesel oil to destinations designated by the
customers. In addition, the Group also engaged in sale of diesel
exhaust fluid. With the delivery capacity and flexibility to devise
delivery schedule for the customers, the Group enjoys a competitive
edge in the industry.
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Goal

To become the leading diesel oil provider focusing on the logistics
sector in Hong Kong.

Board of Directors (the “Board”)

As at the date of the ESG report, the Board of the Company consists
of:

Executive Directors

WITES

Bz

A ENEBYRITENBR R R M-

gExg (lEF9))

RAEBE -HERELARSHE ARTES
FaiE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIIFRITES

Mr. WANG Xinlong (Chairman)
THEERE (XF)
Mr. REN Rong (Chief Executive Officer)
EERTE (THARE)
Mr. YAN Lei
SF-as

Mr. LAW Ming Yik

mUERE

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group recognizes efficient ESG governance as a cornerstone
of corporate sustainability. Therefore, the Group has developed
an ESG management framework to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant ESG policies in its operations. The Board
is primarily responsible for supervising ESG governance matters of
the Group. For instance, determining the Group’s ESG approach,
managing ESG-related risks, as well as supervising the management
and relevant departments in formulating relevant policies with
appropriate measures. The Board also requires the management
of the Group to report ESG-related matters and provide follow-up
developments in a timely manner, such as when ESG performance
indicators deviate significantly from pre-set targets, material ESG
incidents, and significant changes in regulatory requirements.
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The Board of Directors currently consists of 7 members, including
4 executive directors (among whom one serves as Chairman) and
3 independent non-executive directors (including one female
director). The Board Diversity Policy of the Group specifies that the
composition of the Board shall be considered from several aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board members" appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Group
is pleased to report that we have fulfilled the gender diversity
requirement under Section J of Appendix C1 — “Corporate
Governance Code” and Rule 17.104 of GEM Listing Rules ahead of
the 31 December 2024 deadline to appoint a female director. The
objective of board diversity will be periodically reviewed to ensure
appropriateness and the progress towards achievement.

The Board is responsible for:

e appointing key personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG
matters;

e approving ESG strategies, action plans and targets;
e approving the resources required to implement ESG-related
measures;

e monitoring the progress and performance of ESG initiatives;
and

e reviewing and approving the annual ESG reports.
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Management is responsible for:

e identifying and assessing ESG-related risks and opportunities
and report to the Board;

e developing ESG strategies, action plans, targets and arranging
works accordingly;

e ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place;

e  reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of
ESG work; and

e reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board for
approval.

Functional departments are responsible for:

e coordinate and implement specific ESG policies and measures;

e report to the management on ESG work regularly;

e  collecting information and data in relation to ESG performance
of the Group; and

e preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management.

The Board maintains rigorous oversight of ESG matters and
ensures ongoing alignment with the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
latest ESG disclosure requirements. The Board will also ensure
close collaboration between all departments to achieve the goal
of operational compliance, shoulder on social responsibility and
develop clearer ESG objectives and targets for the Group in the
future for striving better performances and better aligning with
stakeholders’ expectations.
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PARTICIPATION OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively strives to better understand and engage its

stakeholders to ensure continuous improvements. The Group

strongly believes that its stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining

the success of its business in the challenging market.

Stakeholders

g

The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

BB

Probable issues of concern

BENRIEE

Compliance with the Listing Rules, and
timely and accurate announcements

Br LR B R R A

FinENS A

AEERBRNONBERAT FEZEHEFFN
EURRENTINFENEY - AEHRE
FNEHAEREBET KB IERT
EEER I  EEMEENAR-

Communication and responses
iR e o] fE

Meetings, training, roadshows, workshops,

programs, website updates and
announcements

B BB TG IEE - L EE
G YN

The Government

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention of tax evasion, and social

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other

welfare information
B BTERRER BRARMEAEEN EHERESH BRABE - REREMER
Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand Field investigation
e RS & > IRE RV K BhER

Shareholders/Investors

BRERKEE

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns

TEERRA  EBRERRFURK
={EIE:

Organizing and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders’ meetings,
providing financial reports and/or
operation reports held for investors, media
and analysts

EERZERTE S RERG 1R
HUFRER, NEERS

Media and Public

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human rights

Publishing newsletters on the corporate
website

RS R AR TrEEB RERERARE INVANSIEEN LRI SR
Customers Product quality, delivery times, reasonable  Field investigation and after-sales services

prices, service value, labour protection
and work safety
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Stakeholders

Probable issues of concern

Communication and responses

RAE BENRIEE BEErE
eSS EmB R XNERE - 5B ER RS EMERRERRE
BE-FIRERIEZE
Employees Rights and benefits, employee Discussion between employees and
compensation, training and executives, training, interviews with
development, work hours, and working employees, employee handbooks, internal
environment memos, employee suggestion boxes
(== R KRR~ R SR~ BB =~ Eéﬁiﬁmﬂ#“ﬁﬂbﬁﬁékﬁﬁ
TR B e TARIR R $ TR EEFM FEANINE SR
ﬁi@ﬁ%ﬁm
Community Community environment, employment Community activities, employee
and community development, and volunteering activities, community
social welfare welfare, subsidies and charitable
donations
HE HERE -BEERHTEERUARMEA ﬁ@%%\ﬁzilﬁﬁ\ﬁgﬁﬁ\ﬁ

Industry Association

Advocate fair competition through
compliance with laws and regulations,
standardizing products and services of
association members and coordinating
members

BEFBETERER HBHBEME
B9 2 o A AR 75 LUKz 15 58 B B 1A 2R
REATHS

Meetings, seminars, workshops and direct
announcements

R e TR AS
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

For the purpose of identifying and prioritizing the ESG issues
which are of substantive importance to the Group, during the
Reporting Year, the Group conducted a comprehensive internal
materiality assessment. Potential material issues were identified by
making reference to the regulatory trends of the Stock Exchange,
ESG material issues specific to the industry, as mentioned by the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (“SASB”) and the ESG
material issues identified by our peers.

With reference to the reporting scope and the consideration
towards the corporate business characteristics, the Group has
identified related material topics which is detailed in the following
diagram:

EEMFE

AR REBERENAERREEAREEMNN
BRE-HERELARE NREFER X
EEREEERNNERUEFG KM EH
RANEEBE AIRFEERISAERER
(TSASB ) IR RMVITERERE - HERER

BRE RBEEMBNNRE - HERESR
EZZE LUHERETEERE

KBEZREBERBRADEBRENEE &
SECHREEBEREE FRTE:
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No. ESG Topics

Hmer IRIR-HEREREE
Environmental Issues
IRMREE

1 Greenhouse gas emission/

global warming
BERBBHN2IKE
2 Exhaust air emission

BE R B

3 Energy consumption

FETRUHFE

4 Water consumption

HOHFE

5 Hazardous waste/sewage

BEERY, 75K

6 Non-hazardous waste/
sewage

mEBERY) 5K

7 Paper consumption

ARSRIHFE

8 Climate change

R fRE1E

9 Compliance with
environmental laws and
regulations

BTIRMEARER

No.
“RSR

10

1

12

13

15

16

17

18

ESG Topics No.
SR

RIE-HEREREE

Social Issues

HEHE

Public health crisis

AL

Employee rights and welfare

S TN K ER

Inclusion, equal
opportunities and anti-
discrimination

B FERENRER

Talent attraction and
retention

AF RS R E

Occupational health and
safety
BERREZS

Training and development

1Al R B

Preventive measures for child
and forced labour
BRABRIEET Kaad|ss T
OREIE i

Community investment and
engagement

HeikEERE

Labour standards in supply
chain

HESERY S TR
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After evaluating how various ESG issues impact our Group and key ERFIFHERESGHEENAFERAERRTE
stakeholders, we have prioritized their materiality as follows: FhERE HMAEEEMEEETUTH
= :

No. ESG Topics No. ESG Topics No. ESG Topics
Hmex RIR-HERERRE I IRIR-HERERRE R IRIR-HERERRE

Most Important Important Relevant

REE BE 18R

Energy consumption

Greenhouse gas emission/

AETROHFE global warming
BERBHN ZIKEL
4 Water consumption 2 Exhaust air emission
HCHFE BERBER
9 Compliance with 5 Hazardous waste/sewage
environmental laws and BEEEY 75K
regulations
EBTIRRERER
14 Occupational health and 6 Non-hazardous waste/
safety sewage
Hx@ERuese BmERBEEY 75K
16 Preventive measures for child = 11 Employee rights and welfare
and forced labour BTN REF]
BRI LB T Kaalss T
=ohElvaE i
19 Supply chain management 12 Inclusion, equal
HIEEEIE opportunities and anti-
discrimination
B FERENRIRSR
20 Customers' satisfaction 13 Talent attraction and
ERRERE retention
AT RS RIRE
21 Customers’ privacy 25 Corporate governance
PR txER
22 Product quality and safety
EmBEERZSR
23 Economic performance
BRI
24 Operational compliance
EEAR
26 Anti-corruption
R&E5

N

& B ATRAT) 2024/2025 1R 5
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The importance of these issues highlights the Group’s principle of
being responsible in environmental and social aspects while also
strictly abiding by its operational standards and maintaining the
quality of its service.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to broaden its stakeholder
engagement initiatives and expand its channels for materiality
assessment. At the same time, the Group will also revise the
reporting principles of materiality, quantification, and consistency
to better align with the expectations of stakeholders and reporting
requirements regarding the content of the ESG Report and the
presentation of the information when necessary.

SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group firmly upholds the principles of sustainable development
and maintains that business growth should not compromise
environmental integrity. While pursuing growth in sales of diesel oil
in Hong Kong, the Group stays committed to protecting nature. The
Group strictly complies with relevant regulations relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions and discharges into water, including but
not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group endeavours to integrate
components of environmental sustainability into its business
operations through various measures, so as to raise its employees’
awareness, as well as better monitor its carbon emission level and
the relevant intensity.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance issues with relevant laws and regulations related
to the environment. The Group will continue to be alert to any
noncompliance behaviour related to critical environmental issues.
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A1 Emissions

The Group is committed to promoting environmental health
and human well-being. Environmental protection and emissions
reduction are always an important priority of the Group. The
Group has quantified its emissions data to gain deeper insights into
environmental impacts and facilitate targeted future actions.

Air Emissions

Vehicle diesel consumption represents the primary source of the
Group’s air pollutant emissions, including nitrogen oxides (“NOx"),
sulphur oxides (“SOx"), and particulate matter ("PM"). The
composition of its air emissions was as below:

Air Emissions

KRR

Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") Kg
Ek=K (7 T
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") Kg
a1ty T
Particulate Matters (“"PM") Kg
Re R kL T

The revenue of the Group is principally generated from the sale of
diesel oil to the customers of logistic companies and construction
companies in Hong Kong which require diesel oil to operate their
logistic fleets. The fluctuations in air emissions was mainly due to
the fluctuations in market demand for diesel oil from the logistics
sector.

A1EERSD

AEBRNRERAIRIFRER BB IRIR
RERBF—ERTERNEZTFERF K
EEEHHRBBETEED T LURAFTHE
RIS E W HE S HMERIRKITEI I

KRB
EHEHNEHHERAEEREFTENAREMN
YR BEaat” (TNOx)) ~FRE 1ty
(FSOx ) KB E Mk (TPM ) o REB KR BE
B4R -
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE BE
2025%3H31H 2024%3H31H
IEEE IEEE
556.48 711.05
0.66 0.72
55.16 51.62

AEBWATBREBUREBNYRAF
REZABERHERR HEZHRHUAKLE
REVPRER - KRB ECT EEZRBRY
TERSHN TSR RKEBFTE -
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While air emissions are primarily influenced by market demand,
the Group maintains rigorous monitoring, evaluation, and annual
disclosure protocols for emission data. We continuously assess
the effectiveness of our environmental measures while investing
strategically in emission reduction initiatives.

Building on this commitment, the Group has established preliminary
emission reduction targets and benchmarks. We will conduct
regular performance reviews and actively pursue innovative
opportunities to enhance our environmental stewardship.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions represent the primary driver of
global warming. In an effort to reduce GHG emissions and carbon
footprint, the Group embraces green practices in its day-to-day
business operations, contributing to environmental conservation,
natural resource preservation and waste reduction.

With diesel oil sales as the Group’s core business, our GHG
emissions primarily stem from direct emissions through diesel
combustion in delivery vehicles and private cars used in daily
operations. Specifically, the delivery vehicles include light goods
vehicles, oil tanks, tractors and private cars. Other emission sources
included indirect emissions due to electricity consumption, paper
waste disposed at landfills, and electricity used for processing fresh
water and sewage by the corresponding government departments.
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The composition of greenhouse gas emissions are detailed in the

figure below:

BEREIUENRTR TH !

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
B#=E BH=E
GHG Emission Sources 2025%3H31H 2024538318
BERBHER IEFE IEFE
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tonnes
HE——EHRRERBEBIN U 108.04 118.94
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions tonnes
HE " -SREBEREEREIIN L7 21.24 12.74
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emission sources  tonnes
BE=-HMEERE RETN g
— Paper waste disposal at landfills tonnes
1 IR 3 1E & B BE AR R 12 L 0.41 0.42
— Electricity used for processing fresh water tonnes
MK BRIEFTFE U 0.29 0.40
— Electricity used for processing sewage tonnes
SKBRIEFTFE L 0.14 0.28
— Business air travel by employees tonnes
EEEHBMELE g - -
Total greenhouse gas emissions tonnes
BEREHNREE L 130.12 132.78
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity Tonnes/million Hong
BRERBHREE Kong dollars of
revenue’
MR, BT 3.05 1.92

AIERAUEBEZATLES BEEUERESTH
BATRAL

L To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been '
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue.
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The emissions from both scope 2 and scope 3 was mainly due to
the Group started a new business of producing and trading of diesel
exhaust fluid starting from November 2022. Diesel exhaust fluid
is made with 32.5% urea and 67.5% deionized water. The Group
used water and electricity for heating, dissolving and mixing the
chemical in the production process.

As aforementioned in the “Air Emissions” section, while the
Group's direct GHG emissions from fuel combustion by mobile
sources largely depend on market demands, the Group will
continue to record and evaluate its air emission data while giving
annual disclosure of the relevant data. Additionally, the Group
exclusively procures energy-efficient certified equipment for office
use, while actively encouraging staff to maximize the use of natural
daylight where possible.

As part of our environmental stewardship, the Group actively
implements the 3Rs principle to Reduce, Reuse and Recycle.
We promote the reduction in consumption of electricity, water
resources, paper and stationery. Employees are reminded to adopt
double-side printing, while single-side-printed paper is collected for
reuse. A whiteboard is also adopted in the office area so that the
Group's employees can use it for discussion instead of using paper.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to monitor and control
its GHG emissions in a bid to contribute to energy conservation,
and maintain or cut down its greenhouse gas emissions and carbon
footprint as far as possible.

Waste Management
In view of the constraints on landfill capacity and suitable land for
waste disposal, coupled with its substantial environmental impact,

the Group maintains waste reduction as a core environmental
priority.
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Hazardous Waste

As aforementioned, the Group’s core business involves the sales
of diesel oil and the production and sales of diesel exhaust fluid.
For the production of diesel exhaust fluid, a water filtration system
was installed for processing the residual liquid to purify water for
the next production process. Therefore, no hazardous waste such
as chemical waste and clinical waste was produced during the
Reporting Year.

Non-hazardous Waste

The Group's non-hazardous waste was mainly composed of paper
waste'. In the Reporting Year, non-hazardous waste generated
amounted to approximately 0.15 tonnes (FY2023/24: 0.09 tonnes),
and the corresponding non-hazardous waste intensity, was
approximately 0.0035 tonnes per million Hong Kong dollars of
revenue (FY2023/24: 0.0013 tonnes per million Hong Kong dollars
of revenue)?.

Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)

BmEBERY ()

0.20
0.15
0.10
0.05
0
2024/2025
2024/2025F

B Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)
mEEREY (W)

! To enhance the comparability of data disclosed in the Report, we
have expanded the scope of non-hazardous waste data calculation to
include general office waste starting this year.

g To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue.
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Paper production relies heavily on logging, which has significant
direct and indirect environmental impacts. To minimize our
environmental footprint in the workplace, the Group has
encouraged the Group's employees to adopt double-side printing,
and collect single-sided printed paper for reuse.

The Group will continue to strengthen these resource conservation
measures and reduce paper consumption, with the goal of
minimizing non-hazardous waste generation and its environmental
impact.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group pledges to become an environmentally friendly and
sustainable enterprise. To reduce carbon emissions and footprint,
the Group has implemented a range of carbon reduction measures
in the Group’s daily operations, ranging from the adoption of
energy-saving equipment to the promotion of 3Rs principles among
the employees.

Energy Consumption

In the Reporting Year, the total energy consumption amounted to
approximately 443,222.60 kWh' (FY2023/24: 32,675.00 kWh), the
corresponding energy consumption intensity, was approximately
10,404.29 kWh per per million Hong Kong dollars of revenue
(FY2023/24: 473.55 kWh per million Hong Kong dollars of

revenue)?.

L This year, we enhanced the calculation methodology to include direct
energy consumption from diesel used in mobile vehicles.

g To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue.
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The details of the Group's energy consumption is as follows: REBEMERHBEEZFBEOT .

Energy Consumption (kwh)
BEIRH (T R B)

500,000.00
443,222.60
411,045.60'
400,000.00
300,000.00
200,000.00
100,000.00
32,177.00 32,675.00 32,675.00
N/A
0.00
Direct Energy Indirect Energy Total Energy Consumption
BIZER (Purchased Electricity) BE B4Rt S

BIEAER OMNEBERE

B Energy Consumption (kwh) during 2024/2025 B Energy Consumption (kwh) during 2023/2024

202420255 EERETRFE 2 (T FLBS) 202320245 ERERFEE (T RLE)
L This year, we enhanced the calculation methodology to include direct REER stE B EEBEREE BEE
energy consumption from diesel used in mobile vehicles. LAY AR 5T o
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Beyond external factors, the Group has made sustained investments
in energy conservation initiatives, including the procurement of
certified energy-efficient office equipment and promoting energy-
conscious behaviour among employees, such as turning off unused
electronics and lighting. We will continue to strengthen these
measures to minimize our carbon footprint.

In the future, the Group will continue to actively implement its plans
and measures to achieve the goal of energy saving and efficient
consumption.

Water Consumption

The total water consumption in this Reporting Year amounted
to approximately 668.00m? (FY2023/24: 928.82m?3). The
corresponding water consumption intensity, was 15.68m? per
million Hong Kong dollars of revenue (FY2023/24: 13.46m* per
million Hong Kong dollars of revenue)'.

The water consumption data is shown below:

SRTINERR > AEBEREESE S EFHKR
B OERBARENTERARE LIEE
ETHHEEH NFAMBESSRRA I
1P i Ak 48 110 58 5 = 38 e LU Bl S B o

R AL EEETEEHS 8 I8
NERBERSMAERHFENB R

IKHFE
RIREFEERNBACH LR E49%4668.0032 77 K
(2023/2484 4 © 928.8237 /5 K) o tHFERYAKH

EREATBBITWA5.683 7K (2023/24
BE EAEETWAI3.461II5K) 1o

NOHFEBERWNT :

Water consumption (m?3)

WGHFE (L7 K)
1000
800
600
400
200

2024/2025
202420255

W Water consumption (m?)

HGHFE (ALF5K)

L To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue.
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The Group's water consumption is primarily linked to our
diesel exhaust fluid production and sales operations. We have
implemented a water filtration system that processes residual liquid
into purified water for subsequent production stages.

Efficient water management significantly reduces indirect electricity
consumption in water processing. The Group encourages its
employees to save and use less water by promoting water
conservation among its staff with the help of reminders posted next
to water taps. As the water was supplied by the Water Supplies
Department, there was no water supply issue identified for the
Reporting Year.

The Group maintains its commitment to water conservation
through continuous monitoring and management of water usage,
working to reduce our related carbon footprint.

Looking ahead, the Group will actively implement its plans and
measures in water-saving to maintain or reduce the intensity of

water consumption.
Packaging Material
As the Group’s core business involves the sales of diesel oil, we

did not find any significant usage of packaging materials in the
Reporting Year.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group firmly believes that business growth should not come
at the expense of environmental sustainability. As such, the Group
has been implementing various environmentally friendly practices
in various aspects as mentioned above. More resources will be
invested in this aspect to further upgrade the Group’s equipment
and its existing vehicles according to the environmental standards
in Hong Kong in the future and reduce our carbon footprint.

With the Group's dedicated effort in environmental protection,
the Group is pleased to report that no material non-compliance
issue regarding relevant laws and regulations was identified in the
Reporting Year. To keep up with this achievement, the Group will
continue to monitor its use of resources and strive to further reduce
its consumption, in a bid to contribute to environmental protection
as an environmentally friendly and sustainable enterprise.

A4 Climate Change

The release of heat-trapping gases, particularly carbon dioxide
from fossil fuel use and human activities, is a main contributor to
climate change. Given the high concentration of greenhouse gases
in the atmosphere, there is an urgent need to transition into a more
sustainable and low-carbon economy to curb global warming and
its accompanying detrimental effects.

The Group recognizes the critical challenges that climate change
poses to humanity. As an operator in the energy sector, it is vital for
the Group to understand its corporate role in addressing climate
change threats, which could impact the Group in terms of its
profitability, resilience, and sustainability in business in the long
run. Therefore, integrating climate considerations into the Group’s
decision-making process and strategic business planning is crucial
for developing an effective action plan to adapt its operation
to the uncertainties brought by climate change. Moreover, the
Group shares the responsibility to reduce its emissions and join the
endeavours in mitigating the impact of climate change as far as
possible.
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The physical risks faced by the Group include a higher frequency
and intensity of severe weather events, with extreme precipitation
and tropical cyclones being the most dominant threat faced by
the Group and its employees. While these events endanger the
safety of employees working at the premises or delivering diesel
oil to destinations designated by the customers, the goods and
services provided by the value chain may also be disrupted due to
obstruction towards the logistics of products to customers caused
by the extreme weather conditions. In this regard, the Group have
established guidelines regarding working arrangements under bad
weather conditions such as rainstorms and tropical cyclones in order
to ensure the safety of employees.

On the other hand, long-term temperature change may lead
to various environmental conditions, including rising sea levels,
precipitation pattern changes, and possible reduction of water
availability. Refineries and petrochemical plants of the upstream
explorer and producer in the oil and gas industry may be faced
with the problem of water scarcity and possible flooding problems.
With climate-related uncertainties affecting and threatening the
exploration and production of diesel oil from the upstream explorer
and producer, the supply of diesel oil to the Group may be affected.
Since the supply and production of diesel oil are unstable, the
procurement cost of diesel oil from the middle stream diesel oil
suppliers may be relatively high, thus may have a negative impact
on the Group’s financial performance and business sustainability.
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In light of emerging environmental regulations, future operational
costs are projected to rise with the implementation of new climate-
related policies and initiatives. For instance, the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”)
announced “Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan 2050" (“Action
Plan”) on 8 October 2021, which outlines the strategies and
targets for combating climate change and achieving carbon
neutrality. In the Action Plan, one of the major decarbonization
strategies includes green transport, which the Government
aims to achieve a target of zero vehicular emissions and zero
carbon emissions in the transport sector before 2050, through
the electrification of vehicles. Thus, the Government has also
announced the “Hong Kong Roadmap on Popularization of
Electric Vehicles”. The Government has implemented several key
measures in promoting the replacement of diesel commercial
vehicles in phasing out Euro IV diesel commercial vehicles (including
light, medium and heavy goods vehicles) starting from 2020, and
has planned further promoting the use of electric vehicles for
commercial vehicles proactively from around 2025. With the above
measures by the Government, additional costs of replacements will
be brought to the Group for the replacement of existing commercial
vehicles with more environmentally friendly and energy-efficient
vehicles. Furthermore, due to the strategies and measures to
phase out diesel commercial vehicles to promote the use of electric
commercial vehicles, the demand for diesel oil for commercial
vehicles for logistic industries is expected to decrease, this poses a
huge threat to the long-term financial performance and business
sustainability of the Group given that diesel is the main product of
the Group’s business.

The Group will develop new business strategies and review its
existing business strategies for both long-term and short-term
in order to minimize the abovementioned physical risks and
transitional risks which affect both the financial performance and
business sustainability of the Group over different time frames.
The Group remains committed to environmental responsibility and
sustainability. We will continue to optimize our business model and
champion green initiatives, ensuring that our pursuit of corporate
growth aligns with sustainable development principles.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR BEi S - (i E— (B R% TIEH
PRACTICES
B1 Employment B1{E{&

Employees are fundamental to the Group's success. All the Group’s EBEERAEBRININER AEEHE2RES
employees’ contributions and dedication to business development HAEBXFERBNEMMAERBERREZE
are valued equally by the Group. The Group has put continuous fReAREBHR NN ARERERBMEN TFIR
effort into providing a harmonious working environment for B -HFRNHBETHRFARE  FEILERHE
its employees. We remain committed to growing alongside our M A HEEREE T REFHNERERE -
employees, recognizing that this mutual development approach

benefits both our workforce and long-term business success.

Our Employees EMMES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group consisted of 14 employees F2025F3831H  AEBEFI14%EE

(FY2023/24: 15 employees), of which all are from Hong Kong. (20232484 1 15%EE) » HRBE B
The composition of the Group's employees is detailed below: NEBEEEAMFIRNT :
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Employment HE2025% HE20245F
&= 3B31BLEE 3B31BLEE
Total number of employees EEHY person(s) 14 15
A
Employees by employment type  Z{EREREFHES
Full time S person(s) 14 15
N
Part time Eigi person(s) 0 0
N
Employees by gender EEREDHNES
Male Bt person(s) 11 12
ANE
Female pegis person(s) 3 3
AEL
l To enhance the generalisability of our reporting against peers, we have ' BRRAAREREWITLERYE  RMELTEL
improved our methodology to disclose the employee data by number of BRI ES N A ARt o
person(s).

BYEERARAR 2024/2025 F1R 71



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B -HERELGERS

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Employment HE20255F HZFE20245F
% 3A31HLLEE 3A31HLLEE
Employees by age group BRERBERNEISNES
18-25 18-25/% person(s) 0 0
AH
26-35 26-35%% person(s) 2 0
AH
36-45 36-455% person(s) 4 9
AH
46-55 46-557% person(s) 5 4
AH
56-65 56-655% person(s) 3 2
AH
Above 65 655 UL E person(s) 0 0
AH
Employees by geographic region IZMEEI D HEES
Hong Kong "E person(s) 14 15
AH

The Group consists of a diverse workforce of different age groups
and genders. The Group believes that a workforce with diversity
and inclusiveness is essential to a successful and sustainable
business. Meanwhile, around 65% (FY2023/24: 80%) of its
employees have served the Group for over 3 years, with 15%
(FY2023/24: 27%) of them having served for more than 10 years,
demonstrating the Group’s ability to maintain a stable and loyal
workforce.

The Group strives for a harmonious and inclusive working
environment so that the employees are free from harassment and
discrimination. Employees of the Group are recruited regardless of
their age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status, disability,
race, nationality, religion and/or sexual orientation.

! To enhance the generalisability of our reporting against peers, we have
improved our methodology to disclose the employee data by number of
person(s).
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We are deeply committed to fostering workplace diversity and
ensuring equal opportunities across our entire workforce. We
established an employment opportunity policy which is applicable
to the Group's staff recruitment, remuneration, as well as
termination and dismissal. Job applicants will be required to attend
interviews, during which applicants’ performance will be assessed
together with their academic qualifications and other references
available. Background research will also be conducted into the
recruitment of staff in higher ranks.

The Group also maintains employees’ compensation insurance
for all of its employees as required under the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance Cap. 282, and complies with other
employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong such
as the Employment Ordinance Cap. 57. Furthermore, the Group
operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"”) schemes in compliance with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance Cap. 485
of Hong Kong and other relevant laws and regulations for our
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to such schemes are based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance regarding employment.
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BTEETEHE - ARMIGE 7 ERRER
THREBRFTEENEIRE HMUK
RILEERERE - KBERSIES  EILH
Bl HAIRGEEEEEREMAIFASEHK
BENKRBETT G -HESEEETIR K
PTEgETERBE-

AEBRBEB LA FE282E (BRERMERD)
~EITERERBREREHERR LETEBH
fthE BIRRR AR MES7TE(REIRG))
5k > AEEIRRE B IEPIF485F (RFIMER
B st BHRD) REMBRIEGAIER  HEE
EBERIBREMELART (RFAE) I TZE
BRMHRRIRAER 5T 8] - AR 58 Z R TH LUE
BEAHEZ —ERDLEREE-

RE|BESHE FEBTRFREMEEERHA
RIEZHBERBEBIBR -

BYEERARAR 2024/2025 F1R 73



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR-HERERHS

Employee Benefits

A comprehensive remuneration package is provided to all of the
Group’s employees with reference to market practice and their
performance. On top of that, a year-end bonus is awarded to staff
based on their contribution, as well as the Group's performance.
Special bonuses may also be given to staff with outstanding
achievements. Moreover, the Group contributes to the MPF and
provides employees’ compensation insurance in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. Considering the needs
of employees in different job positions, different employees’
compensation insurance would be purchased for drivers and office
staff separately. Furthermore, the Group provides supplementary
medical insurance to ensure comprehensive healthcare coverage for
employees.

To enhance employee performance and address professional
development needs, the Group conducts annual staff assessments.
The evaluating factors include team spirit, job responsibility,
attitude, punctuality, capability, quality of work and efficiency.
Employees with satisfactory results in the annual appraisal may be
considered for promotion, salary adjustment and bonus.

Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that adequate rest is crucial to the
sustainability of its workforce, thus the Group has developed
corresponding internal policies to help its employees achieve
work-life balance. To accommodate the routines of different job
positions, different working hours are assigned to drivers and office
staff. Drivers are working on shifts, while office staff are working
from Monday to Saturday. Our employees are engaged in 45 to
54 hours of work each week, with at least 1 rest day to ensure
sufficient rest. Flexible lunch break arrangements are available to
accommodate individual scheduling needs.

The Group provides a comprehensive leave system for its
employees, which ensures proper coverage for employees’
diverse needs, encompassing annual vacation, maternity care,
bereavement, and medical needs.
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Talent Retention

During the Reporting Year, our employee-oriented
approach resulted in an turnover rate' of approximately
14.29% (FY2023/24: 23.28%).

Since all staff are from Hong Kong, the corresponding
annual turnover rate' by geographical region was 14.29%
(FY2023/24: 23.28%).
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B2 Health and Safety

Employee safety, health and well-being stand at the core of the
Group's commitments. The Group complies with relevant laws
and regulations, including the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance Cap. 509 and the Fire Services Ordinance Cap. 95
of Hong Kong. Not only does we aim to meet the minimum
occupational health and safety standards required by law, but to
exceed them for creating a safe and healthy working environment.
To realize this commitment, the Group has implemented a number
of policies with regard to keeping workplace safety.

In accordance with the “Dangerous Goods Ordinance (Cap. 295)",
all oil tank wagons and tractors under the Group have registered for
the relevant licenses from the authority to operate and deliver diesel
oil. They have been equipped with fire equipment for potential
hazards, while labels declaring the presence of inflammable goods
inside the vehicles have been attached to the front or rear end of
all vehicles. Vehicles are also under regular checks and maintenance
to ensure that they are in good condition. Besides, the Group
maintains a license register to keep track of all the licenses and their
respective expiry dates, so as to arrange renewal of the licenses in a
timely manner.

On top of these, all drivers are required to attend safety training
sessions organized by the supplier (Sinopec Group) before they
are allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil depots. Only
authorized persons with relevant licenses from Sinopec will be
permitted in the oil depots. Smoking is strictly prohibited at oil
stations to prevent fire hazards. Meanwhile, a safety handbook
has been established and distributed to all the drivers responsible
for delivering diesel oil. It outlines the safety protocols for various
hazards, such as car crashes of various severity, oil leakage and
fire. Emergency contacts for government bodies, hospitals, and
garages for maintenance are enclosed in the handbook as well.
The Group has also equipped its office and station with adequate
fire equipment and first aid toolbox, with various signage posted
around the workplace to remind its employees of the importance
of work safety. All these measures help to create a safe working
environment and protect its employees from occupational hazards.
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In the meantime, the Group provides employee compensation
insurance to all its employees, which covers work injuries and other
medical needs. In case of work injury, our employees are entitled to
medical leave, so that they can have sufficient rest for recovery.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no lost days due
to work injury and no work-related fatalities (FY2024/25: nil,
FY2023/24: nil, FY2022/23: nil) reported within our Group in the
Reporting Year. Prioritizing employee safety, the Group remains
dedicated to maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.

B3 Development and Training

The Group champions employee development through continuous
learning, strengthening readiness for future challenges. On-the-job
training is provided to all the newly recruited employees so that they
can acquire all the necessary skills and knowledge for their roles, as
well as assimilate into the Group smoothly. Drivers are required to
attend safety training organized by Sinopec Group before they are
allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil depots. Additionally,
we established a standardized operation manual for employees to
reference.

During the Reporting Year, 3 employees (FY2023/24: 5 employees)
of the Group have received a total of 25.0 hours (FY2023/24:
29.5 hours) of training in the Reporting Year, the corresponding
percentage of employees who received training was 21%. The
percentage of trained employees by gender was 27% for males
and nil for females, while percentage of trained employees by
employment category was 20% for frontline staff, nil for middle
management and 25% for senior management. On the other
hand, the average training hour by gender was 2.3 hours for males
and nil for females, while by employment category was 0.4 hours
for frontline staff, nil for middle management and 5.3 hours for
senior management.

Looking ahead, the Group will remain committed to expanding its
investment in talent development, ensuring our team continues to
stay attuned to market dynamics.
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B4 Labour Standards

The Group upholds human rights and strictly adheres to all labour
laws and regulations prohibiting child and forced labour, including
but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During our recruitment process, documents
authenticating the applicant’s identity and eligibility to work are
obtained and verified, so as to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. No person below the age of 18 will be hired
or forced to work in the Group. Any act of violence, with the
purpose of deliberately causing discomfort, threats and/or bodily
harm, as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly prohibited
by the Group. The Group’s employees are welcome to report to
the management if they notice any potential violation, or if they
are experiencing forced labour. Management will thoroughly
investigate any reported incidents and take decisive action to ensure
no employee works under duress.

In the Reporting Year, we are not aware of any material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation to
labour standards.

SECTION B: SOCIAL - OPERATING PRACTICES
B5 Supply Chain Management

The Group maintains that well-managed supply chains contribute
positively to the communities where we operate, and accordingly
implements comprehensive quality assurance measures for
systematic supply chain monitoring. The Group maintains a list of
approved suppliers which have met its procurement requirements.
Purchase orders will only be made with suppliers on the list,
ensuring the quality of the Group'’s products and mitigating the
risk of potential disruption in the Group's supply chain. Regular
assessments will also be conducted on our suppliers so as to
keep a close eye on the standard of their products and services.
New supplier assessments will be conducted with the Group’s
new suppliers to ensure the quality of the products provided by
the suppliers and the quality of the products that fit the Group’s
procurement requirements.
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The Group's suppliers are also encouraged to demonstrate
corporate social responsibilities by complying with the relevant
codes and business ethics with respect to business operations,
marketing activities, social contacts and environmental
responsibilities. The Group also encourages suppliers to adopt
environmentally friendly practices such as saving resources, as well
as considers if suppliers comply with relevant environmental laws
so that the products and services provided meet the environmental
standards of the regulations and the Group. Moreover, any form of
bribery is also strictly prohibited by the Group, while confidential
information related to business activities, business structure,
financial status and financial performance etc. should only be
disclosed in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

With a limited number of suppliers in the industry, the Group'’s
tactical supplier selection process and strategic partnership with
our suppliers have given us a competitive edge. In the Reporting
Year, the Group has engaged 3 suppliers (FY2023/24: 4 suppliers)
in Hong Kong, supplying diesel oil and other materials. As
part of our strategic objectives, the Group plans to introduce
systematic supplier assessments. During the Reporting Year, the
Group has zero evaluated suppliers. Long-term relationships with
these suppliers have also enabled a stable supply of products at
reasonable prices. Moving forward, the Group aims to look into any
potential green procurement process when selecting suppliers.
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B6 Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to safeguarding the interests and
safety of the general public. Product Quality is one of the major
considerations for the Group and its stakeholders. As its core
business involves the sales and transportation of diesel oil, the
Group understands the potential hazards surrounding its business
activities, and the Group endeavours to mitigate risks to the best
of its ability. Oil tank wagons and tractors under the Group are
registered with relevant licenses from the authority under the
Dangerous Goods Ordinance (Cap. 295), while safety hazard labels
have been displayed on the vehicles. The vehicles are also under
regular checks and maintenance to ensure that they are in good
condition. Vehicles which have failed to pass the checks will be
strictly prohibited from operating. All its drivers are required to
attend mandatory induction training to familiarize themselves with
the operations of oil tank wagons and safety protocols. Meanwhile,
we distributed the Safety Handbook and Industrial Safety Policy
to all drivers for easy reference and handling of products during
delivery. The Group maintains a stringent emphasis on safe driving
practices, with zero tolerance for speeding and driving under the
influence of alcohol.

Through its unwavering commitment to safety standards, the
Group is pleased to report that we were not aware of any material
non-compliance regarding product responsibility during the
Reporting Year.
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Quality Control

The Group’s diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid are sourced only from
the list of approved suppliers, all of which are authorized agents
appointed by the Oil Majors so that consistent quality of its products
can be ensured. We directly ship the diesel oil from supplier depots
to customer locations, optimizing delivery efficiency.

The Group is pleased to report that we did not receive any
complaints or claims of compensation from our customers in this
Reporting Year. If there are any complaints and product recalls, the
Company will conduct an investigation and submit an investigation
report to the management. Given that the business nature of
the Group involves the sales and transportation of diesel oil,
no products sold or shipped were subjected to recalls for safety
and health reasons. Upholding its high standards, the Group is
steadfastly committed to rigorous supply chain governance.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group's core business involves the sales of diesel oil. There was
no intellectual property rights registered during the Reporting Year.

Privacy

The Group has established an Internal Guideline on inside
information, outlining the regulations and importance of inside
information protection. The guidelines have been circulated to
all our employees so that they can familiarize themselves with
the protocols. Employees are strictly prohibited from disclosing
any inside information about the Group both during and after
employment, irrespective of the circumstances of termination. In
particular, the pricing of our diesel oil is highly confidential, and its
employees should refrain from activities that may potentially result
in leakage of the information at all times. Failure to comply with
these guidelines may be grounds for disciplinary action, including
potential termination of employment.
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B7 Anti-corruption

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy towards all forms
of bribery and corruption. Employees should not offer, solicit or
accept anything of material value to or from their colleagues,
customers, suppliers or other business partners of the Group
without permission from the management. This applies to, but is
not limited to, both monetary and non-monetary gifts, loans, fees,
rewards, employment, contracts and services etc. Moreover, under
no circumstances may a director or employee offer benefits to any
person or company for the purpose of influencing the party in
business decisions or transactions.

The Group has established a comprehensive whistleblowing
mechanism to provide secure reporting channels for employees.
Suspected non-compliance will be reported to the Audit
Committee. Employees found to have breached our standards and
be engaged in misconduct will be investigated and may be subject
to termination of contract, dismissal, or criminal proceedings.
Employees are welcome to report potential cases of misconduct
through various channels, while the management will take
immediate action to investigate the matter thoroughly.

The Group adopts the ‘Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide
for Listed Companies’ published by the Corruption Prevention
Department of the ICAC as its compliance guidance framework
while maintaining stringent adherence to relevant legislation
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619
of the Laws of Hong Kong). While anti-corruption training activities
were not conducted during the Reporting Year, the Group remains
committed to proactively planning and implementing relevant
training initiatives at appropriate intervals to continuously enhance
its anti-corruption governance system.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no concluded legal
case brought against us or our employees in the Reporting Year. The
Group will continue to adopt the zero-tolerance approach and stay
alert to potential misconduct of its employees.
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B8 Community Investment

Community investment is a cornerstone of the Group’s values,
demonstrating our ongoing commitment to social responsibility in
our operating communities.

While community service participation was limited during the
Reporting Year, the Group remains committed to exploring
and engaging in diverse community service initiatives when
circumstances permit.

Looking ahead, the Group aims to expand its community
investment portfolio by increasing resource allocation and
employee engagement across various social causes beyond
poverty alleviation. By doing so, the Group hopes to encourage
its employees to serve and give back to the community while
promoting corporate social responsibility and bringing positive
impacts to the greater society.
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ENVIRONMENT DATA RIGEE
Emissions Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BB o #HE20255 #HE2025
3A31HLEE 3F31ALEE
Air emissions ARHRMEE
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") a&164 (TNoxJ) kilogram 556.48 711.05
T
Nitrogen oxides (“NOX") &t (Tsox ) kilogram 0.66 0.72
T
Particulate matter (“PM") B3tk (FPM ) kilogram 55.16 51.62
T
Greenhouse gas emissions AERBAHNRE
Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions HE——BRAERBHM  tonnes 108.04 118.94
0
Scope 2 - Energy indirect GHG emissions ¥ ——fE BB AERAEEE  tonnes 21.24 12.74
i i
Scope 3 - Other indirect GHG emissions?  #[E = —HtEZAZRE  tonnes
HeRe i
— Paper waste disposal at landfills —HIRIEE SR B A A 1R tonnes 0.41 0.42
U
— Electricity used for processing —FKEEFAEN tonnes 0.29 0.40
fresh water ]
— Electricity used for processing sewage ~ —5KBRIEFTRES tonnes 0.14 0.28
U
— Business air travel by employees - EEBEBMELE tonnes - -
WA
Total greenhouse gas emissions AERBAHNRE tonnes 130.12 132.78
i
Greenhouse gas emission intensity BRERBHNEZE tonnes/million Hong 3.05 1.92
Kong dollars of
revenue'
W/ BETHA
L To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been 1 ARFHEBFE AN BEBMNOHEEA EE
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue. EITW A ©
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Year ended Year ended
Use of Resources 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
e #HE20255 HE2025
L 3ENALEE  IFIALEE
Energy consumption ENHE
Direct energy BERERERE kWh 411,045.60' N/A
TRE
Indirect energy (purchased electricity) BiEEREE BENSS)  kwh 32,177.00 32,675.00
TR
Total energy consumption ENERERE kWh 443,222.60 32,675.00
TRE
Energy consumption intensity ENERRE kWh/million Hong 10,404.29 47355
Kong dollars of
revenue?
TRE/
BRTHA?
Water consumption KiHE
Total water consumption KEHERE m? 668.00 928.82
AR
Water consumption intensity KHERE m¥million Hong 15.68 13.46
Kong dollars of
revenue’
Ak
EENALON
Waste management BNER
Non-hazardous waste? BEREMLS tonnes 0.15 0.09
WA
Non-hazardous waste intensity BEBEVRE tonnes/million Hong 0.0035 0.0013
Kong dollars of
revenue?
W/ BETHA
1 This year, we enhanced the calculation methodology to include direct REER SAE A EMIEEEERHEZREE
energy consumption from diesel used in mobile vehicles. WS RAYAR T o

2 To enhance comparability with peers, the unit of intensity has been 2 RIEFAEBZEZ O BREBNEAEAEE
adjusted to million Hong Kong dollars of revenue. FETTl

3 To enhance the comparability of data disclosed in the Report, we have 3 BREABRSPARBEHBEN LS BEAFE

expanded our calculation of non-hazardous waste data beyond paper B RPEREAEEEREYEENAEHLEEER
from this year. LN BEEY) o
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SOCIAL DATA HE8s
Sl Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
. EE20255 #F20245F
3A3MBLLEE 3A31BLLEE
Total number of employees EERH person(s) 14 15
A#
Employees by employment type RERELI2HNES
Full time 2 person(s) 14 15
A&
Part time Edicy person(s) 0 0
A
Employees by gender BURE2NES
Male Bt person(s) 1 12
A
Female pogis person(s) 3 3
A
Employees by age group RERARBDNES
18-25 18-255% person(s) 0 0
A&
26-35 26-355% person(s) 2 0
A&
36-45 36-455% person(s) 4 9
A&
46-55 46-55% person(s) 5 4
A&
56-65 56-657% person(s) 3 2
A&
Above 65 655 M person(s) 0 0
A
Employees by geographic region e 2HNES
Hong Kong 5E person(s) 14 15
A
l To enhance the generalisability of our reporting against peers, we have ! BRFAHARERENVAULER Y  BRMELTET
improved our methodology to disclose the employee data by number of BRNBES I A ARt
person(s).

86 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR-HERELRHRS

Employee Turnover Rate’

BEREE

Total employee turnover rate BRERAE
Turnover rate by gender BERE RHRAE
Male B
Female pegid

BERERHRDHREE

Turnover rate by age group

18-25 18-255%

26-35 26-355%

36-45 36-455%

46-55 46-555%

56-65 56-655%

Above 65 655 £

Turnover rate by geographic region & DK R

Hong Kong &8

Health and Safety

EfRz
RIFETAH

Number of work-related fatalities

Number of lost days due to work injury ~ RIZEE%5TERE

reporting by shifting from monthly to annualized turnover rate.

To enhance comparability with peers, we have adjusted our turnover '

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
#HE20255 HE2025
3A31HLEE 3A31ALEE
percentage 14.29 23.28
Bat
percentage 18.18 15.36
A&
percentage = 45.00
A&
percentage - -
A#
percentage S 150.00
A&
percentage 50.00 11.16
N
percentage - -
N
percentage - 33.36
N
percentage - -
A&
percentage 14.29 23.28
A&
Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
#ZE2025%F #HE2024%F #HE2023E
3E31ALFE 3A31HLEE 3A3MALEE
person(s) - - -
A&
day(s) - - _
H

BIEARREZAILE  RMERABRB TR
BRAERBREERE
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Training and Development Year ended Year ended
. P 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
#HE20255 HE2025
s BRI
S ALEE  3BIALEE
Total percentage of employees trained 43R EZHI T AL percentage 21 33
BAL
By gender IR
Male B percentage 27 100
B
Female pegis percentage - -
B
By employee category #ESEHR
Frontline employees —5EE percentage 20 40
B
Middle management RREERE percentage - -
Bt
Senior management SHREEE percentage 25 60
Bt
Total training hours B3| ERE hours 25.0 29.5
INES
Average training hours completed per B4 EETAZ N hours 1.8 25
employee THEH 11\
By gender 7R
Male B hours 23 25
I
Female i3 hours - -
TN
By employee category REEER
Frontline employees —#5E8 hours 0.4 1.6
TN
Middle management HREERE hours - -
INEF
Senior management BREEE hours 53 2.7
N
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Supply Chain Management

HIERER

Number of suppliers YL AE

Number of suppliers by geographic  #ZEEIFHHEFHE
region

Hong Kong 5

Product Responsibility

EENEEZXEMEHT
RfgREz 2 REMALR

Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subjected to recalls for health

and safety reasons ME
Number of products and service related ~ $ZERIR E R R RFEH
complaints received EiE

Anti-corruption

R&B

Number of concluded legal cases HETASHESREL
regarding corrupt practices brought BEENESHARHN
against the issuer or its employees =

Community Investment

HERE

Employee volunteering EEET
Number of employee volunteers BEXTIHE
Total number of service hours PR ABRE

Year ended

31 March 2025

HE20255

3A31ALEE

no. 3
A

no. 3
A

Year ended

31 March 2025

#Z20255

3A31HLEE

percentage N/A

B B

no. -

Year ended

31 March 2025

HZE2025%

3B3M1BLLEE

case(s) -
2

Year ended

31 March 2025

HZE20255

3B31HLEE

person(s) -
A&

hours N/A

I\B B

Year ended
31 March 2024
#HE20245
3R31BLLEE

Year ended

31 March 2024
HZE20245F
3B31HLEE
N/A

AEA

Year ended
31 March 2024
#HE20245
3A31HILLEE

Year ended
31 March 2024
HE205
3B31HLEE

/A
B
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B -HERELGERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (RIF - ERERBEIES) WERCQAS
REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX L E
Relevant
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Section
=] R - ERERER MR =
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
HEIRBERE
Governance Structure A Statement from the board containing the Board
following elements: Statement

(I)  disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG
issues.

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritize and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s business);
and

(iii) how the board reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an
explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s

business
AR HEEFLHNER EFHE AR ! EEEEH
() WEEEGHRIE T AEAFTEMNE
=S .
B »

(i) EFEMRE HERELABEELHKR
BS . e HE BRI R EEEERIRE
HEREAEREE (BENETAEBN
Rk BIBIR ; K

(i) EFTUWARIRE L ERERERBERRE
SEE AR EMNAEEITAES AR
& o
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RIR-HERELRHRS

Aspects ESG Indicators
=] RIE-HERERER

Relevant
Description Section

it AERAE &

Reporting Principles

R

Reporting Boundary

FEsREEE

A description of, or an explanation on, the Reporting
application of the Reporting Principles (materiality, Principles
quantitative, and consistency) in the preparation of
the ESG Report
HLNREERERE L AEARERHNN HREFRA
FEFAEE SRR A

EM I RE-HEREARGEKE ()HHE
DIRBE - HERERRAENBREREZEEERNER
BZER] (INMBITABETHMHESE EH#A
NEZFMENRARETAFTHESEHNBE
FefER o
21 . BRERBINE SRR WER) PrA
RIS FiE s RE &/ HFEIAMER UKk
FrE R ERE RN RE TR E
— M BT ABTERE - HEREABRERE
BT A AR RERUERNEE (A) HEM
HtZEA R R RN ERER-
A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of ~ Scope of the
the ESG report and describing the process used to  Report
identify which entities or operations are included in
the ESG report.
RREIRE - HERERRENERSEE KM REHE
WEBLEERIEFMARR HLERELBRS
NiER SERBERTNE 1T ARBERER
Bz B R BB RE
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CHEREARS

Relevant
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Section
fEmE RIE-HERERIER fd MERAE &
A. Environment
A IRIR
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: A1 Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
A1 BER —fRIREE BB RFREREHR MK KT HAEET - AEERY
BERBEEREEYNELSFN
@@ BER; &
(b) BTHETABEAZENERERERRG
BB
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Air Emissions
data.
RS AE MIEIRAL PER YD R 58 R AR RA B I B o KRR
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Greenhouse

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Gas ("GHG")
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production ~ Emissions
volume, per facility).

R NIETRAT.2 BHi (@E) RERBEE E@E2) REREnE AxaE (1
UMt E) & WUER) BE WIUESESEEN - =R B
BIERMEE)

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and Hazardous

>erEl

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Waste
production volume, per facility).

RASRAEMIERA13 FRELAEREEYMRE CUEE) kK (NER) & BEEEY
B WMUSESEN BEXRMH) ©

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Non-
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of  hazardous
production volume, per facility). Waste

FARENIEEA1 4 FRELBEEREYEE (LX@E%Jr%) WER) & BEEEY
B WMUSESEN BERMH) ©
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CHEREARS

Aspects
Em

A2: Use of Resources

A2 : BERfER

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBRER

KPI A1.5
RS AEIEIZA1 .5

KPI'A1.6

R RIEIRA1.6

General Disclosure

— BB

KPI'A2.1

B AR RS IRA2.1

KPI A2.2
MR AE 5 1RA2.2
KPIA2.3

RS AE R FE1RA2.3

KPI A2.4

RSEAEIERA2.4

Relevant
Section

AERAE &

Description
it
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken Hazardous
Waste

RFTR BEREEY

to achieve them.

HHPREI BN B B R R AERELER
BT BR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Non-
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction hazardous

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Waste

HRIEEEREEREYNG E M BEERY
BRI B IR R A ER B LR R REA L B

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including A2 Use of

energy, water, and other raw materials. Resources

BREAER (BFEER KREMEME) B A2EREH
Ko

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in Energy

total (Kwh in '000s) and intensity. Consumption
REBNBIDNEZER, SiEEEREEE LT SERBERE
BEFEEHE) REE USESBA - 8ER

MEtE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity. Water
Consumption
MFEKEREE WUSESEN -SIERMET HOHFE

8o
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and Energy

steps taken to achieve them. Consumption

HRFR ATV AR AR e BB R B EIE L B AETEONAE
PR AR RER 0 5 B8 o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Water
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Consumption
target(s), and steps taken to achieve them.

HEMUREVE R 7KOR LRI BRI > LURFREIIL KIHFE
ARk w B 1R Fe 73 3 255 L B AR PR EREN RO &
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Aspects ESG Indicators

Relevant
Description Section

BE BRI - ERERER
KPI A2.5

R REIEIRA2.5

A3: The Environment General Disclosure
and Natural
Resources

A3 RIERRAER —MRINE

KPI'A3.1

B B2 AR RS 1RA3. 1

A4: Climate Change General Disclosure

A4 RIREE —RRIREE

KPI' A4.1

R AR IS 1ZEAL 1

it MERAE &
Total packing material used for finished products (in Packaging
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit Material
produced.

B mFT A EEMENEE (UMEETE) & W@ sk
R BEEBMEE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts A3

on the environment and natural resources. Environment
and Natural
Resources
BBEZFTABRERKXABREMNEAZZENE ASRIEREX
o AER

Description of the significant impacts of activities A3
on the environment and natural resources and the Environment

actions taken to manage them and Natural
Resources

HREBEIHIRIERRARAERNEATERE ARIERX

RKINEIERRTENITEH- RER

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant A4 Climate
climate-related issues which have impacted, and Change
those which may impact, the issuer.
HAREHECSRAIEGEHBTAEELENE MREET
ARIEEBEENBER

Description of the significant climate-related issues A4 Climate
which have impacted, and those which may impact, Change

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
HLERAKRPIEGHETAEERENEARIE MRIEZE
HEIEE  KELHTEH-
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LEEE T

Description Section

it AERAE &

Aspects ESG Indicators

B R -HERERER
B. Social

BALE

B1: Employment General Disclosure
B1:{E{# —ARINER

KPI'B1.1

RS AR FE1RB1 1

KPIB1.2

R REIE1EB1.2

Information on: B1
(@) the policies; and Employment
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

BRAFMNERE BIEREA  TIEFH RA- BIER
TEHE L REFRUKREMFBEREF

B9 :

(@ HE; &

(b) BTHETABEAZENERAERERRG

&k o

Total workforce by gender, employment type Our

(for example, full-or part-time), age group and Employees
geographical region.

2R EEEE ANEBEERE) - Tk RPNES
e B D RS EE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Our
geographical region. Employees

B FleAER R EEI DR REERKLLER . RMNES
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Relevant
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Section
=] RIF-HERERER MW MR S
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: B2 Health and
(@) the policies; and Safety

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

hazards

B2 . @EH%ZZ — IR E ERREZE2TERERFREEEREHEMLR B2REHEZ
=MW =
(@ B, &
(b) BFHTETABEAZZNERERRAG
LR

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred B2 Health and

in each of the past three years including the Safety

reporting year.

R SR AE A5 1RB2.1 BE=ZF (BRERFE SFRITHIAR K B2EEER

EbER o £
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. B2 Health and
Safety
R R AE R F51RB2.2 ETIHBELXTFRR- B2lERREi %
2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety B2 Health and

measures adopted, and how they are implemented Safety
and monitored.

RS AE R FE1RB2.3 PR BV R R R R 2 287 > LURAERIH B2RERE R
TRHERT A £
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Aspects
Em

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBRER

B3: Development and General Disclosure

Training

B3 : BRI

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : & T #H|

—fRIREE

KPI'B3.1

B J2 AR A5 1RB3.1

KPI'B3.2

RS AE R FE1RB3.2

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI B4.1

B SR AR A5 1RB4. 1

KPI B4.2

RS AE R F51RB4.2

Relevant
Section

AERAE &

B3 Training
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of and

training activities. Development
BRRAEEBRIT LIFR SN RIENER  B3REKRE
ZR o M ENEEN © El

The percentage of employees trained by gender and B3 Training

Description
it

Policy on improving employees’ knowledge and

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle and

management). Development
BURREER MNEREEE FREERE B3BENME
o RIMEET DL Bl

The average training hours completed per employee B3 Training
by gender and employee category. and
Development

BHR REESERE D 8L EETMZIINT B3EREKIE
bSliSE S Bl
Information on: B4 Labour
(@) the policies; and Standards
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRI IEE T 55865 T - B4%5 T #EH
(@ B&R; &
(b) BTFTHETABEAXENEREERRG
LR
Description of measures to review employment B4 Labour
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Standards
MRS IB IR ER LU R E T R o8 h%5 B4 T %8

To

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices B4 Labour
Standards
MR IRER B RS HRBRIE RTINS B4%5 T %R

Bo

when discovered.
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Relevant
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Section
=] RIF-HERERER MW MR S
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks B5 Supply
Management of the supply chain. Chain
Management
5: {HEEERE —ARiREE BIEMEEAIRIE RS RREER BoftFEEE
b2
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. B5 Supply
Chain
Management
A SR AR A HE1EB5.1 i@ 8 DR RE - BoftFEEE
b2
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging B5 Supply

suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Chain
are being implemented, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

B SR AE WIS 1%B5.2 WA ARMERMHERES DERNITERES BSHERE
HEEHEE WA TRER % i

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify B5 Supply
environmental and social risks along the supply Chain
chain, and how they are implemented and Management
monitored.

AR AR A HE1EB5.3 A RHEN RS EIRSNIRIE R R BSHERE
BRI DU BRI T R EE R 7% it

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote B5 Supply

environmentally preferable products and services ~ Chain
when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.

SRR F51%B5.4 MR REHE R EE L AIRGFRE QKRB BHEREE
1BH > DURABRI R IT R B % i
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Aspects
Em

B6: Product
Responsibility

B6: EmEE

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBRER

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI B6.1

% $2 48 A5 1%B6. 1

KPI B6.2

R SE B XI5 1RB6.2

KPI B6.3

B SR AE R 51%B6.3

KPI B6.4

B SR AE 2 F51%B6.4

KPI'B6.5

B AE R F515B6.5

Relevant
Section

Description
it MR S
B6 Product
Responsibility

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

BRIFffEHERNRBHNRREZE - BE12
BRAIEESEUARBRG EN :

(@ H&ER;, &

(b) BTHETABEAZENERER KRG
BB o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject B6 Product

B6EmET

to recalls for safety and health reasons. Responsibility
EENEEXEmBHPRZLEREIEHMA B6EmETE
EIlESER N

Number of products and service related complaints Quality
Control

RERRERKRBHRFBREURER G L B8TH

received and how they are dealt with.

Description of practices relating to observing and  Intellectual
protecting intellectual property rights. Property
Rights
ot B 4 S Ko (R PR RN B EE RE R RERVIB B RN oA
Description of quality assurance process and recall  Quality
procedures. Control
i E ST BE K EmEIWRERF - BEZH
Description of consumer data protection and Privacy

privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HIUH EEBRMRERARBEER  UAERRNT AR
BEEHEe

BYEERARAR 2024/2025 F1R 99



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR

“HERERHS

Aspects ESG Indicators

=]

RIE-HEREBER

B7: Anti-corruption  General Disclosure

B7 . R&ES — AR EE

100

KPI'B7.1

B SRR A5 1RBT .1

KPIB7.2

BSR4 A5 1RB7 .2

KPIB7.3

B A E1EB7.3

Relevant
Description Section
it MERAE &
Information on: B7 Anti-
(@) the policies; and corruption

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
BRI LEERRR ~ #h3R  liEE Aok B E2HY ¢ B7 R &R
@ BR; &

(b) BTFHETABEAXENEREZERRG

LR

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt B7 Anti-
practices brought against the issuer or its employees corruption
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RERARNHZETANHESERETESEENE BIREH
SRR B KA R

Description of preventive measures and whistle- B7 Anti-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented corruption
and monitored.

L IR I S B R AZ T MURAERARIT R &5 BIREM
FiEe

Description of anti-corruption training provided to  B7 Anti-

directors and staff. corruption
HrMEEFREIRHENRESEI- B7R B
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RIR-HERELRHRS

Aspects ESG Indicators
=] RIE-HERERER

Relevant
Description Section

it AERAE &

B8: Community General Disclosure
Investment
Bt EKE — ARk EE
KPI B8.1

B SR AR XI5 1RB8.1

KPI B8.2

R SR AE 515882

Policies on community engagement to understand B8 Community
the needs of the communities where the issuer Investment
operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.
BERUHE2ERTHREEMIMERTENRR BBHERE
HEBITHEERLRAHAIEER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, B8 Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, Investment
culture, sport).

EIEHEE WHE  REEE - HFILEXR 2 BHERE
BN BA) °

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the B8 Community

focus area. Investment
A ITHRIBFAFAER WS - B8Ht @ E
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

The Board are pleased to present the annual report together with
the annual audited financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on
31 October 2017. The shares of the Company have been listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on
8 January 2019 (the “Share Offer”). In connection with the listing
of the shares of the Company on GEM of the Stock Exchange, the
companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”). Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries comprising the
Group on 29 November 2018. Further details of the Reorganisation
are set out in the section headed "History and Development,
Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities
of the Group are the operation of the business of the sale and
transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong and
PRC. During the ended 31 March 2025, the group commenced the
business engaging in the e-commerce business in the PRC.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 and the financial position of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 144 to
149. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2025.

102 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

EFEMAERAEBNBREMB 2 FRE
B FEEBZMFBRER

EEBHEKRRKRNEE

RABR2017F 10831 HIRBABEERE
HEEMRILAEREERAT - ARATRMN
20191 H8A BB ERAREE (TR 7%
B 1) IR SZFIGEM LT o BLZANA B IR 9 T B 32
PRGEMLETMME > AEERRKIE N A ETE
B (TEM) - RBER xRFMN20185F 118
9B A TERRKETHBATNIZERA
e EMHNE—PFBHNBREENESE
MR EHAERRE -

FEER

AABDZEBEHAREER - H B AT
TEEDHN G EMBRRNE34-AEEZ
TEARHATEET B RTEETREMAEREE
mBYHE R ER - B E20259F3831H
FE AEERBRPEEEERER-

ES V5809

REBEHZE2025F3831HIEFENFHER
HEURAEERZBNMBER IR E 144
FIOENGEVMBERR - BESTEZMEE
20253831 HIEFEIRSERKRE



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2025 is set out
on page 280 of this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and in the paragraph headed
"Comparison of implementation plans for business strategies with
actual implementation progress” in this report, the Group does not
have any future plans for material investments or capital assets as
at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have
any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

P E

NEBEEHE2025F3831HIEEBFREFER
FEEEUREERBEBREH N ARS
F280H c A E RN E K EZHFERETW—
B

BRERKREREREENRKEE

BRAABHEA2018F 12821 HZBKRER

(MBRER)) IRK B RFAEMIBERR) —
B R AR E 1 RIRIEIT 2 B RIE1TE
ERLEE —BRFIFEEIN BEARSHER
AEBUTEREIMNEHEARENELREEN
FRIREHE] o

EARE - EARBRLEMBLE K
EATNEGERF

REE2025F3831HIEFE > REE N HE
TEAEAEE - BEAREILERB AT

BEATRAEAT
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ESERE

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. A total of 100,000,000 new shares with
nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at
HK$0.60 per share for a total of approximately HK$60.0 million.
The Net Proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer,
after deduction of the underwriting commission and related
expenses in connection with the Share Offer, was approximately
HK$34.8 million. The Net Proceeds, upon receipt by the Company
after Listing, has been deposited at a bank and such Net Proceeds
will be applied in the manners consistent with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the UOP Announcements and the UOP
Announcement 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWING

The banking facilities available to the Group was approximately
HK$9.0 million and approximately HK$7.0 million of the banking
facilities was utilised.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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ESERE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 147.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025 the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2025, there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Xinlong (Chairman)

Mr. REN Rong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YAN Lei

Mr. LAW Ming Yik

M RAR
BEEUAHNEBRERAFEAATDESEMESR
EEIRFE R E

B4

HE2025F3831HIEFE  AERBKREAAT
MR EEHFBEHNE 14780 GRS HEm S5
ggo

ARG

2025538310 KA AR L ETAIREES
NEMEFIRIMERRE st E Z ol ok o
BE HENER LHES

BT HEEEREE2025F3831H > fEHEE
B -HEFBELMERAAT LHESHeo

S

HE2025F3831HIEFEERBEEARKRESH
=12 B /AT ===/ I N

BITESR

THBESRE (F/E)
RS E (TTEAE )
SEpiES
R
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Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Junxia
Mr. HE Junlong
Ms. LIANG Lina

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation at each AGM provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

(a)

(b)

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the effective date of contract and shall
continue thereafter unless terminated in accordance with
the terms therein. Under the terms of the service contract,
the service contract may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice served by either party on the other. The
term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company and which may
be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is
subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors
as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is
proposed to have a service contract and/or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the
Company or its subsidiaries, as applicable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation).
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee by reference to the benchmarking of
the market. The Company also looks into individual Director’s
competence, duties, responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 128 to 134 of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 March 2025 or at any time during the year ended 31 March
2025.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended at 31 March 2025, the Company did not
enter into or have any management and/or administration contracts
in respect of the whole or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors nor
the controlling shareholders of the Company (the "“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”) nor any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Group since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this report. The independent non-
executive Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in
relation to managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the
Group have been properly implemented.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 11 December 2018, Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort Group
Limited (“Fully Fort”), the Controlling Shareholders, entered
into a deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”)
in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries),
pursuant to which each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort has
irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally, warranted and
undertaken with the Company that, immediately upon the Share
Offer becoming unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall
procure each of his/its close associates (“Controlled Persons”) and
any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr. Law Ming Yik
and Fully Fort (except for the members the Group) (“Controlled
Company”) not to except through any member of our Group,
directly or indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as
principal or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement and whether for profit
or otherwise), carry on, engage in, invest or acquire or hold any
rights or be interested or otherwise involved in any business that
is similar to or in competition directly or indirectly with or is likely
to be in competition with any business currently and from time to
time engaged by the Group in Hong Kong and any other country
or jurisdiction to which the Group carries on business or grants
franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort further undertake that when any
Controlled Persons and/or any Controlled Company is offered or
becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity (“New
Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to engage or become
interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall promptly notify
the Company of such New Business Opportunity in writing, refer
the same to the Company for consideration first and provide such
information as may be reasonably required by the Company to
make an informed assessment of such New Business Opportunity;
and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the Controlled Persons
or Controlled Company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity
is declined by the Company, or the Company does not proceed
with such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from
the date of the written notice (of if requested by the Company
in writing, such 30 business days period may be extended to a
maximum of 60 business days), and the principal terms of which
he/it and/or his/its close associates invest or participate in are no
more favourable than those made available to the Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus. Mr. Law Ming
Yik and Fully Fort have both confirmed to the Company of his/its
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition from the Listing
Date up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied by each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort and duly
enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2025, there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO")) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii) to be
entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (jii) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long position in the shares REGHPNEFE
Percentage of
issued share
Number of capital of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares the Company
HEAT]
BRITRAE
e 81 #EmtE R EE Bt
MR. Wang Xinlong Interest in a controlled corporation 25,563,000 shares (L) 63.9%
(Note 2) (Note 2)
FiRrRESRE REEE D (W5E2) 25,563,000 & A&7 (L) 63.9%
(Hfzt2)
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Notes:

(1)  The Company is owned as to 63.9% by Hong Kong Yufengchang Co., Ltd.
which is wholly owned by Yufengchang International Holdings Co., Ltd
that the ultimate shareholder of Yufengchang International Holdings Co.
is Mr. Wang Xinlong. Mr. Wang Xinlong is the Chairman and an executive
Director. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang Xinlong is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Hong Kong Yufengchang Co., Ltd.

(2)  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial Shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons had or were deemed to have interests in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which (i) were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules, or (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.
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Number of Percentage of

Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding

RER%TE B wEklE FERMEE FRRB S

Mr. Wang Xinlong Interest in a controlled 25,563,000 shares 63.91%
corporation (Note 1) (Long position)

TR ZEEEEE R (W) 25,563,0008% f& {5 63.91%
@A)

Yufengchang International Beneficial owner (Note 1) 25,563,000 shares 63.91%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (Long position)

Yufengchang International EREB AN W) 25,563,0008% f& 15 63.91%
Holdings Co., Ltd. A)

Hong Kong Yufengchang Beneficial owner (Note 7) 25,563,000 shares 63.91%
Co., Ltd. (Long position)

EBREEBREAFE EmmEB A (Wat1) 25,563,000/% B&% 1% 63.91%
@A)

Note Mat

1. The shares are held by Hong Kong Yufengchang Co., Ltd., the equity
interest of which is owned as to 100% by Yufengchang International
Holdings Co., Ltd and the ultimate shareholder of Yufengchang
International Holdings Co. is Mr. Wang Xinlong. Mr. Wang Xinlong is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Hong Kong Yufengchang
Co., Ltd. for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors have
not been notified by any person who had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions
in writing of all the Shareholders (the “Share Option Scheme”)
passed on 11 December 2018 (the “Adoption Date"”). The Share
Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date. The terms of

the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant options to subscribe for the Company’s shares (the
"Options”) to any director, employee or officer, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Company or any of the subsidiaries
(the "Eligible Person”), as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group.

Participants

The basis of eligibility of any person to the grant of any Option
shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the
basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.
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Grant of Options

The Board shall not offer the grant of Options to any Eligible
Persons after an inside information has come to the Company’s
knowledge until the Company has announced the information
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules. In particular, during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the date of the Board
meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules) for the approval of the
Company'’s results for any year, half-year, quarter-year period
or any other interim period (whether or not required under
the GEM Listing Rules), and (b) the deadline for the Company
to publish an announcement of the results for any year, half-
year or quarter-year period under the GEM Listing Rules or
any other interim period (whether or not required under the
GEM Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcement. The period during which no Option may be
granted will cover any period of delay in the publication of a
results announcement.
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Subject to paragraph (k) below, the total number of the
Company'’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted and to be granted to a participant under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including both
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the the Company’s shares from
time to time in issue, and provided that if approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his
or her close associates (or his or her associates if the participant
is a connected person) abstaining from voting, the Company
may make a further grant of Options to such participant (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the total number of the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted
and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
schemes to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of the Further Grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the Company's shares from time to time
in issue. In relation to the Further Grant, the Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders, which discloses, amongst
other, information from time to time as required by the GEM
Listing Rules, the number and the terms of the Options to
be granted. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the Option which is the subject of the Further Grant
shall be fixed before the relevant Shareholders” meeting and
the date of meeting of the Board for proposing the Further
Grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price.
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(d) Exercise Price

The exercise price for any shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant Options; and (iii)

the nominal value of a share on the date of the grant.

(e) Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit") unless approved by the
Shareholders pursuant to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme or other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme

Mandate Limit.

(i) No Option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing
Date and up to 31 March 2024 and thereafter up to the
date of this annual report. Accordingly, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 4,000,000 shares as at 1 April 2023 and 31
March 2024, (adjusted based on the consolidation of
every ten existing shares into one consolidated share
effective from 19 February 2024) representing 10% of
the issued shares as at the date of this annual report.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the applicable
option period, provided that, amongst others, the period
within which the Option must be exercised shall not be
more than 10 years from the date on which that Option is
deemed to have been granted. The exercise of an Option may
be subject to the achievement of performance target and/
or any other conditions to be notified by the Board to each
participant, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine.

Rights are personal to grantee

An Option shall be personal to the participant and shall not
be assignable or transferable and no participant shall in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest whether legal or beneficial in favour of any third party
over or in relation to any Option. Any breach of the foregoing
by the participant shall entitle the Company to cancel any
Option or any part thereof granted to such Participant (to the
extent not already exercised) without incurring any liability on
the Company.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must
be held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed
by the Board.
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(9)
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Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
Option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must
be repaid

The Eligible Person shall remit HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the Option.
The Option shall be offered for acceptance for a period of
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, after
which no further Options will be issued but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the Options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately 4.5 years.

The Board may impose such terms and conditions on the offer
of Option(s) either on a case-by-case basis or generally as are
not inconsistent with the Share Option Scheme, including but
not limited to the minimum period for which such an Option
must be held, if applicable.
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k) MEF FETHAEBHITERFARS

(k) Granting of Options to a Director, chief executive or

substantial Shareholder or any of their respective
associates

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates,
must be approved by the Independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a
proposed participant). If a grant of Options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any
of their respective associates will result in the total number of
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options
granted and to be granted (including the Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may from
time to time specified by the Stock Exchange) of the shares in
issue, such further grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders on a poll in a general meeting. The participant,
his or her associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting. The Company will send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules. In addition, Shareholders’ approval as described above
will also be required for any change in terms of the Options
granted to a participant who is a substantial Shareholder, an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective
associates. The circular must contain the following:

(i)  details of the number and terms of the Options (including
the exercise price relating thereto) to be granted to each
Eligible Person, which must be fixed before the relevant
Shareholders’ meeting, and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the Exercise Price;

(i) a recommendation from the Company’s Independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is a proposed participant) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting; and
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(iii) all the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements for the granting
of Options to a Director or chief executive of the Company set
out in this paragraph do not apply where the Eligible Person
is only a proposed Director or proposed chief executive of the
Company.

Equity-Linked Agreement

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders
or the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from
the business operated by the Group which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's business during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Company confirms that all of the Directors complied with such
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as at the date of this report.

122 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

(i) GEMLEMRBAERENRBEEK -

PMREER HEERALERREESTN
RABMREEETHAS  AIRERPAE A
FARBDEFRNETETHRAERDERE
AYARE M B A o

R E R

PREBIRIEST BN R FE R R FEGERE
R B) A HE BT 3L B A7 7E A ) B SR B 8 10 5
CRAEERET LR EETRD  WEEER
B U ERHEFE XA EERERTEE
TRn -

P

ESED RBSHEAEEEARSEH
BEEZRRINEZTARESENETHE
A (EERGEMLENRA) MEXEREBE
BB R T R SRR B ERES
(EEEFTEEEFIRIN PHEA -

ERNREFRS

KABBRMEFETES X HVIRTEL)
B R EREE A HEINGEM EMRAIEE5.48F
S.67TIRFTENAER ZIEE - B ERBEE(FH
REEHEB AR FBEENARE
HEEHMEETHREREERBRESTET
FEBHR ZBIRTEER] 0



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from those as disclosed in the paragraph under “Interests
and Short Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and
its Associated Corporations”, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any directors or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporation.

Save as disclosed above and as provided in the Share Option
Scheme, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, any of its subsidiaries,
its associated companies or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The material related party transactions entered into by the Group
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements to
this report. During the Reporting Period, there was no connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM listing Rules which are required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest
customers accounted for 45.5% and 80.3% (2024: 32.1% and
76.7%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s purchase from the largest
and the five largest suppliers accounted for 63.7% and 97.3%
(2024: 65.4% and 100%) of the total purchases of the Group,
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 did
the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group's
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with all of its employees
and offers competitive remuneration and benefits package to all
its employees. It also regularly reviews compensation and benefit
policies to ensure that they are in line with market conditions.

The Group shall continue to maintain good communications with its
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders through regular visits,
meetings, and conferences to ensure that they are all satisfied with
their relationship with the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers good corporate governance a key element in
managing the business and affairs of the Group. The management
of the Group periodically reviews and proposes amendments to
its corporate governance practices for compliance with the CG
Code. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the CG Code during the Report Period. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 45 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the
laws of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a directors’ liability
insurance was currently in place to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
Directors.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group engaged a total of 43 employees
(31 March 2024: 15 employees) including the Directors. For
the year ended 31 March 2025, total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$5.2 million (year ended 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$4.5 million). Remuneration (including
employees’ benefits) is maintained within the market level and
reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’ salary and relevant
benefits are determined on the basis of performance, qualification,
experience, positions and the Group’s business performance.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position can be
found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages
8 to 21 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental protection laws and methods to minimise the
adverse effects of its existing business activities on the environment.
Details of the environmental policies and performance are set out
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 46 to 101 of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, 21 August
2025, while the notice and circular convening the AGM will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders in the form required
in the GEM Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 18 August 2025 to 21 August 2025, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to
ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August
2025.

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor
of the Company on 17 April 2025 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Forvis Mazars CPA Limited. Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited shall hold office until the conclusion of
the forthcoming AGM.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Wang Xinlong
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Xinlong (E#i%€) ("Mr. Wang”), aged 35, is an
executive Director, the Chairman, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company.
Mr. Wang has over 7 years of experience in fund and securities
management. He is the supervisor of Xi‘an Cai Bang Fund
Management Company Limited* (BZHEEEEEBREA
@l), a fund management company, and the general manager
and executive director of Xi'an Lexiang Xingtu Film and Television
Culture Company Limited* (AR #Z 2R FEANIEERAED),
a company which is principally engaged in video and short video
production and operation services. Mr. Wang is a member of the
14th Fuping County Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference and a special supervisor of the County
Civil Affairs Bureau in September 2022. He was appointed as
the vice chairman of the Fuping County New Social Stratification
Association* (BB EREE A LH#EES) in December
2023. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from The
National Open University* (BIZBIHALZR) in July 2019 and a
college diploma in accounting and auditing from Shaanxi Police
College* (BRAGLZEZBT) in July 2011. Mr. Wang was certified
as a financial market analyst in September 2023 by the Institute
of Vocational Education Training Centre of the China Academy of
Management Science* (FREIEIERI 2 EIHERFZIIF
o).

Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Wang was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Law Ming Yik (%:%) (“"Mr. Law"), aged 37, is the
executive Director,, and compliance officer and the director
of Wing Ko and Forever Treasure Holdings Limited, being the
Group's subsidiaries. He is responsible for overseeing all aspects
of the Group's operations, strategic planning and formulation
of corporate policies. He was appointed as the Director on 31
October 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
24 November 2017.

Mr. Law has over 15 years of experience in the sale and transport of
diesel oil and related products. Mr. Law joined Wing Ko in July 2006
and was appointed as the director of Wing Ko in March 2012. He
was responsible for overseeing Wing Ko's daily operation, including
but not limited to maintaining stable relationship with the Group’s
key customers and the Group’s key suppliers, which are mainly
authorised agent(s) appointed by the Qil Major(s), monitoring the
logistics of projects and managing its corporate accounting and
administrative matters. In 2012, the HKSAR Government started
implementing Euro V vehicle emission standards in phases with an
aim to reduce vehicle emission. Seeing the market potential for
products which would help lower the diesel exhaust emissions from
diesel engines, Mr. Law led the Group to expand the business into
the sale of diesel exhaust fluid as its ancillary product in April 2013.
The Directors believe that his insightful vision is instrumental to the
success of the Group.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Design majoring in interior
design from Raffles College of Design and Commerce in August
2009 and an Advanced Diploma in Interior Design in from Raffles
Design Institute in September 2009, in Shanghai, China.

Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Law was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Ren Rong (%) (“"Mr. Ren”), aged 51, is an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ren has profound
experience in business administration and fundamental education.
He is currently the chairman of Shaanxi Shigi Industrial Technology
Co., Limited* (BRAWVMEXEREBRELE), a company
engaged in packaging processing and a marketing director of
Shaanxi Zaijia Convenience Store Chain Co., Limited* (BERFE7E
EEEERNEABPRAT), a company engaged in the operation
of convenience stores. Mr. Ren obtained a diploma in Chinese
language and literature from Shaanxi Normal University (B% 75 6M
A2 in July 2003 and obtained a diploma in Chinese language
and literature from Shaanxi Institute of Education (BR78%( & £ )
in January 2008.

Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Yan Lei (%) ("Mr. Yan"), aged 43, is an executive Director.
Mr. Yan has ample experience in human resources management,
oil trading and supply chain management. Mr. Yan is currently
the general manager of Yijiayi Supply Chain (Shaanxi) Company
Limited (EEZHERE (RFE) BRHBRAF) and the director
of Shaanxi Zaijia Famous Tobacco and Wine Supermarket
Chain Co., Limited PRETERELBEHBHERAT), a
company engaged in the operation of convenience stores. Mr.
Yan was previously a deputy human resources director of Shaanxi
Construction Engineering Second Construction Group Company
Limited MREBITHE _EZREEBRAE), a state-owned
construction enterprise, between July 2004 and September 2014
and the deputy general manager of Oriental Petroleum Co., Ltd.
(EHEHIRIDEE/AT), a company engaged in, among other,
the sales and trading of oil (including diesel oil), between October
2014 and August 2020. Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor’s degree in
human resources management from Xi‘an Shiyou University (7§
ZHAMAZ) in July 2004 and a diploma in civil engineering from
Northwestern Polytechnical University (Fg15 T2 KX2) in 2008 via
long distance learning. Mr. Yan is a registered Associate Constructor
and holds the title of engineer.

Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Yan was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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EFORERERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wang Junxia (E£E)("Dr. Wang"), aged 62, is an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Dr. Wang has extensive teaching and
research experience in the field of economics. She is currently the
professor, doctoral supervisor, and the Dean of the Department
of Public Finance of the School of Economics and Finance at Xi‘an
Jiaotong University (FE & 3338 AE2) . Dr. Wang was previously a
lecturer at Xi'an Jiaotong University between June 1990 and June
1996, an associate professor at Xi‘an Jiaotong University between
June 1996 and January 2014, is a professor of School of Economics
and Finance at Xi'an Jiaotong University since January 2014, was
the vice dean and Secretary of Party branch of the Department of
Public Finance of School of Economics and Finance of Xi'an Jiaotong
University between November 2007 and June 2018, and is the
Dean of Department of Public Finance of School of Economics and
Finance at Xi‘an Jiaotong University since July 2018. Dr. Wang is
also a council member of the Chinese Finance Society* (FR[E Rt
BEg), a member of the Xi'an City Decision-making Advisory
Committee* (BZMAKREMAZEZET), a vice chairman of the
Shaanxi Provincial Budgetary Accounting Research Society* (B&7g
EBIEEZHZEE), and an executive council member of Xi'an
City Society of Finance* (FAZ M K2 ®) . Dr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Shaanxi Institute of Finance
& Economics (BRFERT4CE20R) in 1984, a Master’s degree in
Economics from Northwest University (F515A22) in 1997 and a
Doctorate in Economics from Xi'an Jiaotong University (78 % 2248
AE2) in 2007.

Saved as disclosed above, Dr. Wang was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

BIERITES

FERERLE (TERBL) 625 BIUIFNITE
EREZEEE - FNEEGMRELEZEEEN
B - TRTERKESENERSEETNHB K
ERBE - HIRAALCRBABZHRE - BL4E
MR AEE E1E T ZAIE B1990F68
E1996F6 B AL B ANBEN B1996
FRE2014F 1B IEAATRBEAZRHE
B2014F 1 BlEEAEALR B AR K7 H &/
ER#E - B2007FE 118 E2018FE6 5 EA
BRBABRBEHCHBRVRARELZTE
SREIZEFE B2018FE7FRRIEEALRE
ABREASTHMBRETRATE - TBTTSH
FEMBEEEE -BLMRKRBHAREETS
B -MASEEEHMAERIEREAEL MM
K2 ERIEE  T1EIR 19845 ESBAR
RBRBENLHRE B R1997FER
FAIb KBEENKHBE T2 WH20075F
ESATRBAEZBEENLESE L2

R EXPTIREESIN TR LN BEIFIERE
EERNLEBTRARNES-

BB EIRAT 2024/2025 8% 131



BIOGRAPHI
Fgk

m

REEERERE

ot

Mr. He, aged 45, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr.
He has extensive experience in the provision of audit consultancy
services. Mr. He is currently the executive partner of Xi‘an Youyong
Accounting Firm Partnership (General Partnership) (BZE AR
SHEMEFHFIEaBELE (BEEASE)). Mr. He was previously the
finance manager of CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
(PERSEF (FBR) EAESR RAE) between October
2007 and November 2016, finance manager of CIMC Vehicle
(Group) Xinjiang Co., Limited ((PEEEH (EE) HEARAR)
between January 2012 and November 2016 and the financial
controller of the Xi'an branch of Great Wall Boardband Network
Service Co., Limited* (RIFE/EFPERFEERAT)between
March 2017 and November 2021. Mr. He obtained a diploma in
Accounting from Xi‘an Jiaotong University in 2003 and a Master’s
degree in Accounting from Xi‘an Jiaotong University in 2009. He is
a PRC Certified Public Accountant and has obtained the PRC Legal
Professional Certificate.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. He has not held any directorships in
any listed companies in the past three years.

Ms. Liang Lina (REE@S) (“Ms. Liang”), aged 42, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.
Ms. Liang has profound experience in auditing, financial
management, offshore financing, investor relations, and corporate
governance. Ms. Liang is currently the company secretary of
GuangDong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1396) and an independent non-executive director
of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1152). From
August 2004 to September 2011, she worked for Ernst & Young
Hua Ming Shenzhen Branch with the last position as a manager.
Ms. Liang is currently a member of each of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Liang holds a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from the Central University of Finance and Economics and a master
degree in Finance from Peking University.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Liang has not held any directorships in
any listed companies in the past three years.
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EFORERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Law Sung Fai = 1E) (“"Mr. S.F. Law"), aged 52, is our
chief operating officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Group.

Mr. S.F. Law has joined the Group since July 2006. Mr. S.F. Law
has over 21 years of experience in the business of sale and
transportation of diesel oil. Prior to joining the Group, from May
1999 to May 2006, Mr. S.F. Law was the manager of Centre
Transportation Co., a company principally engaging in the business
of transportation of diesel oil, and was responsible for managing,
repairing and maintaining its fleet of tank wagons and its business
operations.

Ms. Mo Yan Ting (EE ) (“Ms. Mo"), aged 56, is the Group
chief financial officer and is responsible for the general financial
management of the Group. Ms. Mo has joined the Group since
October 2017.

Ms. Mo obtained a Diploma in Business from the Auckland
University of Technology in October 2000. She subsequently
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business in Accounting also
in Auckland University of Technology in April 2003. Ms. Mo
completed the graduate conversion course in accounting in the
Sydney University of Technology in December 2006. Since January
2007, she has been a member of the CPA Australia.

Ms. Mo has over 22 years of experience in the accounting industry,
especially with presence in Australia. From May 1997 to February
2003, she worked in Westpac Bank New Zealand in Auckland and
her last position was an accountant assistant. From April 2003
to June 2005, she was an accountant at Longway Industrial &
Development Pty Ltd in Sydney. She then worked as an accountant
in Western Union Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd in Sydney
from June 2005 to June 2007. Later, she moved her accounting
practice back to Hong Kong. From August 2007 to March 2013,
she was an accountant manager at Greatsino International (HK) Ltd.
From April 2013 to August 2017, she was an accountant manager
at O’Laughlin Corporation Ltd in Hong Kong.
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EFORERERERE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai G2{£) ("Mr. Leung”), aged 41, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Group on 24 November
2017.

Prior to his appointment with the Group, Mr. Leung has
accumulated over 12 years of experience in the accounting, audit,
tax and company secretary fields. In June 2007, he joined FTW &
Partners CPA Limited, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as an
accountant trainee. In August 2008, Mr. Leung served in Pearson
Fearn & Co., an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their senior
accountant. In August 2013, Mr. Leung joined AE Majoris CPA
& Co, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their audit principal
and was promoted to audit partner in March 2016 and AE
Majoris Advisory Limited, a firm principally engaged in provision
of corporate advisory services, and his last position was senior
manager. In July 2017, Mr. Leung joined Alchemist Corporate
Advisory Limited, a company engaged in provision of corporate
advisory services, and was appointed as the executive director.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
in Accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2007 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since May 2012.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Law is an executive Director and the compliance officer of the

Company. His biographical details and qualification are set out on
page 129 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZLHEES

/ AR(EEB)GMEEFREGRAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

To the members of
Yufengchang Holdings Limited
Y BIERBRAT
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Yufengchang Holdings Limited (Formerly known as Sun Kong
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 144 to 279, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
HK$38,573,000 and had net cash used in operating activities of
approximately HK$10,744,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$9,755,000 and the Group had net liabilities
of HK$9,278,000. These events and conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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Key audit matter

REEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESHMAREMBESFE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables

B 7R RIATREE E551R (TTAHEEER)) NBIRER

Refer to Notes 3.2, 21 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

BB G R B IR 5E3.2 2132

At 31 March 2025, the net carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$30,454,000
(2024: HK$37,926,000), which approximated
82% (2024: 75%) of the Group's total assets. Loss
allowance for trade receivables was approximately
HK$42,274,000(2024: HK$18,783,000).
202538310  BEZRBWARIERAFENR
30,454,000 7T (20244 : 37,926,000 7T) » HA
7 BEEREENS2% (2024%F 1 75%) -BHME
WRIE M B5 18 1 49 7342,274,00078 78 (20244 ¢
18,783,00078 7T) °

Management assessed the provision for ECL of trade
receivables based on the historical default rate, and is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates, such as expected
significant changes in general economic environment
and the business operation of the Group.
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Our audit procedures in relation to evaluating the ECL of
trade receivables included:
BRMEFEEZRINHIERRESHEAANES
CEAE AN

e understanding, through enquiry with the
management, the established policies and
procedures on credit risk management of trade
receivables;

e HEEBEEEBUTHRESRUREBEEERMRERE
ZEBRKRER ;

e obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
design, and determining the implementation
of controls with respect to the identification of
receivables with overdue or default payments;

o TR ETAEH R IR B8 BRSO HE R A RO FE W
IHAVEEGIE I 2 R st L EHRITIB R

BB AIRAT 2024/2025 5k 137



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
\IZHEES

Key audit matter
FEEER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESHMAREMRBENSTE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade receivables

B 7 RWRIATRIE EE51R (TTAREEER)) NBRER

Refer to Notes 3.2, 21 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables
to the Group's consolidated financial position and
the application of significant judgements by the
management over assessing the credit standing of the
Group'’s customers and therefore the estimation of ECL
of trade receivables.
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assessing management’s judgement over the ECL
and creditworthiness of the customers by assessing
the available information, such as background
information of the customers, past settlement
records of the customers, concentration risk of
customers, the Group’s actual loss experience, latest
economic environment and subsequent settlement
of the trade receivables; and
BBTEAEENER IEREFRE/-ER
BEEELR - FRANERER - EEENER
BEER  RMKEIRIEKRE S RIGRIEN 2B
HEE I EEENEREERBAERESE
HYFIER ; K

checking the ageing profile of the trade receivables
at the end of reporting period and the post year
end subsequent settlements from customers, on a
sample basis, to underlying accounting records and
supporting documents.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 June
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
\IZHEES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZLHEES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEHmRkHEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling expenses

Administrative and other
operating expenses

Impairment loss recognised, net

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of income tax:
tem that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Loss per share
— Basic and diluted
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HE A

E#

HAUA

HERMX
TEREMEER%

ERNAERE PR
B2 7%

FRIERIES 1R
PRISHRFZ

FEBIE

FEHEMEE W
HERFR1S

BEE P SE B ER NIEE
HmbIEE -

MEBINEFRELERN

PE S = 2R

FEEHERAZEEHE

SkiEsiE
—EAKREHE

Notes
iorza

11
10

14

2025 2024
20255 20244
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAEIT
55,498 69,032
(55,391) (63,578)
107 5,454

574 260
(136) -
(9,163) (7,569)
(29,531) (8,173)
(424) (634)
(38,573) (10,662)
(38,573) (10,662)
(1) =
(38,574) (10,662)
HK cents HK cents
Al p=q/ll}
(96.43) (26.66)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FAaMBRRAR

At 31 March 2025 J$2025F3431H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Interests in associates

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")

Current assets
Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts

Trade payables

Other payables

Amounts due to directors
Bank borrowings

Net current (liabilities) assets

Net (liabilities) assets

FERBEE

Y EN S YSE g

mILEE

REE AT E T

EEBmIEATESE
(MEBRmEATE
SHE) NEMEE

hEEE
i

5 S

H A PR

R RIS ZEY
REEE
RITES

£ 5 FE (T UE

H A (T 0B

R E A
BT

e (B BERE

(Bff) EEEE

Notes

Mzt

15
16
17

20
21
22
23

23
24
25
30
26

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
477 2,262

= 5,204

= 1,844

477 9,310
2,744 =
30,454 37,926
1,353 2,953
2,021 46
36,572 40,925
= 4,585
19,152 1,686
3,356 7,129
16,735 =
7,084 7,539
46,327 20,939
(9,755) 19,986
(9,278) 29,296
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FAMBRRAR

At 31 March 2025 j$2025F3431H

Capital and reserves BARKE#E
Share capital & <

Reserves B

Total (deficits) equity (B54l) HEzs4a%E

The consolidated financial statements on pages 144 to 279 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xinlong
B
Director

EF
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2025 2024

20254 20244

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FHET FET
28 4,000 4,000
(13,278) 25,296

(9,278) 29,296

F144E279B RS M BT E 2025563
26HEEEZHEREETE TR TNES
REREE

Ren Rong
3
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FARHEEZHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

Reserve
1t
Share Share Capital  Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve loss Total Total
RE  ROEE  EXRE  RERE  RHEE st st

HK$000 HK$ 000
FAT TET

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FAT TET

(Note 28) (Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Hrz#28) (Hfz(a) (Hfzb)
At 1 April 2023 1202354518 4,000 44,810 10 - (8,862) 35,958 39,958
Loss and total comprehensive expense  EEBER2HEET A
for the year - - - - (10,662) (10,662) (10,662)
Gl B R0A%3A31 4000 443810 10 - (1954) 2529 2929
Loss for the year FEHE B _ _ _ (385573) (38573) (38573)
Other comprehensive income FEHEMEZENE
for the year, net of income tax: HIGEET
Item that may be reclassified BEAEESEN T EE
subsequently to profit or loss: BRHES
Exchange differences arising on MBI EBEEN
translation of foreign operations EREE - - - (1) = (1) (1)
Total comprehensive expense FEXEMSER
for the year - - - (1) (38,573) (38,574) (38,574)
At 31 March 2025 12025%3H31H 4,000 44,810 10 (1) (58,097) (13,278) (9,278)
Notes: sz -

(@) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from issuance
of the Company’s shares over its par value. Under the laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association, it is distributable to
the Company’s shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(b) Capital reserve

It represents the amount of the issued and paid-up share capital of the
entities now comprising the Group before completion of the Group’s
reorganisation to rationalise the group structure for the listing of the
Company less consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests (if any)
upon completion of the reorganisation.

(a) BefnifE

RN B BIEART EITIRM PSR FEAE I
HEENSD BEREREERREAQTNME
BERRMER HEARBN BB EFBREPERN
BEHIMKEMES IROEETDIRTER
BlIRER °

(b) BERHE
BABHERERFENFCERNEERRAAT
EmmEEERESEEMMETMAEREMET

RZ AT B #EIT R B E A ERR 2T
‘U AR D (NA) MENRE-.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised on property,

plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised on intangible

assets

Fair value gain on financial assets
at FVTPL

Bank interest income

Impairment loss recognised under
expected credit loss model, net

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease (increase) in other receivables

Increase in inventories

Increase (decrease) in trade payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables

Cash (used in) generated from
operations

Interest received

Interest paid

Net cash (used in) from
operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Surrendered of financial assets at FVTPL

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

REES)
BRI A RS 15

T T B IBE LAY
Y2 BB s T BE A
B EERD

EA= %N

HEDE BB KR
YU

Y2~ BB e s R FESE BY
BEEE

BB ERSARERE

BBBE A TEFERN
TREEA T ERTD

RITHF S WA

TRHE B R IREE A TS
AYRERE R > P8R

EEATEFANEE
RERE

B 57 FE WG IA LS A

H R (1 0)

FEEM

B S R RIEEm (Rl

H AT RRIE GRizb) 0

& (FRA) SRS

BUF S
BEFE

REEE) (FRA) ARSI

REES
REFBIBESEATE
STENERMBEE
HEME - -BERRB
FRiSRIA
BEETEE

Purchase of property, plant and equipment B8 E¥) 2 « = K58 &

Net cash from (used in)
investing activities

KREZEHFE FIA) REFHE
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2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
(38,573) (10,662)
2,649 2,547
424 634
(393) (50)
156 =
4,145 =
= (107)
(1) -
25,230 8,173
(6,363) 535
(17,752) (198)
1,594 (973)
(2,744) =
17,466 (553)
(2,773) 2,279
(10,572) 1,090
1 —
(173) (361)
(10,744) 729
1,844 =
494 50
(1,000) (775)
(62) -
1,276 (725)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mMEBRHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Repayment of principal amount of
bank borrowings

Advances from directors

Net cash from (used in)
financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts

B EE
[SENELS,
EERITENE LR

REEFHERM

RUEEBIFNS (FTA) REFHE

RERREFEWEM R

FEE

FNRERFEFEY

SMEEXREBHNRE

FRRERFEEZEY

MU TEENK !
REKRREFEY
RITEX

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
(251) (273)
(455) (391)
16,735 =
16,029 (664)
6,561 (660)
(4,539) (3,879)
(1) -
2,021 (4,539)
2,021 46
= (4,585)

2,021 (4,539)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

1.

150

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yufengchang Holdings Limited (Formerly known as Sun Kong
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
on 31 October 2017 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company are situated at Section C of Lot No. 1345 in D.D121,
Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong and Room 2301, Block
A, Huaxia Century Square, Changle East Road, Bagiao District,
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province.

The Company’s share are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 January
2019.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in sales of diesel oil and related products and ancillary
transportation service in Hong Kong and People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"). During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group commenced the business engaging in the e-commerce
business in the PRC. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the immediate and ultimate
holding company was Fully Fort Group Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The
ultimate controlling party was Mr. Law Ming Yik.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

On 4 September 2024, the sale and purchase agreement was
entered into between Hong Kong Yufengchang Co., Limited
("Hong Kong Yufengchang”), which is incorporated in Hong
Kong, indirect wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wang
Xinlong (the “Offeror”) as the purchaser, Fully Fort Group
Limited (the “Vendor”), and Mr. Law (the “Warrantor”), in
relation to the acquisition of a total of 23,115,000 sale shares
by the Offeror from the Vendor. The sale shares represent
approximately 57.79% of the total issued share capital of the
Company. The acquisition was completed on 13 September
2024. Details of the joint announcement have been disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 16 September 2024.

Immediately upon the close of the offer and as at the
date of the announcement on 21 November 2024, taking
into account (i) the 23,115,000 shares already held by
the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it before
the commencement of the offer period; and (ii) valid
acceptances in respect of a total of 2,448,000 offer shares (the
"“Acceptance Shares”), representing approximately 6.12% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it are interested in an aggregate
of 25,563,000 shares, representing approximately 63.91% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), with effect from 13 September 2024,
Yufengchang International Holdings Co., Limited, which was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands was the ultimate holding
company and Hong Kong Yufengchang was the immediate
holding company of the Company. Mr. Wang Xinlong became
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

152

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on 1 April 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to Hong Kong  Classification of Liabilities as
Accounting Standards Current or Non-current and
("HKAS") 1 related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments
to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

e clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments. Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

2.

154

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments
to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on
or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants)
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or non-
current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the covenants,
the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and
circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have
difficulties complying with the covenants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments
to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments’®

Contracts Referencing Nature
dependent Electricity’

First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Standards?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 117

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

2.

158

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being
compensated for rather than the compensation amount.
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a basic
lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some cases,
a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash flows
that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both
before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the
nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are
clarified in the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during
the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related
to investments held at the end of the reporting period.
An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of the
cumulative gain or loss within equity related to the investments
derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and
guantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect
the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

2.

160

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The Directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

162

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

As stated in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
HK$38,573,000 and had net cash used in operating
activities of approximately HK$10,744,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$9,755,000 and the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$9,278,000. These
events and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and
thus, the Group may not be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern after taking into consideration the followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up
the collection of outstanding trade receivables;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the Group will actively negotiate with various
financial institutions and potential lenders to secure
new financing arrangement to meet the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements in the
near future;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
Mr. Law Ming Yik, the director of the Company
("Mr. Law") has provided a loan of HK$3,800,000
to the Company, the loan is unsecured, interest
free and repayable on 23 May 2026. In addition,
Mr. Law has granted a loan facilities amounting to
HK$8,000,000 in favour of the Group to provide
continuing financial support to the Group;

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company
has obtained the undertakings from Mr. Law and Mr.
Wang Xinlong, the director of the Company (“Mr.
Wang"”), not to demand for repayment of debts of
HK$15,115,000 and HK$1,620,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,510,000), respectively as at 31 March 2025
before 30 June 2026.
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164

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow
projections prepared by the management which cover
a period of not less than twelve months from 31 March
2025 on the basis that the Group's aforementioned plans
and measures will be successful, the Directors believe that
the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial obligations as
and when they fall due in the next twelve months from
31 March 2025. Accordingly, the Directors believe that
the Group will continue as a going concern and therefore
consider it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing its consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure of
the Group to obtain sufficient future funding. Should
the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the assets of the Group to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities that might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, except for financial assts at FVTPL which
is stated at fair value, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

3. REMBREGREEREANGHE

3.1 IREMBRROGNEE (B

REMBRRENSREPRIZE
SERAEERR R AT EIRA
BEBEGRATEFENEREE
BRIN o BLU0 T PT80S STECRFT it ©

FESE R ABE T BN m R
BARSNAEBINATE.

ATEARGEBRETSSHE
BB A 732 5 iRk 5L & B A W
SR LR R B RS TRV EAS > TR aR
ZERBEEUEHRNSDERAEM
HERMETES -RLFTEENE
BHAFER  AEEEFKRHES
HERGEHHEENRREER
PREBNBEERERNFE -NZE
REMBRRPFAER HREN
AFEHORBEREEET KBS
BMBRESENF2RURG B ERE
A9 BE AR =B R
M5 REEBYHREERE6
KHEARNEERZ U REARQF
EBEFEETHUZEELIFAFE
25t BIEBEERFE2REE
TR BEFEREBSELNS
365EEE R 1A TV EREE) FRohe

BB EIRAT 2024/2025 8% 165



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

166

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the

financial statements of the Company and entities

(including structured entities) controlled by the company
and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or

services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant

and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAEMBBRRENEBEEREAREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Intangible assets

Information technology systems

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes
in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group'’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of

the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

172

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liabilities and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the

Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

(a)

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

(ii)

(iii)

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that are required to be measured at the

amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and

is included in the “other income” line item.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVTPL
include unlisted investment in key management

insurance contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

178

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBBRRENEBEEREREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

EHTA &

Financial instruments (Continued)

RIFE B BREERFEIFR =ML
BT R E G2 E E R (B

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

(Continued)
(i) Assessment of significant increase in credit risk () EERMEBEZEINTEG @#E)
(Continued)

Bl AEEERRE SR
ZRMNE > EEBUTER !

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

180

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAEMBBRRENEBEEREAREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBRER (&
Financial instruments (Continued) EHTA E
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment RIEE B IR EGERBIR LML
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments BT BTGB E E R E (4
(Continued)
(i) Assessment of significant increase in credit risk () EERREEIEMNTE @)

(Continued)

e an actual or expected significant adverse e BEHBEBABEREBERE
change in the regulatory, economic, or ABEBTENEFAEE K
technological environment of the debtor that B RMIRIEN BRI TE
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s HARNERAFEE -

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above o LT A A RIE AEE
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk RESNNFaIRBIE308E
has increased significantly since initial recognition EEREBUYLTEIURE K
when contractual payments are more than 30 days Mg A0 o

past due.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of rEBTEHERANINEERR
the criteria used to identify whether there has been BB KRBT ARERN
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them WEETIRE WEE) BIRASSTE
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable RIBFEHAA A RS E R R K
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before &G A0«

the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable.

(i) when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

(i) information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

(d)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAEMBBRRENEBEEREAREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXGHEBRER (&
Financial instruments (Continued) EHTA
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment RIEE B IR EGERBIR LML
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 7T EFFER 2 E E R E (4
(Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v EHEEBEENGT = RER

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

(i) past-due status;

(ii nature, size and industry of debtors; and

(iii) external credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

188

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank overdrafts, amounts due to directors and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAEMBBRRENEBEEREAREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) BERELZEY (&

b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term by REEEYW HEREKHCGER
REEHA=-ERXER 7
BERERACHNHEREAE
BEHRABEBFANES RB MR
B-HEEEBYRIERERIAR

(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of SEE MIEARKENHEME
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than By
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash MGaRERERME REKRE

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is sales of diesel oil and related products and petroleum
derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identify as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

(@ a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct
if both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is district within the context of
the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of

that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following

criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

192

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBBRRENEBEEREREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of diesel oil and related products and petroleum
derivatives are recognised at a point in time at which
the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Ancillary transportation service income is recognised over
time when services are rendered.

For e-commerce sales, the Group conducts traditional or
live broadcast on the e-commerce platforms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

In relation to the products sold in the e-commerce
platforms, when the Group obtains control of the good
before that goods are delivered and title is passed to a
customer, the Group acts as a principal and recognises
revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the
specified good sold. Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when goods are delivered and title is passed to a
customer, at which time, the customer obtains control of
such good.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation
can be reasonably measured, the Group applies the
output method (i.e. based on the direct measurements
of the value to the customer of the goods or services
transferred to date relative to the remaining goods
or services promised under the contract) to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation because the method provides
a faithful depiction of the Group’s performance and
reliable information is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of the costs incurred until such time that it can
reasonably measure the outcome of the performance
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

194

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
(if any).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

MEMBRRGEREEREXNGH

g (= |

REH 7

3.2 EXGHEREN @

W BERREUREREERE
&

Wz BERREURELEENT]
W Bl s BR#E 1T B! {4 5t o i R R BT BE
B Gt P& AEBE L
EHREEMMBREELEBMUAIK
[B] 88

RS IREEEEURRER K
BESER—BNDREE REE
ERDEERRREELEN T8
GOEREEEREER —BHNDE
BEENR/NREELEEUMER AT
CEB|IMABDEEMBREES
BUxRTELEMUHEREE 1A
HRREELEBUNIREELE
AERIBIEREE SR o

B I [B] 55 38 4% A (B R H & B2 2
ERBEMETHRSE s LER
BER G RRBESRERAR
ARG IRKBLIRE HIRE > MZ R ARG
RERBERMMSHEBRREEE
MR RBERRRENEGESTNEE
EREELEEMD WHERR-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

198

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZEMBBRRENEBEEREREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Definition of a lease (Continued)

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 Leases or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to lease of an office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within
a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contribution.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the group entity can no longer

withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and annual
bonuses) after deducting any amount already paid.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior
the contributions are vested fully in those employees. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
is the amounts of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current and prior
periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected
unit credit method and discounted to its present value
and after deducting the fair value of any related assets,
including those retirement scheme benefits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZAEMBBRRENEBEEREAREH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXTHEBERER &

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

206

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial position of the Group indicates the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the management, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. The management considers
that the Group has ability to continue as a going concern and
the major conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the going concern assumptions are set out in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful live of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment and
amortises intangible assets on the straight-line basis over the
respective estimated useful lives as stated in Note 15 and 16,
with the depreciation and amortisation charge commencing
from the date an item of the property, plant and equipment
and the intangible assets is available for use. The estimated
useful life reflects the management’s estimate of the periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits
from the use of the Group's property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
are impaired when an indication of impairment exists. This
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which is
equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be
charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4, EXRGHAETRGFAFAEERZNE

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets subject to impairment
assessment were approximately HK$477,000 and Nil (2024:
approximately HK$2,262,000 and HK$5,204,000) respectively,
after taking into account the impairment loss of approximately
HK$156,000 and HK$4,145,000 (2024: Nil) in respect of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets has been
recognised respectively for the year ended 31 March 2025.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets are disclosed in Note 19.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade and other receivables by using various inputs and
assumptions including but not limited to risk of default.
The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is
based on the Group’s historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables. Details of the key
assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2025, the loss allowance for trade and other
receivables was approximately HK$42,274,000 and HK$6,000
(2024: HK$18,783,000 and HK$128,000) respectively.
Impairment loss of approximately HK$25,224,000 and
HK$6,000 (2024: HK$8,173,000 and Nil) was recognised on
trade and other receivables respectively for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

5. REVENUE 5. W&
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () BEREHWRESIF
customers
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #ZX2025F3831HLLEFEE
E-commerce
Sales of diesel oil and related products business
FEREREREER BHEH
Sales of Ancillary Sales of
Sales of diesel transportation petroleum  E-commerce
diesel ol exhaust fluid service derivatives service Total
R
RHHEE ERREREE REERRE 2 EcEE ZHEE st
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000
4 4 4 Fé7 4 Fér
Geographical markets 32
Hong Kong &% 1.0 %5 403 - - 4,578
The PRC e = - - 10,931 1,989 12,920
Total st 41,30 945 403 10,931 1,989 55,498
Time of revenue recognition Wz 2R R
A point in time RE-EHH 1,30 945 - 10,931 1,989 55,095
Over time RS - - 403 - - 403
Total o5t 41,230 945 403 10,931 1,989 55,498
WY ERIRARAR 20242025 38 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Geographical markets

Hong Kong

Time of revenue recognition
A point in time
Over time

Total

The contracts with customers

are with:
Variable consideration

Fixed price

IR
A

Ut 2 e B0 sy
RE—FBR
BB B ]

st

B

& E

5. &= @#@)

() FRENWZIDHF @

AL
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B F2024F3R831HIEFE

Sales of Ancillary

Sales of diesel exhaust transportation
diesel oil fluid service Total

BRRE REEH
hIHERR HERR AR5 “mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET TFE1
67,619 1,131 282 69,032
67,619 1,131 - 68,750
= = 282 282
67,619 1,131 282 69,032
2025 2024
202545 20244
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET

BEREH

403 282
55,095 68,750
55,498 69,032




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All contracts with customers are for period of one year
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision-makers (the “CODM"), in order for
the CODM to allocate resources and to assess performance.
No operating segments identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is the sales
of diesel oil and related products. Since this was the only
reportable and operating segment of the Group, no segment
information in relation to the revenues and results, assets and
liabilities and other information was presented for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
commenced the business engaging in the e-commerce
business in the PRC, and it is considered as a new operating
and reportable segment by the CODM.

5. &= @#@

(il PEEXFANFRTROTENR
ZER

FTEERGHMRS—FXEE W
BARAVBREENBISRELF A
W Frsre] KRB DR EZRSTKE
TEHNNRZERE-

REDMNREBEARTDNTES AIEE
EEARE (XEBEERRE))) ERE
FHNARAERSEPINABREEE
UHETBEEBERREDEERAFGEER
R-RERKTEENA 2R HHE > I
BHEIBREERREBENKLE D

REE2024FE3831HIEEE  ZERE
ERAVBREGENESRALE/HETH
ARENBAHELBRERER BR
EEAEEE—NIRERKSEDZ 1B
HE2024F3831HIEFE  HIEE5 A
W hEHR BERABUREMENE
AR D EFE R o

REZE2025F3831HIEFE > AEEHR

BRPEEEERBERFES HRETEE
BRREDDENHEERB SO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

(i) Sales of diesel oil and related products business: sales of
diesel oil and related products and petroleum derivatives.

(i)  E-commerce business: provision of e-commerce services
for sales of goods through traditional or live broadcast on
the e-commerce platforms to individual customers in the
PRC.

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Revenue Wz
Segment results DEEE

Unallocated administrative RO EC{TE R
expenses

Loss before tax PRI AIES 18

212 YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

6. («Mﬁﬁﬁ Ogg)

BERME  ~EETEEVBEREENSE

SERARE ) ZFIE NI RIS D EBUI T ¢

() HEL HKRERMERER  HESH
KRR E MU R A Mt e

(i) BEER . NPEBEEREHNE
BEBFaemnBARRHER &
TREERRE -

(a) DEPURES R 4R
UTABIREDIE D EAEEDN
e =Pk
HE2025F3A31HILEE

Sales of

diesel oil
and related
products E-commerce
business business Total
HEXHK
EREmET EEET iy
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET F#ET FET
53,509 1,989 55,498
(36,057) (239) (36,296)
(2,277)
(38,573)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3.2. Segment results represent the loss from each
segment without allocation of certain administrative
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable segments.

As at 31 March 2025

ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE
Unallocated corporate assets ke AT E E

Consolidated total assets EOBEEME

LIABILITIES aE
Segment liabilities DEER
Unallocated corporate

liabilities el WY/N=TN =K

Consolidated total liabilities 47 & & {E4R%E

6. «(Mﬁ.ﬁlg Cf%t)

(a)

(b)

53 BB Wik B SRR (2

RE DR S ST BURE M EE3. 2P 4
AEB G BRER - D HBEEIER
DEETTHAXAEDEIES
ZEBER LMD EE R ERER
MEEEERAREZRNEE-

NHMEERER

UTHEEAREDHE D AEERD
BEERBEDN:

14202553H31H
Sales of
diesel oil
and related
products E-commerce
business business Total
THESMA
AR EMRER EREETR st
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
F#ET F#ET FAET
36,648 204 36,852
197
37,049
43,687 400 44,087
2,240
46,327

BB EIRAT 2024/2025 €% 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

6.

214

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents; and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables and amounts due
to directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(c) Other segment information

6. KEDE B

(9]

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Amounts included in the measure of segment results or
segment assets:

Sales of
diesel oil
and related
products
business
HERAR
R ERES
HK$'000
FET
Addition of property, NEME -BREKRRE
plant and equipment 4
Depreciation of property, plant ¥ BB MR EINE
and equipment 1,585
Amortisation of intangible assets & & #4 1,059
Impairment loss recognised under TBER{E ER51IBE T
ECL model, net of reversal RHREREE Ik
o
— Trade receivables —B R FIE 25,224
— Deposits and other receivables  —3& < K EL A& U RN IE 4
Impairment loss recognised B ERE
— property, plant and equipment  —#)% B KR 156
~ intangible assets —-mEE 4,145
Finance costs RO E Al A 424
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -BERERE
plant and equipment, net W o BER (393)
Bank interest income RITH BUA (1)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the CODM
reqgularly reviews revenue analysis by services and
products to assess performance and allocation of
resources. Other than revenue analysis, no other
operating results and other discrete financial information
is provided for the assessment of performance. The
CODM reviews the financial results of the Group as a
whole to make decision. Accordingly, only entity-wide
disclosures are presented.

B EIERRARAT 2024/2025 £3R

HithEpER
HF2025543831HILLEE

SEADEFEENDHBEESENE
LEI

E-commerce

business Unallocated Total
EWER KAE fmat
HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET
50 8 62

4 1 1,590

- - 1,059

- 25,224

- 6

- - 156

- - 4,145

= - 424
- - (393)
- - (1)

REZE2024F38A31HLEFEER > =
BB ARECHHETRRERE
MBI DKW E DN LETERRAE
BB o BRRE DTN RIRHEE M
B 2 A Ry H I8 3L B RS B R LAY
ERB - TEEBERREREAER
BEMEEBELEHRATE At 2
2 RESBIIEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

6.

216

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. EEDE ©®

Geographical information HIRE K

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's operations REE2025F3831BLEEE  ZEBH
are located in Hong Kong and the PRC (2024: Hong Kong). EHRUNBBRPE (20245 : FF) ©
Information about the Group's revenue from external ERAERRBINAZTANBAERIZ
customers is presented based on the location of the BB /EBFEMNERY - BMAERFF
customers/location of the operation. Information about NBBEENENREEMTHIBUES
the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the 5o

geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

RBEIREF W@
2025 2024
20255 20244

HK$°000 HK$°000
TFET T#ET

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2025 2024
20254 20245

HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT TET

Hong Kong & 42,578 69,032 423 7,466
The PRC F 12,920 = 54 -
55,498 69,032 477 7,466
Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL. ERMEENOIEEBERZATES
ENEMEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing to 10% or more of the
Group's revenue during the reporting periods are as follows:

Customer A (Note)
Customer B (Note)
Customer C (Note)
Customer D (Note)

* Less than 10% of the Group's total revenue.

Note:

ERA (Hf32)
ZFB (ffat)
2RC (H:2)
ZRD (H:2)

Revenue from sales of diesel oil and related products

6.

REDE (@)

FREEFERHNEHN

RBREHRNEMAERRZ10% T £

MERWDIMT :
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
N/A* 7R3 g * 22,133
= 16,986
25,249 =
10,931 =
36,180 39,119

* DR EFEHT10% ©

et

B &SRB E A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

7.

218

OTHER INCOME

Fair value gain on financial assets

7.

BRERRATEFEN

at FVTPL TREEATENG
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BMEMRSHBZ
plant and equipment, net Wz % 2R
Government grants (Note a, b) BN #Bh (BYata~b)
Bank interest income RITHEUA

Note:

During the year end 31 March 2025, the Group received the
amount of approximately HK$172,000 of the Technology Voucher
Programme (“TVP") in respect of TVP project — ERP & CRM System
Development funded by the Innovation and Technology Fund from
Hong Kong Productivity Council.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has received ex-
gratia payment from the Ex-gratia Payment Scheme, set up by the
Hong Kong Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to registered owners of diesel commercial vehicles
to phasing out Euro IV Diesel Commercial Vehicles to continuously
improve roadside air quality. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required to arrange for their vehicles to be scrapped and de-

registered.
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Hihg A
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
= 107
393 50
180 103
1 —
574 260

Wizt

(a)

BE2025F3A31BIEFE  AEEFTVPE
E—ERPRCRMAEMAEZEEBLEEIR
ERRMABRESEDNNESTESE
#849172,000%7T °

BE2024F3A3HIEFE AEREES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED, NET 8. BHERRERIRFE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Impairment losses recognised under RIFFRHAE B BRI
expected credited loss model on: TEIEEBARERIE
— Trade receivables — B S EWRIE 25,224 8,173
— Deposits and other receivables — e RHMEWRRIE 6 -
25,230 8,173
Impairment loss recognised on: MU TR IEMHBR B ERIE .
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - BEREE 156 =
— Intangible assets —mEE 4,145 =
4,301 -
29,531 8,173
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BB
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZFE 173 361
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEFF 2 251 273
424 634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

10.

220

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the
Group’s entities established in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"”) are exempted from income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for taxation in
Hong Kong has been made as the Group did not generate any
assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "EIT Law"”) and

Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FREMAS @
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from FHRMEREZEHEEER ﬂﬂi\ﬁ
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss W 55 2R BV BRAR A BS 1B 4 E%?

and other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before tax PR FIES 18
Income tax at 16.5% (2024:16.5%) Fri8%:1216.5% (20244 :

16.5%) 5t&
Tax effects of expenses not deductible ~ FLIRF MM = A AR BEZ A

for tax purposes MBTLE
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries K2 E 1 55A#E & £ Y I B
operating in other jurisdiction NS SEN I E Sl =%
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEBENRE L E
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER R E R EEN
differences not recognised METE
Income tax expense for the year FRFEMREX

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
(38,573) (10,662)
(6,365) (1,759)
364 75
(34) -
1,163 336
4,872 1,348

wes
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 11. BR¥RAIESIE

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax has been arrived BRI ATESE TR T
at after charging: FIEREH
Staff costs BT
Directors’ and chief executive’s EERESTHASME
emoluments (Note 12) (Htz£12) 1,660 1,702
Other staff cost (Note b) HM B T pvas (#752b) 3,347 2,702
Contributions to retirement benefits AEME TEH B AKREF
scheme for other staff sHEIMHRR 157 117
5,164 4,521

Auditor's remuneration TZEEmE BN
Audit services TR 440 450

Non-audit services JEE RS 180 385
Cost of inventories FEMA 51,988 59,765
Depreciation of property, ME- BB RZEITE :

plant and equipment:

— Cost of sales —HE B A 1,583 2,456

— Selling expenses —tHEMX 3 -

— Administrative and other —THRHEMEEMS

operating expenses 4 3
1,590 2,459
Amortisation of intangible assets: mI BRI .
— Administrative and other —THRHEMEEMS
operating expenses 1,059 88
Expenses relating to short-term FHAR BRI (Wata)

leases (Note a) 484 427
Note: BiaE -

(@) At 31 March 2025, the Group was committed to HK$198,000 (@) M2025%3831H  "EEFGHHEE KE

(2024: HK$114,000) for short-term leases.

198,00078 7T (20244F © 114,00057T) °

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2025, staff costs of approximately (b) #EE202593831HLEFE »£9977,0005 T

HK$977,000 was recognised as cost of sales (2024: approximately

HK$771,000).

771,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

12. EER

=ES

() EFRESTHRASNME

RETHABNMER AR R

BEBR LT RURERARTFH
REZEXFEEERERSTHAER

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: BN
Year ended 31 March 2025 8202538310 LLFE
Contributions
to retirement
Directors’  Salaries and Long service benefits
fees  allowances payment scheme Total
RIRER
BEXHE HERER REERED HEEEN Bt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors: HITEE !
Mr. Wang (Chairman) (Note /) TRE (FR) B 50 - - - 50
Mr. Ren Rong (Chief Executive Officer) {F&85%c4% ((TEUERY)

(Note i) (i) 50 - - - 50
Mr. Yan Lei (Note i) Ba&kE (i) 50 - - 50
Mr. Law (Note i) &R (W) - 855 - 2 877
Mr. Li Isaiah (Note iv) FRELE (Hativ) - 210 63 9 282
Independent non-executive directors: B JEHITES
Mr. Fenn David (Note v) SEfRREE () 64 - - 3 67
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew (Note v)  ER &% (Hfatv) 64 - - 3 67
Mr. Chan Ting Fung (Note v) BRERLE W) 64 - - 3 67
Dr. Wang Junxia (Note vj) TREST () 50 - - - 50
Mr. He Junlong (Note vi) MERRSLE Watv) 50 - - - 50
Ms. Liang Lina (Note vj) REML L Wazv) 50 - - - 50

492 1,065 63 40 1,660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERESITHAEBNMERESLR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =ES @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERBEITBRAENMNE @)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE2024F3831HIEFE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and schemes
fees allowances contributions Total
RIRTER
EERE $r KoRhb ST 4ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Law (Note jii) B (Wiazi) - 925 18 943
Mr. Li Isaiah (Note iv) R E (Hativ) - 438 18 456
Independent BUHHTEE
non-executive directors:
Mr. Fenn David (Note v) EELE (i) 9% - 5 101
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew &S &4 (ffstv)
(Note v) 96 - 5 101
Mr. Chan Ting Fung (Note v) [ E2I& 564 (ffatv) 9% = 5 101
288 1,363 51 1,702
Notes: st -
(i) Mr. Wang was appointed as an executive director and the ()  ERENR2024F1256HEZTAHNT
Chairman of the Board on 6 December 2024. EEREEFTIE-
(i) Mr. Ren Rong and Mr. Yan Lei were appointed as an executive (i AERFEEREEREN2024F1256H
director on 6 December 2024. EREAIITES
(i) Mr. Law has resigned as the Chairman of the Board on 6 (i) FEEBR2024F12B6HBTEST
December 2024. EfEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

12. EERESTHRAENMNERELER
=ES @

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

() EERBESITHRAENME (&)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)  Mr. Li Isaiah has resigned as an executive director on 6
December 2024.

(v)  Mr. Fenn David, Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr. Chan
Ting Fung have resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 6 December 2024.

(vi)  Dr. Wang Junxia, Mr. He Junlong and Ms. Liang Lina were
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 6
December 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as Directors.

No chief executive of the Company was appointed for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of these Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a
compensation for loss of office (2024: Nil). There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2024: Nil).

Wz (8)

(iv) FRBETEEN2024F1286HBHER
TES-

v) EBEERAELE -BERELERREERL
702024 F 1286 B BHEBILIFNITE
$O

(v) EEEBL -TERELERRENZ
T702024F 1286 B EHERIBILIEHN
TE=S-

EXFRERTEEMEIKREE
BARBDRAEBEHHRBME
BRI E -

EXRENBLFRATEEMNES
REFRESRHUBRBZANME-

B E2025F &2024%3831HIEE
B XABHEBEZARSTHRAR

B ZE2025F3831HLEEE  AER
BMEREAZEES [ ERME
EAMAXRERARMAREREE
B IEABEERME (20245
®m) RNERIBEBEEREXARENK
B2 HE (20244 @ #®) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EEREBETHRAEBNMERASAER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year include one (2024: two) director of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 12(a) above. The
remaining four (2024: three) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits e R REYEN
in kind

Retirement benefits schemes RIREAETEIH R
contributions

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the Directors nor the chief executive whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 31,000,000 7T
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=#ES @

(b) EREREFHES

FRFEENLRRSHEETE
B—RESE (2024F : M%) BRH
BN SFIBE EXXMIEE12(a) 2 BR T
P4 (20245 © =) BRE#HES (K
FWIFRERBEFTIFRBTH
AB) Z#HBsFEHEIINT

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
1,875 1,236

76 52

1,951 1,288

HFHBERUTHENRSHES (L
FEFARSTHRAR) AT

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A

2025 2024
20255 20244

4 3




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

12. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERERITHAENMERELE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =HES @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued) (b) AHREHHES (&)
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments B ZE2025F3831HLEEE  AER
were paid by the Group to any of these high paid non- BMERAAZEREHMIFES A
director individuals as an inducement to join or upon TR ERME ERMAERERT
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office RMARER BB FRBET
(2024: Nil). 1B (2024F 1 |®)
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RS
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders HE2025F3831HIEFE AR B E
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor AEERREIRMEEKRE > BIREH
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting RURINEEZEARE (20245F © ) ©

period (2024: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BRREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based SEREARBEHEBTLREMLT 8RS
on the following data: g
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FAET
Loss 518
Loss for the year for the purpose of basic =& &REA K # EEE
and diluted loss per share Pt FA S 518 (38,573) (10,662)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

14.

228

LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

Number of shares AVE 4=

Weighted average number of ordinary st ESRER I EEEN

shares for the purpose of basic and BiERINETHAE
diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for both years ended 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 were the same as the basic loss per share
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both
2025 and 2024.
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14. BREE @)

2025 2024
20255 20244
40,000,000 40,000,000

HR2025F R2024F T HE B TBEAEE
AR A E20255 3831 H 5&2024F38
BTHIEMEFE2SRBEHEHESK
BEAREEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - B EBR&E

Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
improvements  and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HERE HGAREE YN RE it
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
CosT 3%
At 1 April 2023 12023F481H 272 193 344 18,769 19,578
Disposal HE - - = (340) (340)
At 31 March 2024 112024435318 272 193 344 18,429 19,238
Addition hE S 1 61 = 62
Disposal HE - - = (4,336) (4,336)
Written-off | (272) (193) (319) = (784)
At 31 March 2025 1£202543531H S 1 86 14,093 14,180
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND R:HRER R A
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 12023F48 18 272 193 339 14,053 14,857
Provided for the year FREE - - 3 2,456 2,459
Disposal HE = = = (340) (340)
At 31 March 2024 12024538318 272 193 342 16,169 16,976
Provided for the year FREE - - 7 1,583 1,590
Disposal HE - - - (4,235) (4,235)
Written-off b 6| 272) (193) (319) - (784)
Impairment loss recognised BREANESE - - 3 153 156
At 31 March 2025 1202538318 = S 33 13,670 13,703
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 March 2025 142025538318 S 1 53 423 477
At 31 March 2024 12024535318 1 - 2 2,260 2,262
WY EERARAR 20242025 3% 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

15.

230

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account their residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years/over the unexpired term
of lease, whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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15. MIE - -BERRE @)

LM B T 51 4 TR B RS Bt R LR R
BEREAEMGSHAIERBFHUER AR

ENT:
HEEE
B EE

N4
AE

S RIEENARIIIAFE

UURIEERZE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

The information technology systems included in intangible
assets were acquired from third party vendor. The information
technology systems were fully operational and ready for use in

March 2024.

Information technology systems has a validity of 5 years and
the Group has determined that this asset has a useful life of 5

years.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE
Information
technology
systems
BRI ARG
HKS$'000
FET
COST s
At 1 April 2023 FA2023FE481H -
Addition NE 5,292
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 2024%3831H%2025%3831H 5,292
AMORTISATION AND ACCUMULATED iR REHRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 72023FE481H -
Charge for the year FAZH 88
At 31 March 2024 72024%3831H 88
Charge for the year FAXZH 1,059
Impairment loss recognised EHEsRERE 4,145
At 31 March 2025 122025534318 5,292
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3H31H -
At 31 March 2024 7R2024%E3831H 5,204

SFABTEEENEARERKIBEE=
FHEBERBE ZEENRERZAN
202438 = EEITHMER A o

BN RRAENAEMARSE  FEEE
BEZBEENAEREHRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

17.

*

232

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17.

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting

period are as follow:

Place of
incorporation/
principal place
Name of entities of operation
FEMARINE
EaE TESEN

i

Hainan Yufengchang Water Industry ~ PRC/PRC
Development Company Limited*

BEAEEKEERERAT e/ hE

Shanxi Yufengchang Liquor PRC/PRC
Industry Company Limited*
LRREEEXERAR HE,/HE

Particulars of
paid up capital/
registered capital
BRRS/
AMERFER

RMB3,000,000
unpaid registered
capital

AE3,000,0007T
ReImER

RMB3,000,000
unpaid registered
capital

AE3,000,0007T
RImER

REE AT R

REREHR AEBBEQTNFBU

T

Proportion of ownership

interests/Group's effective Proportion of voting rights
interest held by the Group held by the Group
AL,/
FERFRRERER FERFFRFESL
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20244 20255 20245
4% = 41% S
40% = 40% S

The associates have not yet commenced business for the year

ended 31 March 2025.

English name is for identification purpose only
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Principal
activities

TEEH

Wholesale of
drinking
water

ENEN SR

Wholesale of
wine and
beverages

B R
#E

ZEMENBNEE2025F3831HILEE

ErEARRa=EE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 18. BREFRAFEIAENETHEE

Unlisted investment JFLEHRE
— key management insurance contracts —E EEIE B R

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Wing Ko Petroleum
Chemistry (China-Hong Kong) Limited ("Wing Ko"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a life
insurance policy with an insurance company, an independent
third party not related to the Group, on Mr. Li Isaiah, the
then chief executive officer and then executive director of the
Company. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder
is Wing Ko. Wing Ko is required to pay an upfront payment
of HK$1,956,000 for the policy. Wing Ko may request partial
surrender or full surrender of the policy at any time and
receive cash back based on the value of the policy at the date
of withdrawal, which is primarily based on the performance
of the underlying investment portfolio together with the
accumulated guaranteed interest earned of 2.5% per annum
for the first two policy years.

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
= 1,844

REZE2022F3R831HEFEE ) KA TR
BB AR KEEMEL (FH8) BRAE
(k&) B—KEAREE W EE S
UB=ZFRERABMEATERFNITE
BMYERATEEEMEAETILASR
BB RBZFRE  TmARFRERFAEA
BB kB AAZMEE(T1,956,000
BT TEN R KSR BERE R DR F
FEIRFR URFERRZHNREEE
WEIRESRE  HEFEERNEBAKEARS
NRIBURATMEREFEBRRNESE
2 5% REHRFEF B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

18.

234

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is

analysed as follows:

At the beginning of the year R

Fair value changes recognised in P8 PSR
profit or loss REEE

Surrendered of policy RERIR

At the end of the year RER

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the surrender cash value of a life
insurance policy at the end of the reporting period together
with the guaranteed interest as mentioned above.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s financial
assets at FVTPL with a carrying value at the end of the
reporting period of HK$1,844,000 were pledged to secure
banking facilities for overdrafts granted to the Group (Note
29).
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18. ZREHRATEHAENEHEE @

TEEEEREEONESFE RN
T

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
1,844 1,737

= 107

(1,844) =

= 1,844

TEEEERBENNAFTESERS
HARASFERENEFRRESEER LA
REHBEE -

HE2024F3831HIEFE > ZERN K
LHACREREE 41,844,0008 THIE B8
DRATEFENSHEESD TR 1F
AERFAEBRELRITHENER W
29) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

18.

19.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, as the key
management insurance contract was surrendered due
to the resignation of insured person, Mr. Li Isaiah, the
banking facilities for overdrafts was terminated and the
assignment agreements in respect of insurance policy of the
Group’s financial assets at FVTPL with a carrying value of
HK$1,844,000 duly executed by the Group in favour of the
bank were released (Note 29).

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, as a result of the recurring
operating losses of the Group, the management of the
Group concluded that there was an indication of impairment
and conducted an impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$477,000 and Nil, respectively
(2024: approximately HK$2,262,000 and HK$5,204,000,
respectively), which belong to the Group’s cash generating unit
of sales of diesel oil and related products.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit of sales of diesel oil and related products to
which the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
belong.

18.

19.

FRBEGTRATEAENEMEE @
BHE2025F3831HIEFE  FEEIERE
R G A E AR R A =K S BB T
WRMR BB ITHMEECKR L MAEE
MIETAZmAEABELBRAEES
BEDBATEFENEHEE CRAE
71,844,000/ 7T) NIREEHE IR D ER
Bx (B35E29) o

ME - BERZEAREREENR
=R

HE2025F3B31HIEFEE BRAE
ENKEEREEE ~&EBEEER
RETRERR jﬁE;ﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁBIJ%
#9477,00088 TR (202445 : BRIAKN
2,262,00078 75 % 5,204,00078 7T) AIH 2 -
B R B U BB E TR E T
HEAERHEERAKEMERNRE
EEB

FEBMGFYE MEARBURETLE
EFfBHERAREMERNREEES
Bz rIuolEEE-
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kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

19.

236

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The recoverable amount of that cash generating unit has
been determined based on the value-in-use calculation by
reference to a valuation carried out by Masterpiece Valuation
Advisory Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer.
The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering
the following five years with a pre-tax discount rate of 14%
as at 31 March 2025. The gross profit margins ranging from
0.1% to 0.7%. Management determined the budgeted sale
and gross margin based on the cash-generating unit's past
performance and management expectations for the market
development.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, based on the result of the
assessment, the management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is lower
than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
allocated to each category of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets such that the carrying amount of each
category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less cost of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on
the value in use calculation, impairment loss of approximately
HK$156,000 and HK$4,145,000 (2024: Nil) has been
recognised against the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

19. ME - -BERIXBURERLEENH

BEAR @

ZRESEXBUZAKREISELHRIBL
2EBUCEREXLEME T HE
HERABDETHHEMERNERE
Bt EET ZAEARSREEAS
ERAERSEBHAERSEBRIEY
M TEE > 12202553831 B BRATEEER
EE14% o EFIENF0.1%E0.7% - EIE
BRERCELBUNBTEERER
BHTHEENBHECHEEHEEN
EH|=o

B ZE2025FE3831 B L EE  RIBTF G4
R AEEEEEET REELBUDN
Al ElERBENREE  RESEE 2E
EREVME - BEAREBEUNETRLEE
FEREEENREERCEREQTER
FHERA HEFABEATNRSE
RIFFEABENTE > 8 E202543H831
BLEFE BEnE BEMRBEUARE
FEENREE D BIHERA9156,00078 7T
K24,145,0008 7T (20244 %) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

20. INVENTORIES 20. &
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Finished goods S Ak ah 2,744 =
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWRIE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FAEIT
Trade receivables — contracts with B RERTIEBE-TREH
customers 72,728 56,709
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEIEEE (42,274) (18,783)
Trade receivables, net 5 EN I F 28 30,454 37,926
At 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with R2023F4B1H RETEFENZEZE
customers amounted to approximately HK$45,901,000, net of W IE4 445,901,000 7 GOMR 585
allowance of credit losses of approximately HK$10,610,000. 1B HE54910,610,00078 7T) ©
The Group allows a credit period of ranged from 0-120 days FAEERHEZEREHENF0OEI120K
(2024: 0-120 days) to its trade customers. (20244 : 0FE120K) = EHA -
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables AREEF2025F3831H K2024%F3831
as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. Bt 5 B 5 E WG IB R B EARiR R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

21.

238

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of gross trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the
reporting periods:

Within 30 days 30KA

31 to 60 days 31E60K
61 to 90 days 61FE90K
91 to 365 days 91E 365K
More than one year —FU L

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in Note 32(b).
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21. EZEWRFIE @)

UTB/RBREMRLEZAREINNE

5 BUWGRIRMR AR AR B

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
8,886 1,778
5,357 1,209
396 831
7.368 38,982
50,721 13,909
72,728 56,709

8 57 B YR IR Ry R B 5T 57 1B # S M 5

32(b)e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

22. OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. HthfEUTRIA
2025 2024
20254 20244
Note HK$000 HK$'000
g3 FAET FHET

Deposits B 820 667

Prepayments BT IE 256 2,335

Other receivables H A e RIS a 283 79

1,359 3,081

Less: Allowance for credit losses & : 15 B R 1B &5 (6) (128)

1,353 2,953

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set H e W IE8 1Y R B T s B S MY EE

out in Note 32(b). 32(b)°

Note: Biat -

(@) At 31 March 2025, other receivables mainly represent: (@) F202543H8318 > HMEWRIEF B .
Other receivables of approximately HK$157,000 (2024: HhfE R IE49157,00058 7T (20244 1 4
approximately HK$79,000) is due from Fully Fort Group Limited, the 79,0008 70) AW AR AT B R RERTE
then immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company. BABIZ2EEEBRABINRIE - ZRER
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on BRI FELERBRERER
demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND BANK 23. HERREFEMURBITES
OVERDRAFTS
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 2,021 46
Bank overdrafts RITEZ - (4,585)
2,021 (4,539)
Cash and cash equivalents included demand deposits and RekReEEMEEARTEAEER
short-term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group's MRS R ENERERRERER Hiz
short-term cash commitments, which carried interest at T F0.00%ZE0.25% (20244 : 0.00% =
market rates ranging from 0.00% to 0.25% (2024: 0.00% to 0.25%) NTIBHIZEET R o
0.25%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND BANK
OVERDRAFTS (Continued)

Included in the cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control
regulations or not freely transferable:

Amounts denominated in RMB MAREEEZ SR
— cash and cash equivalents —RERIREEEY

During the year ended 31 March 2025, bank overdrafts bore
interest at prevailing market rate of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 4% per annum (2024: HIBOR
plus 4%). The bank overdrafts were fully repaid in September
2024 and the banking facilities for overdrafts was terminated.
Details of the banking facilities are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in Note 32(b).

23. HERAEFEMUKRRITES @

ReRFEESEYEEBEUTRETINE
ERIREISA ] B HEERRUR

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
1,376 =

B E2025F3831HIEFE  RITEZZ
SARABETEZERE (FBETEZEREL)
HIRITHBFENEF4%:E (20244 ©
EABRITRIERENA%) BT EZBER
2024F9BBHEE  MEBEZRITRETR
BRI -ARRITHENFERENGESH
PR R 29

IRTTASBR R E AT A 5 B E B MIEE32(b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

24. TRADE PAYABLES

242

Trade payables

The credit period on services provided by suppliers is generally

from 1 to 180 days (2024: 1 to 30 days).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

30k
31E60K
61ZF90K
91E 180K
180K UL
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24. B FEATRIE

2025
20255
HK$°000
FHET

19,152

2024
20244
HK$'000
FAET

1,686

HEBFAREERBNEER R/ E

180Kk (20244 : 1E30K)

UTH/RBREMRREZARENNZE

5 B RURRRES D Af

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
9,371 360
10 895
4,592 431
4,520 -
659 -
19,152 1,686




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

25. OTHER PAYABLES 25.
Accruals and other payables FESTE A R H M RRIE
Deposits received BlEE
Salaries payable FET & &

Contract liabilities (Note a) B8 E Wita)
Note:

(@ The Group receives advance payment before sale of petroleum
derivatives to customers, this will give rise to contract liabilities
until the revenue recognised exceeds the amount of the advance
payment. The contract liabilities as of 31 March 2025 are expected

to be recognised as revenue within one year.

H th & {3 7RIH
2025 2024
20255 2024
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET TAET
2,346 4,059
- 6
973 3,064
37 -
3,356 7,129

Wizt -

(@) AEMAEMEF HE T4 R AR

RIE BELESNER EEEINRD

BHANRIERE AL -8 ZE202

543431

BN BEFERRIN —F AR AU

B EIERRARAT 2024/2025 £3R

243



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

26.

244

BANK BORROWINGS

Current REn
Term loans — Secured TERER— A

The bank borrowings carry variable interest rates 2.5% per
annum below Hong Kong dollar prime rate (“Prime Rate”)
(2024: 2.5% per annum below Prime Rate) and are repayable
in various monthly instalments up to 24 October 2032 or 24
October 2033 (2024: 24 October 2032 or 24 October 2033).

The bank borrowings are drawn under banking facilities.
Details of the banking facilities are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding any provisions of the facility letter, the
general terms (if applicable) or any other documents between
the borrower and the bank to the contrary, the bank may
at any time without prior notice modify, cancel or suspend
the facility/facilities at its sole discretion including, without
limitation, canceling any unutilised facilities, and declaring any
outstanding amount to be immediately due and payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

26. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

26.

Analysis of the amounts due based on scheduled payment

dates set out in the loan agreements (ignoring the effect of any

repayment on demand clause) is as follows:

Carrying amounts of bank borrowings
that are repayable: (Note)

Within one year

More than one year, but not
exceeding two years

More than two years, but not
exceeding five years

Over five years

IRTTIER (@)

RBERIBEFTEMOTAE MR BB (B8
ERREBREFEROTE) VRIS
DU

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
FEEZIBTHEMNMERE ¢
(1 5L)

—&ER 830 446

—FE o BRBBME
855 787

BEmE  BRBBEE
2,723 2,538
BRnF 2,676 3,768
7,084 7,539

Note: The bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause and

are shown under current liabilities.

et o SRITEREAREBRERIER > LI HR
HamEE|ETe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. EIERIA
Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) at the end of the RREAREEDBNELEREBEE (B8)
reporting period represent the following: ST -
Assets Liabilities
BE af&
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20244 20255 20244
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET FET
Depreciation allowance ITERE - _ (743) (1,074)
Tax losses MIBESIE 743 1,074 - -
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) #EIEIRIBE E (B1R) 743 1,074 (743) (1,074)
Offsetting R (743) (1,074) 743 1,074
Net deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEIFER _ _ _ _

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses and unrealised deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$23,175,000 and HK$47,046,000
respectively (2024: approximately HK$18,738,000 and
HK$17,515,000 respectively) in Hong Kong. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of unused tax losses
of approximately HK$4,505,000 (2024: approximately
HK$6,513,000). No deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of the remaining unused tax losses and unrealised
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$18,670,000 and HK$47,046,000 respectively (2024:
HK$12,225,000 and HK$17,515,000) respectively in Hong
Kong due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax assets
have been recognised in respect of unused tax losses
of approximately HK$601,000 in the PRC due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. (2024: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FRONVETHNEER

Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2023 1£2023%F481H
Share consolidation (Note a) RAn &6t (Hata)

At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 /%2024F3831H K&
2025%3H31H
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 April 2023 7202344818
Share consolidation (Note a) a6t (ata)
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 320249383 1H &
2025%F3H31H

Note:

(@  Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 15 February 2024, every ten issued ordinary shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each had been consolidated into one ordinary
share of HK$0.1 each. The share consolidation became effective on
19 February 2024.

All the ordinary shares issued by the Company ranked pari passu in all
respects.

28. g7

Number of
shares HK$000
i g = F#ET
3,000,000,000 30,000
(2,700,000,000) -
300,000,000 30,000
400,000,000 4,000
(360,000,000) -
40,000,000 4,000

(@) RBARBREN2024F28158BBHR
HE BIOREREENBTNEETE
BREEHRIRSREEINBTHNER
i oA S ER2024F28 198 £ 0

FABDETHAEBRNEMB LT EBEER
L

BB AIRAT 2024/2025 3k 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

29. BANKING FACILITIES

29. RITRAE

2025 2024

20255 20244

Note HK$’000 HK$°000

st FHET FET

Overdrafts BX 23 = 5,000
Term loans THIE 26 9,000 9,000
9,000 14,000

At 31 March 2025, the Group had banking facilities of
HK$9,000,000 (2024: HK$14,000,000) granted by a bank in
Hong Kong.

The banking facilities for term loans are secured by personal
guarantee provided by an executive director, Mr. Law for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the banking facilities
for overdrafts are secured by:

(i) A corporate guarantee provided by the Company;

(i) Assignment agreements in respect of insurance policy of
the Group's financial assets at FVTPL with a carrying value
of HK$ 1,844,000 duly executed by the Group in favour of
the bank; and

(iii) A personal guarantee provided by an executive director,
Mr. Law.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the bank overdrafts
were fully repaid in September 2024, the banking facilities for
overdrafts were terminated and the security as stated above
were released.
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FE > ERERNRTRER —RIITE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

29. BANKING FACILITIES (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group had no undrawn amount under
the banking facility (2024: HK$415,000).

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants which are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group was
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right
at its sole discretion to demand immediate repayment at any
time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants and has made payments according to the schedule
of the loans and does not consider it probable that the banks
will exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the
Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details
of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. As at 31 March
2025, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities
had been breached (2024: Nil).

29. IRITREE (&)

7202538310 ZEBRIBITREIE
TR IR ENFNIE (20244 415,000
7T) ©

PRERTRENAETRASREBNE
MEZHPERNEE -HEAERERZ
HOFTRENMNMERBREREE -IL
Sy AEBENERHEZREIRRETES
R & B 1T RE 2 RILANER#E
M EBRrEBRESEETHRLEITT
AENEMRER -

FEREEREREBTRSHEENE
o wEREMEERMNR HEARE
FEFERTEZEER RITARARE
TENBEERER FAEBRBHESA
BREENE-—PHBHNGEHHERE
fi5E32 27020256383 1H > B EREE
ERRMNZEIREER (2024F © ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

30.

250

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties.

(a)

At the end of the reporting period, the balances of related

30. BB AR5

BRRZEREMBRERZAREEIN £
ERERAERBAUTRS

() MEEHR BIETRIGSERIT ¢

parties are as follows:

Amounts due to directors R EERIE
— Mr. Law (Note /) —Eo A (H13E)
— Mr. Wang (Note i) — R (Wt

Note i: The amount due to a director, Mr. Law, is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable within a year from the date of
drawdown.

Note ii: The amount due to a director, Mr. Wang, of HK$ 1,620,000

(equivalent to RMB1,510,000) is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 30. R AR5 (@)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and key executives during
the year were as follows:

Salaries and allowances and e ZMREYHIG
benefits in kind
Retirement benefits schemes RIAEFEHEIMHR

contributions

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of (deficits) equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

(b) ETEEEASNHM

FRESFKTEZTHRASHHFMN
T

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
2,553 2,599

88 88

2,641 2,687

EERFETHRABZFHMN B
MEEgLERBEARBERTIZE
BEETE ©

8

S

BEXEERERE

FEBREEEAUERAEENERK
AgEERFECE TEBBIEEHED
FHBEEMRREIER AEEZERER
B8 B L F LRI RS )

FEBNEARBEORERRTER ARG
(Bat) D OEGSREEEHRAFFN
R R B AR A K fi e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 31.

32.

252

The Directors review the capital structure regularly.

The management considers the cost of capital and the

risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the

recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its

overall capital structure through payment of dividend to equity

owners, call for additional capital from equity owners, sale of

assets to reduce debts or new share issues of the Company.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BXRABRER @

EEERRNEARE - EEEZRESR
MAERBEREERAWNENRER - RBES
WES ~EEREBRRERES NKY
RE-DEDERS ABEWREIER HE
BELBDEBRNERBETHR T
HERBEARE 8 E£2025F 202443
A3ALEFE BR BRICAZL R
R &S -

32. T A

a. Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
FVTPL
— Financial assets at FVTPL

Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

TREE
BRBESIEATESE

—BREmRATESE

MERMBEE

THAaE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables,
bank overdrafts, amounts due to directors and bank
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

32. AT H @)

MR EEEERBR

FEBZTETMTIRABEEES K
HEWRIE BB ERmRATES
EvEHEE - RekHEEEY
BEZREMEBNRE RITEX IE
NEERERRITER ZEERMT
BENFBERENEZBNNE -EZ
FeMITEAMZEREETSRR

(ERREBRKEFMERR) EFERR
RoREE T AR o BUEZEF R R
REN T X -AEBZEEBEER
BERAZS R LI B A Wt £
B & 8

15 R

(i) SR
AEE B A EINE R P EER
AT REEBEREERERIMNEE

B WRRARERZEHAE
RGN LB
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

254

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank overdrafts and bank borrowings.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest risks and
the Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and Prime
arising from the Group'’s bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings respectively.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

RIBIHR A ER
TRMEE

Financial assets at
amortised cost
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured
at FVTPL:

REH R A5t ERY
TREE

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the amounts
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. The 2.5% (2024:
2.5%) increase or decrease in interest rate for
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

32. AT H @)

MHEEREREERRBER (&

HGEEE (&

(i) F/ERE &

WIFBBIB M AT EFEN

e ENEEX
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
424 634
BURE DT

MTBRESMHIRERERSE
HRIBITERMNERBEE -
ERBRD RSN RS
RKEAEENCENREBEE
HAREE - BFEEEABER
BB = B B 3R 5 BRF 0 SRAT & FRA
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2.5%) HEEREHFESEAAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

256

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 2.5% (2024: 2.5%)
higher/lower for bank borrowings and all other
variables were held constant, the post-tax loss for
the year ended 31 March 2025 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$177,000 (2024:
HK$303,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024, no sensitivity analysis is presented for bank
balances as the Directors consider the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is not
material.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about the
Group's credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment are
summarised as below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. AT H @)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Management of the Group has a credit limit policy in
place and exposures to credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has established credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure appropriate actions are taken to recover overdue
debts.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry in which customers operate
also has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser
extent. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based
on background search assessment and individual credit
limit which is mainly based on the Group’s own trading
records.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 29.0% (2024: 33.6%) and 96.0% (2024:
91.9%) of the trade receivables were made up by
the Group’s largest outstanding balance and the five
largest outstanding balances respectively. The Group's
concentration of credit risk by geographical location is in
Hong Kong, which accounted for 99.6% (2024: 100%)
of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2025.

MHEEREREERRBER (&

=B B R R A ES (7

KEERSHHIE S NS E

FEBEEEERBEERBEE
WHREERFIARNEERE - R fE
FEREERERE ~EEEEED
HIEEERE FEEMREMER
B BEFKREETEWEIEBE
Igo

FEEAZREERBZEEEER
BRERZENRERE -FRFIESE
WITEZEBNRBRTREEEERRE
BEEEM BERNERERRES
SHEFEMNEAGEHEEET
t ZALMEEERNAEEEFNR
>

R2025%F3831H  AEBNEE
REEFEDAEZRERKBFIEN
29.0% (20244 : 33.6%) &96.0%
(2024%F 1 91.9%) » TEHKEE
RAKREBEEGNERREBEH
Bl e AEERMEBAUEE DHE
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HE 5 W FIBAE2E1999.6% (2024
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

258

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables collectively
based on provision matrix. Except for trade receivables
which the management of the Group considered as
high uncertainty of recovery, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables
are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s
internal credit rating.

Other receivables

The Group’s other receivables include deposits and other
receivables in the consolidated statements of financial
position.

The Group considers that other receivables, excluded
those credit-impaired, have low credit risk based on
the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of
default. Impairment on other receivables is measured on
12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities of the
exposures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience and the financial position
of the counterparties, past collection history, current
creditworthiness, adjusted for forward-looking factors
that are specific to the counterparties and general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of
default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon
default in each case.

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk on bank balances and cash is limited
because majority of the counterparties are financial
institutions with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies with good reputation.
No loss allowance was recognised for both years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

32. T H %@

b. MBEMEEEERER &

15 B BB R A S (4

AEEZ A EE & Rk ST AR 5T (S S

BELN R

Internal credit rating  Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
REBIEE TR sREA 8 7 R rIa HitnE&mEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
of default and does not have not credit-impaired
any past-due amounts
1% & B2 REVFHENRARBREELREM 2BBRHREEHFE- 12EARHEEHSE
BEARIE FHEEHE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BR%E BHEALERAMERER BB SHEIEERE- 12EREHREERE
LR FHEEHE
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
increases in credit risk since initial not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources
758 BBAMIIMNIRFLANER BT 2HRBREESRE- 2BERGEEEE-
EERREEMNERIREBEEN  FEERIE HMEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B8 ZEBERNEECELEEAE 2HIRMEERE- 2BERGEEHEE-
E8RE EERIE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off  Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
(62 BEBRAEBADBREVHRE ) WERE MEE IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposure of
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment.

Note
Kzt
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REBHERSHENERMEE
Trade receivables
BHEWRIE
- contracts with customers 21
—HEANELN
Other receivables 22
HhEWwRIE
Bank balances 23
RITAERR

External
credit
rating
4hEB
=84

N/A
B

N/A
TER

Aa3 - Baa3

Internal
credit
rating
R
EET4R

Low risk

Rk

Loss

St

Low risk
(Note 1)
BRRE

(Hrzt1)

N/A
B

32. AT H @)

b. MBEEAKRTEBEREE @)

1= B E B R A TS (4

TRV AEERETRBEES

B ENEMEEN

12m or lifetime ECL
128 B = 2
FBHEERE

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired)

2 HEHEERR
GEEERIE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2 HEHEERR
(E&RIE)

12m ECL
12 EREE R
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2HEHREERE
(EERE)

12m ECL
REABRREERE

=5

EEEEEB-

2025 2024
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
20254 20245
IREAE IREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
19,481 49,492
53,247 7,217
72,728 56,709
1,103 618

- 128

1,103 746
2,021 46
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. M T A @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. MBERMEEBEREE (&
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk

15 B BB R A S (4

Bt -

1. HMRBEERREEMS  AEEX
REAE N LTS EE R R B ) in

has increased significantly since initial recognition. LB TEEEIE Mo
Past due Not past due Total
#HA RiEHA 4t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FAET FAET FAET
2025 20255
Other receivables H {th FE UL R 1B - 1,103 1,103
2024 20244
Other receivables HAthFEUWRIE 128 618 746

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because those customers have common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms.

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL.
Debtors that are credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of HK$53,247,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$7,217,000) were assessed individually.

YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025

ERFEREERAREEN—2
AEENBEBANKRESERTR
EITREN G EnZEERAAH
FENRERFE MEERBARER
BRENERESNIFRRZARAE 2N

FRIF o

TRIEHEHEEZHBEHEERE
HEANREBEETHNEZER
NIENEERBRIER 12202543
B318  HREERENEHA (K
E#2{E%53,247,00058 7T (20244 :
7,217,0007& 7)) BB BIETT 5T




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

32. AT H @)

b. MBEMREEEERER &

=B B R R A ES (7

As at 31 March 2025
1202553H31H

Not past due REH

Within 30 days overdue BHA30K 7Y
31-60 days overdue BHA31E60K
61-90 days overdue #HA61EI0K
91-365 days overdue #HA91E 365K

More than one year overdue

As at 31 March 2024
R2024%3831H

BB —F

Not past due R

Within 30 days overdue BHA30K 7Y
31-60 days overdue BHEA31E60K
61-90 days overdue BHI61EI0K
91-365 days overdue #HR91E 365K

More than one year overdue

BEBB—F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEEARS R R IRE4R%E BiEkE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
4.2% 20,188 847
- 5 -
66.7% 345 230
63.0% 100 63
74.9% 1,516 1,135
79.1% 50,574 39,999
72,728 42,274

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FRHGER AREAEER BERHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET ¥
0.6% 3,360 21
0.7% 680 5
0.8% 1,180 10
1.0% 1,351 13
26.8% 42,921 11,517
100% 7,217 7,217
56,709 18,783
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

264

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

Beginning balance HAFBRER

Loss allowance recognised, net REEEEFRE
Written off 155

Closing balance HARERZE

As at 31 March 2025, included in the above balance
was HK$24,901,000 (2024: HK$4,621,000) related to
the loss allowance recognised for credit-impaired trade
receivables. During the year, loss allowance on credit-
impaired balance of HK$1,733,000 (2024: Nil) was
written off.
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WRIEMENETHE - EEESTE
Hms D% URGREREER
BABERER RN ER -

TRETCHEBIEREZLE SRR
RSN TEREEEEEH -

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
18,783 10,610
25,224 8,173
(1,733) =
42,274 18,783

R2025%3831H » L4 eRE g
ERDEEREEZERRIBEEIE
B IERAAY24,901,0008 7T (2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. AT H @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. MBERMEEBEREE &)

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEEER R ETE ()

TR EMITE R EMEKRIE
RHET IR AR

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for deposits and other
receivables:

Lifetime
ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
2 HATEHA
128 B T HA E8KE
EEE (BE-RHE “a st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
At 1 April 2023 and 20234818 &
31 March 2024 202443831H - 128 128
Change due to financial R FL20245F4 81 B HERR
instruments recognised T EMmEIRES !
as at 1 April 2024:
— Impairment losses — SRR ER IR
recognised 4 - 4
New financial asset originated E4FHNERE E 2 - 2
Write-off b7l - (128) (128)
At 31 March 2025 722025538318 6 - 6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. EMTH #®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. MBERMEEBEREE (&
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERERBEFFG &
Note: Biat -
Changes in the loss allowances for deposits and other receivables are RehkHEMERRERBRENESHTE
mainly due to: BERU TS IEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
Decrease in Decrease in
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
ZHTEHAEE 2HTRHAGEE
BB BRI
Credit-impaired Credit-impaired
EERE BEERE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
No realistic prospect of recovery W E MR UL E] BT BE (128) =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the Directors to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had
net current liabilities of HK$9,755,000 as at 31 March
2025. The liquidity of the Group primarily depends on
the future funding being available and the ability of
the Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. Details of which are set out in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.

32. AT H @)

MHEEREREERRBER (&

TEE AT

REERBESRRE AERER
REFBEZRIAREUARTEREE
REBSRABESRKBZEDN
R MIFEFBYKF-

BN AEEN2025FE3831HER R
B & & F 589,755,000 77 i A EEH
AZRBNEERR AEENTHE
TEFERARARBHRAINENEER
AEBREVBEETIHRNETT
BES - BRI IBE N R B I B R R M
F3.10

TRFLTEETRERENREGRS
WEHRB 2R DREAEE R RE
RERNEFARMEENERE
BARMRREERERS L -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

32. T H %@

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liguidity tables

As at 31 March 2025
Trade payables

Other payables

Amounts due to directors
Bank borrowings (Note)

As at 31 March 2024
Trade payables

Other payables

Bank overdrafts

Bank borrowings (Note)

52202538318
B 5 EN A

H e 7B
FENEERIE
IRITERR (B22)

720245383 1H
B 5 BN TIE
HAE A =Ia
RITES
IRTTERR (BYa2)
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HREEZTEE (&

REEER

On demand or
less than 1 year
HEKRZ
E—F
HK$°000
FAET

19,152
3,319
16,735
7,084

46,290

1,686
7,129
4,585
7,539

20,939




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liguidity tables (Continued)
Note:

The amount repayable under certain bank loan agreements that
include a clause that gives the bank a right to call the loan at any
time is classified under the category of “on demand or less than 1
year”. However, the management does not expect that the bank
would exercise such right to demand the repayment and thus these

32. AT H @)

MBEREEEERREE (@)

TEEZEEE (&)

REEL XK (&)

Wfat -

RFEETIRITER R (BFERTRITHER
WEIEMOER) - EEENSEDER 1%
SRIFEN—F $BRI - 22T - EIEE AR
TARETEAEREBREZNER B> Z
FEM (BEERMTS) RIRBERMEPTE

borrowings, which included the related interest, would be repaid LTFEBEILUES.
according to the below schedule as set out in the loan agreements
as follows.
On demand Total
or less than 1to 2to undiscounted Carrying
1year 2 years 5years  Over 5 years cash flows amounts
BERS Bt
ER—F —EmE RELE EFEME KMRASRE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TiEn THET TiEr T#T
As at 31 March 2025 12025634310
Bank borrowings BITER 1,031 1,031 3,092 2,793 7,947 7,084
As at 31 March 2024 122024438318
Bank borrowings RITER 716 1,031 3,093 4,053 8,893 7,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair values measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured

at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-

observation data to the extent it is available. Where Level

1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party

qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

techniques and inputs used).

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

- key management insurance
contracts (Note 18)

Fair value at
31 March
M3A31BAFE
2025 2024
20254 20245
HKS$'000  HK$ 000
FET FETT
EHMEE
BATE ABREY
SHEE
—TESEERR
BH WE18) - 1,844
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ETMIARZAFEE

AEEBHEMIADRUBRE
BT AT E -

EEFT AT ER AEEEREAE
BRI HHERRYIE - HE—RBAK
BARR AAEEZERE=18E8
BEEMETEE.

FEBFRDZEMEENS RS
RURFEFE FREHEBRBUNMA
EEZSEREEATENER (L
HEFMEANMGERMN kAR
®) o

Valuation
Fair value  techniques and
hierarchy  key inputs
ATEESR HERTRIERAZE
The fair value of the key management
Level 3 insurance contracts is determined
=4 by reference to the surrender cash

value, which is primarily based on the
performance of the underlying investment
portfolio together with the guaranteed
minimum interests, reported by the bank
on a regular basis.
EEEERRANNATESER
RAESBERT BRREEETIEE
RETERRSNERREASNE
RURRENTEN S



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

There was no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.

There are no fair value gain recognised in profit or loss
for unlisted investments — key management insurance
contracts relate to the contracts held during the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: fair value gain of
HK$107,000). Such gains or losses are included in other
income or administrative and other operating expenses
respectively.

The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined
by reference to the surrender cash value reported by the
financial institution on a regular basis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their respective fair values.

32. AT H @)

C.

EMITRZATFENE (@)

REAN B—ZRh=HBLEE
Bo

B ZE2025F3831HLEEE ) WER
BRI aNMENIELD
RE-FTEEEBREBSOATENK
m (20244 © A EUER107,000%
70) ° thEE N m A E S B 5 A HAth
WA ST R E A & Bz o

ASFREENATESEZMEE
ERENERRIREEERET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

33.

272

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of the state-managed defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme operated by the government of
the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll cost to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

The Group also operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

The Group's contributions under the above-mentioned defined
contribution retirement plans had no forfeited contributions
that may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
HK$197,000 (2024: approximately HK$168,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these plans by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 March 2025,
approximately HK$28,000 contributions due in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2025 had not been paid over to the
plans (2024: Nil). The amount were paid subsequent to the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

34. SUBSIDIARIES 34. B AT

REIEHRZM B LB FBEHEIIMT -

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:
Attributable
Place of Date of Particulars of equity interest
incorporation/  incorporation/ paid up capital/ held by  Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary establishment  establishment registered capital ~ the Company  place of operation
B3 ITAT B3 AT BrEx/ A YNSEERST:
WA %E P33t 2 A=) AMERFEE BRI TEBER S
Directly held by the Company
RANFIEREE
Forever Treasure Holdings Limited BVI 14 November 2017 United States 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
Dollar ("US$")10
KEERBRAT HBEEZHEE  2017F115148 [ESAESH)) 100% REER/EE
Winner Group Worldwide Limited BV 8 April 2019 Us$10 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
TREBBRKERAT REEZHEE  2019F4A8H 1057t 100% REER/EE
Ever Star Industrial Limited BVI 3 June 2019 Us$10 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
KEBEERAT BEREUHE  2019%6A3H 1057 100% REER/BE
Xichi Group Global Limited BVI 4 October 2024 Us$1 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
BMERRRERAT HEEZHEE 2024510840 %7 100% REER/EE
Longyue Holding Limited BVI 4 October 2024 Us$1 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
ENRERERAT BEREUHEE 2024910548 %7 100% REER/EE
Indirectly held by the Company
ARBEERE
Wing Ko Hong Kong 18 December 2002 HK$10,000 100%  Sales of diesel oil and related
products/Hong Kong
XE 55 20024128188 10,0007 7T 100% SEAREMERNHEE /&
Joyous Treasure Group Limited Hong Kong 10 April 2019 HK$100 100%  Inactive
REERERAT BH 201945108 1007 7T 100%  AEE
Wing Ho International Development  Hong Kong 4 June 2019 HK$100 100%  Inactive
Limited
XEERERERAT R 20196744 1005 7T 100%  AFE
Fengxi International Limited Hong Kong 25 October 2024 HK$100 100%  Inactive
SHERERAH B 2024%10525H 1008 7T 100%  AEE
Longxi Group Limited Hong Kong 29 October 2024 HK$100 100%  Inactive
REEEERAR e 20244105298 1007#7T 100%  FEE
Shaanxi Kuoyueyun Supply Chain PRC 5 December 2024 RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%  Inactive
Operation Co., Ltd* registered capital
MERUZHERESARAT  HE 202412850 AR 1#3,000,0007¢ 100%  FEE
MARGEMER
Weinan Jia Yun Supply Chain PRC 30 December 2024 RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%  Sales of petroleum
Management Co., Ltd#* registered capital derivatives/PRC
BREEEHEREERERAR 20244125308 A 3,000,0007T 100% HERBTESR/FE
MABERER

YEERARAT 2024/2025 F£1R
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4R MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

34. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary
Mt A E1 478

Yufengchang (Shaanxi) Catering
Management and Operation
Co., Ltd*

HEE (R BENEEEE
BIRAE

Shaanxi Xichi Industrial Technology
Co., Ltd*

KA HEEREARAR

Fenyang Yufengchang Liquor
Co., Ltd*
NETHEEEEERAT

Tengguang United Win (Shaanxi)
Technology Co., Ltd*

R () RRBRSE
NS

Shaanxi Tianzhu Lexiang Media
Technology Co., Ltd#*

MAXRZLZBERRERAT

Tianzhu Lexiang (Shenzhen) Media
Technology Co., Ltd*

=22 (R FERE
BRAE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
BT
Rt

PRC

PRC

T

Date of
incorporation/
establishment
B3I ATYe
P32 B HA

27 November 2024

2024118278

15 October 2024

20245108150
25 October 2024
20245108250
10 October 2024
20245108108
13 November 2024
20245118138
28 October 2024

20245105281

& Wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC

* English name is for identification purpose only

274

34. MBRT @@

Attributable
Particulars of equity interest
paid up capital/ held by
registered capital ~ the Company
BREx/ FAREEN
FEMmE RS FE{h R
RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%
registered capital
A 1#3,000,0007¢ 100%
MRGERER
RMB50,000,000 100%
unpaid registered
capital
A 50,000,0007T 100%
MARSERER
RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%
registered capital
AR 3,000,0007T 100%
MRGEMER
RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%
registered capital
AR 13,000,0007¢ 100%
MRGEMER
RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%
registered capital
AE%3,000,0007¢ 100%
MARBERER
RMB3,000,000 unpaid 100%
registered capital
AR #3,000,0007T 100%
MRGEMER

Principal activities/
place of operation

TEEHEEME

Catering management
service/PRC

ENERRYE,/TE

Inactive

AR

Inactive

AR

Inactive

ENTE

E-commerce service/PRC
BERE/
E-commerce service/PRC

BHRE/

o ORPBIRIZIMNEEE R

* EXRTBERE

YUFENGCHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

35. COMMITMENTS 35. 7K
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Contracted for but not provided in the ~ BEHNEE AN &M
consolidated financial statements: WmREE
Unpaid registered capital for B ABRARBEMER
the subsidiaries 76,133 -
Unpaid contribution to BE A BB R B RR
the associates 2,606 -
36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36. MMEBEREBMEENEREK
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEEBFMEENEEHIR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREFEVNAEEMEETHEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash BEF BERERIFREEE M
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BERHESZERAREREEN
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future XERBEREFNEAERBGESR®
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated MEBEXRDEARMBIHELANIRE
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing ME .
activities:
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36. RIS EBFEENEEHIR @

276

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

At 1 April 2023

Changes from financing
cash flows:

— Repayment of principal
amount of bank
borrowings

— Interest paid

Total changes from
financing cash flows

Total change from
non-cash item:
- Finance cost accrued

At 31 March 2024

Changes from financing
cash flows:

— Repayment of principal
amount of bank
borrowings

— Advances from directors

- Interest paid

Total changes from
financing cash flows

Total change from
non-cash item:
— Finance cost accrued

At 31 March 2025

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(a) MEBEFBFFEENERHEKR @)

Amounts
Bank due to
borrowings directors Total
RITfES ENESHIE fast
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2023%F481H 7,930 - 7,930
RERESRSLEH)
—ERBRTERLAE
(391) - (391)
—BENUHE 273 = 273
MERS RS AEE
(664) - (664)
JEREIEEE BB
—EStR B R A 273 = 273
$2202458E3831H 7,539 - 7,539
RMERENEE
—ERRTERLAE
(455) - (455)
—EBEB; = 16,735 16,735
—BEUHE (251) = (251)
MEBERERSLELAEE
(706) 16,735 16,029
JEREIEE EBEEE -
—[EStRE B A 251 = 251
2025438310 7,084 16,735 23,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBEBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36. MEEHFMEENEEHIR @
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(b) Non-cash transactions (b) EREXRH
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has REE2024F3831HIEEE K&
acquired intangible assets of HK$5,292,000, of which EEWEEFLEES,292,0008 7T
HK$3,517,000 was paid as deposit during the year ended Eh3,517,0008 08X & 22023
31 March 2023 and HK$1,000,000 was settled during FIANHIEEFEFEABRESZTR
the year ended 31 March 2025. 1,000,000/ TR & E2025F3831H
IEFEEER
37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. ZATMBIR R R KRB

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024
20255 20244
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
et FET FAET
Non-current asset EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBATMNEE 34 —* =
Current assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULI B A B T8 (IaE)

(Note) - 29,285
Prepayment A RIE 79 -
Bank balances R1T4E R 3 2

82 29,287
Current liability Mt R=RE
Other payables HhfE TRIB 2,004 48
Net current (liabilities) assets & (B &) BEEE (1,922) 29,239
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (B8R EERE (1,922) 29,239
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kG M3 IR M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE2025F3531H IFEEZE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37. ZRBHBERRARRAEE B
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2025 2024
20255 20244
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
HaE FAET FAET
Capital and reserves BARRKG#E
Share capital N 28 4,000 4,000
Reserves #E 37(a) (5,922) 25,239
TOTAL (DEFICITS) EQUITY (B54t) R 4a%R (1,922) 29,239
*  Represent amounts less than HK$1,000. * O EEELI,0008 7T ©
Note: The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on Wiat : ZERERBIRE - RERBREREE-
demand.
The statement of financial position of the Company was RNABMFEAR RN 2025F6 8526 HEE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on EEMAERKETIE TR TIEEARE
26 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: BE
Wang Xinlong Ren Rong
TR 1E5
Director Director
EF EBF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & E2025F3531H IFFEEZ

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(@) Movement of reserves of the Company

At 1 April 2023 72023%E481H

Loss and total comprehensive FEBEREERS

expense for the year 4z
At 31 March 2024 and §22024F3831H0 K
1 April 2024 2024F481H

Loss and total comprehensive FEBENREEEY
expense for the year “azE

At 31 March 2025 $2202543H31H

37. ZABMBRRERRMHEE @

(a) TAREFEEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
fniEE REtESiE #act
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
44,810 (10,266) 34,544

- (9,305) (9,305)

44,810 (19,571) 25,239
= (31,161) (31,161)
44,810 (50,732) (5,922)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEEE

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group ZAEERBRAERABEMBEEZ£EUKREE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited KEEME (FEEELCELGSHBRREE
consolidated financial statements and the Prospectus is set out F&EF2) &I :

below:
RESULTS E$
For the year ended 31 March
HE3831ALEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 202445 2023%F 20224 20214
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FER FHET FAET FHERT FHET
Revenue L& 55,498 69,032 67,722 230,915 240,112
Cost of sales HEMA (55,391)  (63,578)  (64,449) (224,026)  (237,976)
Gross profit EH 107 5,454 3,273 6,889 2,136
Profit (loss) and total FREF (518) &
comprehensive income 2EWE (%) 4858
(expense) for the year (38,574) (10,662) (12,066) (3,134) (7,503)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
At 31 March
3831H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244 20234 20224 20214
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FHET FAT FHET FET
Non-current assets JEMEEE 477 9,310 9,975 9,756 9,687
Current assets MEEE 36,572 40,925 48,257 61,834 55,185
Non-current liabilities ERHEE - - = = 299
Current liabilities nemas 46,327 20,939 18,274 19,566 9,415
Net current (liabilities) assets e (BB BEFE (9,755) 19,986 29,983 42,268 45,770
Net (liabilities) assets (BR) BERE (9,278) 29,296 39,958 52,024 55,158

The summary above does not from part of the audited consolidated ~— _E %t i 22 R #8 B 48 S| 1z & BA FE R 3 A — 6
financial statements. Pl
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